
 
 

VERNON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

BOARD OF EDUCATION MEETING 
 
DATE:  Monday, February 12, 2024 
TIME:  7:00 p.m.  
PLACE:  Vernon Board of Education, Administration Building, 30 Park Street, Vernon – 3rd Floor Board Conference Room 
ZOOM MEETING:   zoom.us  Phone:  +1             Webinar ID:                 Passcode:       

 

Mission Statement 
The Vernon Public Schools, in partnership with family and community, is committed to provide a quality 

education, with high expectations, in a safe environment where all students become independent learners and 
productive contributors to society. 

Goals 
1. Build and improve relationships and partnerships with family and community. 

2. Increase the achievement of every student through high quality curriculum, instruction and assessment. 
3. Promote safe environments that are socially, emotionally, and physically conducive to learning. 

                                                                             Civility Statement 
The Board of Education expects mutual respect, civility and orderly conduct among all individuals on 

school property or at school-sponsored events.  District staff will treat parents and other members of the 
public with respect and have the right to expect the same in return.  The Board encourages positive 

communication and discourages volatile, hostile or aggressive actions.  The Board seeks public 
cooperation with this endeavor.  

 
AGENDA NOTES 

1.0        Establish Quorum 
 
2.0        Call to Order 
 
3.0        Pledge of Allegiance 
 
4.0        Recognitions & Presentations 
             4.1  Presentation by Skinner Road School Students  
                    (BOE Goal #1, #2) 
             4.2  Recognition of the Senior Athletes of the RHS 
                    Football Team (BOE Goal #1) 
 
5.0        Secretary's Report 

5.1 Opportunity for Board of Education to Add/Delete  
       Urgent Agenda Items 
5.2  Rockville High School Student Representative  
       Report 

 
6.0        Community Forum 

Opportunity for comments on agenda items, potential 
future agenda items, or general information provided 
to the Board from citizens and community 
organizations (Individual speakers shall be limited to 
five minutes and the total time for public forum shall be 
limited to 15 minutes.) 
 

7.0        Consent Agenda   
             7.1   
             (a)  Approval of the Minutes of the Special Board of 
                   Education Meeting held on January 8, 2024    
             (b)  Approval of the Minutes of the Special Board of  
                   Education Meeting (Budget Workshop) held on 
                   January 17, 2024 
                                                   

 



 
VERNON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
Vernon, Connecticut 06066 
BOARD OF EDUCATION MEETING   
Page 2 
 
DATE:       Monday, February 12, 2024 
TIME:       7:00 p.m.  
PLACE:       Vernon Board of Education, Administration  
                   Building, 30 Park Street, Vernon – 3rd Floor  
                   Board Conference Room 
 
              
             (c)  Approval of the Minutes of the Special Board of  
                   Education Meeting (Budget Workshop) held on 
                   January 22, 2024             
             (d)  Approval of the Minute of the Special Board of  
                   Education Meetng (Budget Workshop) held on 
                   January 24, 2024 
             (e)  Approval of the Minutes of the Special Board of  
                   Education Meeting (Approval of Superintendent’s  
                   Proposed 2024-2025 Budget) held on February 5,  
                   2024 
 
8.0        Personnel  
             8.1  Approval of the Vernon School Administrators 
                    Association Memorandum of Agreement (BOE 
                    Goal #2) 
             8.2  Leave of Absence Request (BOE Goal #2)  
                    (Executive Session Anticipated) 
             8.3  Leave of Absence Request (BOE Goal #2)  
                    (Executive Session Anticipated) 
             8.4  Superintendent’s Mid-Year Evaluation (BOE Goal  
                    #1, #2, #3) (Executive Session Anticipated) 
 
9.0       Teaching and Learning 
             9.1  Instructional Task Rubric (BOE Goal #2) 
            
10.0      General Business 
           10.1  Approval of the Vernon Public Schools District  
                    Calendar for 2024-2025 (BOE Goal #1, #2)  
           10.2  Approval of the Hartford Foundation for Public 
                    Giving (HFPG) Grant Application (BOE Goal #1,  
                    #2, #3)   
           10.3  Approval of Legal Services (BOE Goal #1) 
           10.4  Board of Education Finance Committee Report  
                    (BOE Goal #1, #2, #3) 
           10.5  Reports from Board of Education Liaisons 
                    Regarding Attendance at Organization /   
                    Committee Meetings (BOE Goal #1) 
                     
11.0      Review and Update Board of Education 

Calendar 
 
https://www.vernonpublicschools.org/district-

information/district-calendar  
 
12.0      Opportunity for Questions from the Press 
             Regarding Agenda Items   
 
13.0      Adjournment 
 

           

 

https://www.vernonpublicschools.org/district-information/district-calendar
https://www.vernonpublicschools.org/district-information/district-calendar
















The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

  30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
    Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

Paul Grabowski, Chair 
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 

January 8, 2024 

- 1 -

DRAFT MINUTES 
BOARD OF EDUCATION SPECIAL MEETING 

A Special meeting of the Vernon Board of Education was held in-person and via Zoom Webinar at the 
Administration Building on Monday, January 8, 2024.   

Roll call was taken at 7:00 p.m.   

There was a quorum.   Board members present:  Mr. Grabowski, Ms. Wintress, Ms. Colt, Dr. 
Buxton, Ms. Nucci, Ms. Sewell and Mr. Thrall.  Mr. Bedlack and Mrs. Jablonecki attended 
virtually via Zoom Webinar. 

Student Representatives present:  My-Ngoc Lai-Huyen and Aedan Ruddock. 

Administration present:  Superintendent Dr. Joseph Macary, Assistant Superintendent Mr. Robert 
Testa and Director of Business and Finance Mr. William Meier III.  

2.0 Call to Order 

Board Chair Mr. Grabowski called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  

3.0 Pledge of Allegiance 

Mr. Grabowski called for a moment of silence in honor of the four Somers students who tragically 
perished in a house fire on January 2, 2024. 

4.0 Recognitions and Presentations  

4.1 Presentation by Northeast School Students (BOE Goal #1, #2) 

Dr. Brenda Greene, Principal of Northeast School, introduced Mrs. Agata Cavar, teacher 
for the ESL Program at Northeast School.  They have 31 students in the program who 
combined, speak over 20 different languages.  These students come from all over the 
world.  Mrs. Cavar spoke about the program and the methods used to teach English to the 
students.  She then showed a video called “Journey to Northeast School: Coming to 

1



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 2 - 

America” where the students spoke of the country they were from and the language they 
speak there.  They each spoke of coming to the United States and the fears they had about 
leaving friends and family behind.  They all expressed that they like the United States, 
their new school, their teacher and the friends they have made.  After the video was done, 
the children sang a song called the “Hello Song”, and asked the Board members to join in 
by using props.   

 
5.0 Secretary’s Report 
 
 5.1 Rockville High School Student Representative Report 
 
  My-Ngoc Lai-Huyen reported the following: 
 

• 42% of the Senior Class has applied to one or more post-secondary schools.  
Colleges are slowly starting to release their decisions. 

• The FAFSA has opened up for the 2024-2025 school year as of 12/31/2023.  RHS 
will now be able to kick-off their FAFSA Challenge efforts with the Senior Class. 
 

  Aedan Rudock reported the following: 
 

• Course recommendations for the 2024-2025 school year will start later this month 
• Semester exams will begin on January 19th. 
• Students are getting ready to finish the semester strong and teachers are getting 

ready for their new students this upcoming semester. 
 

6.0 Community Forum  
 

Opportunity for comments on agenda items, potential future agenda items, or general information 
provided to the Board from citizens and community organizations (Individual speakers shall be  
limited to five minutes and the total time for public forum shall be limited to 15 minutes.) 
 
No one addressed the Board. 
 
 
 

2



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 3 - 

7.0 Consent Agenda 
 

      7.1   Consent Agenda 
                        (a)  Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Board of Education Meeting held on 
          December 11, 2023 

MOTION: Mr. Thrall moved to approve Consent Agenda Item 7.1(a)  
 SECOND: Ms. Colt 

VOTE:  Unanimous 
 

8.0 Personnel  
 
 8.1 Certified Staff Retirements (BOE Goal #2) 
 

Superintendent Dr. Joseph Macary announced that the following Certified Staff members 
have submitted their intentions to retire at the end of the 2023-2024 school year: 

  
                                 Name                   Position           Date of Retirement 

                                 Debra Hill       Grade K, SRS                            June 30, 2024 

                                 Paula Hughes                  Instructional Coach, Elementary     June 30, 2024 

                                 Maureen Kearney      Reading Specialist, SRS                  June 30, 2024 

                                 Victoria Nordlund            Language Arts, RHS                       June 30, 2024 

                                  

                        Dr. Macary noted that these four staff members total 100 years of teaching experience and 
                        they will be sorely missed. 

 
 8.2 Approval of MOA Between the Vernon Board of Education and the Vernon School 
  Nurses’ Association (BOE Goal #2) 
 
  Superintendent Dr. Joseph Macary presented a Memorandum of Agreement Between the  
  Vernon Board of Education and the Vernon School Nurses’ Association, similar to the one 
  presented between the Vernon Education Association and the Vernon Board of Education 

3



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 4 - 

  back on October 23, 2023.  He is requesting that we move the current insurance payments 
  from the September-May schedule to a 26 pay schedule over 12 months.  This will  
  eliminate the need to seek repayment from a nurse who resigns during the summer months 
  when no insurance premiums are collected.  He is also asking that the Board approve HSA 
  payments being deposited in September and January rather than in July and January.  The 
  Nurses’ Union agrees with this new schedule as well as our Insurance Broker and   
  Administrative staff.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thrall moved to approve the MOU between the Vernon Board of 

Education and the Vernon School Nurses’ Association as discussed and 
presented. 

 SECOND: Dr. Buxton 
 VOTE:  Unanimous 

  
9.0 Teaching and Learning 
 

9.1 District Strategic Plan Implementation Update (BOE Goal #1, #2, #3) 
 

Assistant Superintendent Mr. Robert Testa introduced Mrs. Laura Boutilier of Partners for 
Educational Leadership.  Mrs. Boutilier was instrumental in working with the Vernon 
Public Schools to develop the District Strategic Plan 2022-2027.  Mrs. Boutilier was here 
this evening to provide an update of the work being done to implement the plan.  She went 
over the plan’s three Strategic Priorities: “Student Success”, “Family and Community 
Partnerships” and “System Excellence” and then showed a video as to how these priorities 
are being carried out in our schools.  In the video, each school Principal spoke of the work 
being done in their buildings that shows the plan in action.  They spoke of Teacher/Family 
relationships and the positive effect it has had on the school community.  Students were 
also interviewed and spoke of the positive environment within their schools and how they 
love going to school.  Vernon Public Schools has so much to be proud of; 2 Blue Ribbon 
Schools, 2 Schools of Distinction and Connecticut’s 2024 Superintendent of the Year.  In 
conclusion, the plan has come alive, the metrics are honest and we are meeting the goals 
set forth.  Mrs. Boutilier wished us continued success with the plan and thanked us for 
allowing her to be a part of it.  Dr. Macary announced that sadly, Mrs. Boutilier will be 
retiring and this will be her last update on the plan to the Board.  He thanked her for her 
commitment and years of service to Vernon Public Schools.     

4



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 5 - 

9.2 K-3 Reading Waiver: CSDE Memo & Summary (BOE Goal #2) 
 
 Assistant Superintendent Mr. Robert Testa reviewed the CSDE Memo and Summary 

regarding the K-3 Reading Waiver with the Board.  He explained that we have been 
granted a “Transitional Waiver”, which requires our District to add and substitute specific 
programmatic or curriculum components.  We must substitute a core program that meets 
expectations for fluency, vocabulary and comprehension from the list of Connecticut 
Approved K-3 Reading Curriculum Models or Programs.  Mr. Testa then asked Melissa 
Trantolo, Director of Teaching and Learning, Elementary, to offer her thoughts.  She 
explained that our curriculum is better, hands down, than the “boxed” curriculum the State 
wants us to utilize.  She went on to explain that being #1 in Alliance Districts, having 2 
Blue Ribbon Schools, 2 Schools of Distinction shows that what we are doing is working.  
Dr. Macary said that this decision is ridiculous; our scores speak for themselves. If we 
were to purchase the suggested State program, it would cost us a half-million dollars.  He 
recommends we continue to do what we’re doing. There are other districts in the same 
boat, and it might be a good idea to join a class action law suit with them.  We’ll talk more 
about this when we get closer to the compliance date of July 2025.     

 
10.0 General Business 
 

10.1 Approval of the Board of Education 2023-2025 Budget Priorities (BOE Goal #1, #2, #3) 
  
 Dr. Macary presented 7 Budget Priorities to the Board that align the District’s Mission 

Statement and asked for their approval.  They include the following: 
 

• Universal Pre-K Program for 3 & 4-Year-Old 
• Enhance Minority Teacher Recruitment 
• Social-Emotional Supports for Secondary Students 
• Innovative Family & Community Outreach Initiatives 
• Summer School Program (Free) to All Students 
• Teacher & Staff Recruitment and Retention Efforts 
• Continue & Expand Rockville High School’s Career Pathways 

 
MOTION: Dr. Buxton moved to approve the Board of Education 2023-2025 Budget 

Priorities as discussed and presented. 

5



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 6 - 

 SECOND: Ms. Wintress 
 VOTE:  Unanimous 

 
 10.2 Approval of the Center Road School Roof Project as Complete (BOE Goal #3) 
 

William Meier III, Director of Business and Finance, announced that the Center Road 
School Roof Project is now complete and requires Board approval in order to submit 
closeout documentation.  It has been signed off by the Architect and we have received the 
warranty guaranteeing the work. 
 
MOTION: Ms. Nucci moved to approve the Center Road School Roof Project as 

Complete 
SECOND: Ms. Colt 

 VOTE:  Unanimous 
  

 10.3 Reports from Board of Education Liaisons Regarding Attendance at Organization /  
  Committee Meetings (BOE Goal #1) 
 

Dr. Patricia Buxton, Board liaison for Skinner Road School, announced that the PTO met 
on December 20th.  They are very active and a great group of parents.  She spoke of 
fundraising efforts they are organizing and relayed a message to the Board, thanking them 
for supplying funds to cover their transportation for their Boston Trip. 
 
Mr. Paul Grabowski, Board liaison for Center Road School, spoke of events the PTO has 
planned.  They are a good group and are very dedicated to the school’s fundraising efforts. 
 
Dr. Macary spoke of the tragedy in Somers in which 4 children perished in a house fire.  
The family lived in Vernon for a time, so we will be sending a donation of food to the staff 
of Somers Public Schools as well as grief counselors to assist with student needs. 
 
He also announced that Maple Street School recently celebrated their 100th Anniversary 
and will hold a large event in May. 
 
The CABE – Area 3 Legislative Breakfast will take place in Somers on January 31st.  
   

6



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
  
 
   January 8, 2024 
 

 - 7 - 

11.0 Review and Update Board of Education Calendar 

 https://www.vernonpublicschools.org/district-information/district-calendar  

No updates were made.   
 
Dr. Macary reminded the Board members of the upcoming Budget workshops set to begin on 
Wednesday, January 17th.   

 

12.0 Opportunity for Questions from the Press Regarding Agenda Items   

 No one from the Press was in attendance.  
 

13.0     Adjournment 
 
 MOTION: Ms. Colt made a motion to adjourn at 8:23 PM 
 SECOND: Ms. Wintress 
 VOTE:  Unanimous 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
        Karen Colt, Board Secretary 

7



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
 
   Date: January 17, 2024 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
BOARD OF EDUCATION SPECIAL MEETING 

BUDGET WORKSHOP 
 

A Vernon Board of Education Budget Workshop was held via Zoom Meeting and in-person on 
Wednesday, January 17, 2024. 
 
 
1.0      Establish Quorum 
 

Board members present in-person:  Paul Grabowski, Kristiana Wintress, Karen Colt, Anthony 
Bedlack, Patricia Buxton, Susan Jablonecki, Kriste Nucci and Simone Sewell. 
Board members present via Zoom: None 
There was a quorum.    

 
           Also present were Dr. Joseph Macary, Superintendent of Schools; Mr. Robert Testa, Assistant  
           Superintendent; Mr. William Meier III, Director of Business and Finance; Mr. Brett 
           Lacoske, Financial Analyst and Ms. Nina Prajzner, Secretary to Mr. Meier. 
  
2.0      Call to Order 
 
           Chairperson Grabowski called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m. 
 
3.0      Community Forum Opportunity for Public Comment on Superintendent’s Proposed  

     2024-2025 Budget 
 
           There was no public comment. 
 
4.0      Budget Workshop 
 
 Dr. Macary asked everyone to introduce themselves.   
 

He then asked if anyone had any high-level questions. A few pages from his PowerPoint were 
presented which explained in further detail the changes to the budget.  
 

8



 

 - 2 - 

A question was asked if there are enough social workers for the high school. Dr. Macary said they 
would like to have more but they do make referrals to the Village. He added that the TALC 
program has its own social worker and they also have a full time and part time psychologist and 
five guidance counselors.  
 
A question was asked if any portion of todays meeting was confidential. Dr. Macary said no.  
 
Dr. Macary asked if there were any other questions before they begin reviewing personnel.  
 
A question was asked about new hires being brought in on step three. Dr. Macary explained they 
use step three for masters at a rate of $65,775 for open positions as a middle flexibility point for 
budgeting. 
 
Dr. Macary explained the layout of the column headers. 
 
The workshop began on page 137 of personnel. 
 
On Page 137, a question was asked if a principal is new if they are listed as step one. Dr. Macary 
said in the administrator contract, a High School principal gets paid the highest then the middle 
and so on. He added that the lane is their position. He reminded the Board that the shared google 
drive has all salary schedules set up for their review.  
 
A question was asked about the assistant principal stipend of $1,400. Dr. Macary said if they have 
their 6th year degree, they receive a $1,400 stipend and if they have their Doctorate, they receive a 
$2,800 stipend.  
 
On page 138, a question was asked about the note which said RAM center and if they were being 
paid from alliance. Dr. Macary confirmed.  
 
On page 139, a question was asked about the career service coordinator position and if they should 
be in the OPS budget instead. Dr. Macary explained this position was different than the one in 
question.  
 
A question was asked about Michelle Trani going from $68,157 to $78,563. Dr. Macary said this 
was because the person in the position last year was at $68,157 but Michelle was hired at $78,563.  
 
Dr. Macary explained they ASTE teachers are paid at 1.2 FTE as they work over the summer.  

 
On page 141, a question was asked about the number of secretaries in the high school. Dr. Macary 
explained their roles.  
 
A question was asked if the ISS facilitator position was filled. Dr. Macary said yes. He explained 
that during the last budget cycle, the ISS facilitator was filled by a nonaffiliated salaried staff at 
around $52,000. We are now funding at $26,660. 
 
On page 142, Dr. Macary noted two-year salary increases for the unions which were not settled 
prior to the budget last year. The new salaries are reflected in this budget. 
 
On page 143, a question was asked about the number of assistant principals at the middle school. 
 

9



 

 - 3 - 

There was a fire alarm which recessed the workshop from 6:25pm to 7:00pm. 
 
Mr. Bedlack arrived at 7:00pm. 
 
Dr. Buxton left the meeting at 7:00pm. 

 
On page 144, Dr. Macary explained they are expecting an increase in Alliance funding therefore 
they put all six world language teachers at VCMS into Alliance. A follow up question was asked if 
they would stay in alliance or be removed. Dr. Macary said they are in a bi-annual state budget for 
funding. A follow up question was asked about where the alliance funding comes from. Dr. 
Macary explained ECS and Alliance are now the same. He added if they decrease the funding to 
Vernon, they would need to decrease 35 other districts. 
 
On page 145, a question was asked what Esser III to local meant. Dr. Macary explained we no 
longer receive Esser III therefore those positions were moved back the local budget.  
 
A question was asked about the .2 FTE for the computer science position. Dr. Macary said that 
position is split between computer science and technical education. 
  
On page 147, Dr. Macary said they are adding a certified library media specialist to the Middle 
School. A follow up question was asked if it would be funded by Alliance. Dr. Macary confirmed.  
 
On Page 149, Dr. Macary said they want a 14-classroom model which fluctuates based on 
enrollment. He added if there are four classes in fourth grade and three in fifth grade this creates a 
“bubble”. The following year they would need to hire an additional fifth grade teacher.  
 
A question was asked about what a math interventionist is. Dr. Macary said they work directly 
with students who are not at their grade level for math.  
 
On page 154, a question was asked if someone gets a raise do they move to another lane. Dr. 
Macary confirmed and added that a degree change means they are moving up a lane. Step changes 
happen per the contract and are based on years of service. 
 
A question was asked if the new tutor for Lake Street School was listed in Lake Street or Pupil 
Services. Mr. Meier said it is Chandler Johnson who is listed on page 154.  
 
Dr. Macary said we have fourteen students in the ABL program. It would cost roughly $85,000 
per student to out place them. 
 
On page 155, Dr. Macary noted the “bubble” he was referring is shown in the middle of the page 
for a new grade five teacher position based on enrollment. He added that some years we remove 
teachers and some years we add them. A follow up question was asked about if the position has 
been filled. Dr. Macary said we will post the open position in March for the upcoming school 
year. 
 
On page 156, a question was asked about how the rotating librarians are working out. Dr. Macary 
said he has received nothing but positive feedback.  
 
On page 157, Dr. Macary noted the same “bubble” for Northeast School. 
 

10



 

 - 4 - 

A question was asked about Title grants. Dr. Macary said these are based on poverty numbers. He 
said for example, if 50% of poverty is at one school, then they need to send 50% of the funding to 
that school. He added that Maple Street School and Vernon Center Middle School are the larger 
schools for funding. A follow up question was asked if the high school was included as well. Dr. 
Macary said the free and reduced lunch numbers drop at the High School.  
 
A question was asked about the additional teacher for Special Education-K. Dr. Macary said this 
position is for next year and will post in March. A follow up question was asked about Rayann 
Knowlton being listed twice. Dr. Macary said the position is correct but the name is incorrect. Mr. 
Meier will fix the name to read open position instead. 
 
On page 158, Dr. Macary said they adjusted for minimum wage this year. He added that they 
budgeted at $16.00 per hour since part of the year will be paid at $15.69 but they are unsure what 
the next adjustment will be on January 1, 2025. 
 
On Page 159, a question was asked about increase in fifth grade teachers. Dr. Macary confirmed.   
 
A question was asked about Title I and Title II. Dr. Macary said Title I is for schools with more 
than 40% of students on free and reduced lunch while Title II is for teacher professional 
development. 
 
A question was asked about an open position. Dr. Macary said they will fill it.  
 
On page 161, Dr. Macary said maintainers were in the union contract with the two years of 
increases. He also mentioned they have a few open positions and welcome referrals.  
 
On page 163, a question was asked about what the ABE grant is. Dr. Macary said ABE stands for 
adult based education. The ABE grant needs to go to adult education. He also spoke of the 
VRABE program and the 14 towns they serve. There are six sites throughout CT which their 
districts give VRABE the money to run the program. He also noted Vernon is the second lowest 
pupil per expenditure in the state for adult education. A question was asked about any scholarships 
for the program. Dr. Macary said GED and ESL programs are free. The other classes such as 
cooking, dancing, etc charge a fee. 
 
A question was asked about what an internal transfer was. Dr. Macary said it is when we transfer a 
position internally with an existing employee.  
 
A question was asked about the payroll supervisor position. Dr. Macary said they have a meeting 
Friday for a potential candidate. He noted the position has been vacant for more than six months. 
A follow up question was asked about increasing the wage. Dr. Macary said they cannot increase 
the wage because the position is part of the union contract. He added that if they have experience 
they will be hired at a higher step.  
 
On page 165, Dr. Macary noted there are medically fragile students who require a 1-1 nurse. He 
said there was a placeholder in the budget at $48,000 but now they know the salary is $56,980. A 
follow up question was asked if we are adding anymore for next year. Dr. Macary said no, they are 
staffed. A follow up question was asked if they share them amongst schools. Dr. Macary said no, 
they are 1-1 per student.  
 

11



 

 - 5 - 

On page 167, a question was asked about the new social workers. Dr. Macary acknowledged they 
have been added in.  
 
On page 168, a question was asked about the difference between the gifted and talented teacher 
pay. Dr. Macary said it is based on their years of experience teaching. He added this position was 
in the teacher collective bargaining unit. A follow up question was asked if they were just in the 
High School. Dr. Macary said no, they offer them for multiple schools.  
 
A question was asked about if the Pre-K coordinator was overloaded. Dr. Macary said no. He 
added they also assist with some magnet school students.  
 
On page 169, Dr. Macary explained the Next Step program was for students age 18 to 22 with 
disabilities to learn daily living skills. He noted they have a simulated home there.  
 
A question was asked about physical therapy and occupational therapy only being at Next Step. 
Dr. Macary said they go to the whole district.  
 
A question was asked about the students utilizing group homes. Dr. Macary said they can start at 
age 23. 
 
A question was asked about where building substitutes fall. Dr. Macary said they are not listed in 
personnel.  
 
This concludes the review of the personnel proposed budget. 
 
The Board will plan to review Rockville High School details on Monday. He added they will 
address as much as possible in two-hour time slots.  
 
Dr. Macary explained the different between the blue and white sheets in preparation for the 
Rockville High School details review.  

 
5.0     Adjournment 

 
      Chairperson Grabowski adjourned the workshop at 7:41 pm.   

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
   

Karen Colt, Board Secretary 

12



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
 
   Date: January 22, 2024 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
BOARD OF EDUCATION SPECIAL MEETING 

BUDGET WORKSHOP 
 

A Vernon Board of Education Budget Workshop was held via Zoom Meeting and in-person on Monday, 
January 22, 2024. 
 
 
1.0      Establish Quorum 
 

Board members present in-person:  Paul Grabowski, Kristian Wintress, Karen Colt, Anthony 
Bedlack, Patricia Buxton, Susan Jablonecki, Kriste Nucci, Simone Sewell and Mason Thrall   
Board members present via Zoom: None 
There was a quorum.    

 
 Also present were Dr. Joseph Macary, Superintendent of Schools; Mr. Robert Testa, Assistant  
Superintendent; Mr. William Meier III, Director of Business and Finance and Ms. Nina Prajzner, 
Secretary to Mr. Meier. 

  
2.0      Call to Order 
 
           Chairperson Grabowski called the meeting to order at 6:04 p.m. 
 
3.0      Community Forum Opportunity for Public Comment on Superintendent’s Proposed  

     2024-2025 Budget 
 
           There was no public comment. 
 
4.0      Budget Workshop 
 

Dr. Macary explained the differences between the blue pages and the white pages. He added that 
athletics is separate but also included in the High School and Middle School. 
 
The workshop began on page 19 of Rockville High School. 
 

13



 

 - 2 - 

On page 20, a question was asked about sharing lacrosse with Somers. Dr. Macary said they are 
co-op and share with Stafford. 
 
On page 21, a question was asked about why girls tennis is paid less than other sports. Dr. Macary 
said it is contractual and based on seasons. He added that there is a formula in the back of the 
teachers’ contract. 
 
On page 22, a question was asked about the fire tech program being taught by an existing teacher 
or someone from a fire department. Dr. Macary said the current teacher is a VoAg teacher who is a 
part of a fire department.  
 
A question was asked about details regarding any new enrichment clubs. Dr. Macary said they 
leave the interests up to the students. They survey students at the end of the school year to better 
serve their interests.  
 
On page 25, a question was asked about piano accompaniment. Dr. Macary said it covers tuning 
and business expenses. 
 
A question was asked about the rate paid for student labor. Dr. Macary said they pay minimum 
wage.  
 
A question was asked about Foley drug testing. Dr. Macary said Foley is the name of the 
company. 
 
On page 26, a question was asked about the 4% drop overall. Dr. Macary said there are three types 
of sports; Vernon run sports, co-op sports and teams of one. He added that last year they had a 
student interested in girl’s hockey at South Windsor, however, this year the student goes to 
Manchester.  
 
On page 27, a question was asked about the 8.5% drop overall. Dr. Macary said they bought new 
band equipment last year therefore they do not need to reservice as much this year.   
 
On page 29, a question was asked about the esports fee being new. Dr. Macary confirmed. A 
follow up question was asked about if the subscription cost is annual. Dr. Macary confirmed. A 
follow up question was asked about if the number of students involved increased. Dr. Macary 
confirmed.  
 
On page 30, a question was asked about the increase for the wrestling conference. Dr. Macary said 
they are going to two extra meets.  
 
On page 31, a question was asked about the overall increase on trips. Dr. Macary said part is due 
to the transportation increase of 3.5% for the bus contract. 
 
On page 32, a question was asked about stadium systems reconditioning. Dr. Macary said Stadium 
is the name of the company. He added they have the helmets checked and certified. A follow up 
question was asked about the mouth pieces. Dr. Macary said they do not recondition them because 
they are not reused. A follow up question was asked about the type of mouth piece being used. Dr. 
Macary said they are using ones to reduce the possibility of concussions.  
 

14



 

 - 3 - 

On page 33, a question was asked about the decrease of $1,000 for eBooks. Dr. Macary said fewer 
students are using the service.  
 
A question was asked about photography being popular. Dr. Macary confirmed that it is a popular 
program at RHS. 
 
A question was asked about acquiring more licenses for eBooks for the upcoming school year 
students if desired. Dr. Macary said they can if needed. 
  
On page 34, a question was asked about the health class having everything it needs from last 
year’s purchases. Dr. Macary confirmed. 
 
On page 35, a question was asked about how many students are doing ESL. Dr. Macary said 
district wide there are about 120 students. He added there are 20-25 students at the High School. A 
follow up question was asked about the breakdown of their countries and languages. Dr. Macary 
provided the breakdown later in the meeting. 
 
A question was asked about the instructional materials for world language supporting the new 
curriculum. Dr. Macary confirmed. A follow up question was asked if there was a new curriculum. 
Dr. Macary said yes, for French and Spanish. 
  
On page 36, a question was asked about the forensics class being dropped previously. Dr. Macary 
said they have more students taking it now.  
 
A question was asked about earth sciences being removed and added back. Dr. Macary said they 
are following the NGSS. 
 
On page 37, a question was asked about the certification for students costing $5,200. Dr. Macary 
confirmed. A follow up question was asked about students graduating with certifications. Dr. 
Macary confirmed. A follow up question was asked about covering teachers as well. Dr. Macary 
said no, only students. A follow up question was asked about teachers being responsible for their 
own certifications. Dr. Macary confirmed. A follow up question was asked if the certifications will 
help the students with employment. Dr. Macary confirmed.  
 
On page 38, a question was asked if wrestling is sharing headgear. Dr. Macary said we would like 
everyone to have their own. He added the wrestling numbers have increased since last year. 
 
On page 39, a question was asked for examples of school incentive types for the RHS general 
principal office school line item. Dr. Macary said this is for signage for around the building, 
certificates for students and “swag” for students. He added an example of footballs for the football 
team attending the next board meeting. 
 
A question was asked about the marching band uniforms replacement schedule. Dr. Macary said 
they try to keep it to every four years but they are increasing the band so they will need to 
purchase more.  
 
On page 41, a question was asked about the world language posters being more popular now. Dr. 
Macary confirmed. He added they can make their own so they need to purchase supplies but there 
are some they cannot make which would need to be purchased.  
 

15



 

 - 4 - 

Dr. Macary provided a follow up for the number of students in the ESL program. He listed 126 
students with a breakdown of the following; 31 at Lake Street School, 32 at Maple Street School, 
25 at Vernon Center Middle School, 19 at Rockville High School, 17 who refused ESL, and 2 in 
the renaissance program at Center Road School. 
 
This concludes the review of the RHS proposed budget. 
 
Vernon Center Middle School: 
 
On page 47, a question was asked about removing the health education instruction line which was 
not being utilized. Dr. Macary said they were funding PE separate from health but they are now 
combined. He added that the line can be removed. Mr. Meier said he will remove that line from 
the budget. 
 
A question was asked about the total dollar amount the reading instruction grant funded. Dr. 
Macary said the total reading intervention program being funded was $245,144. He added they use 
Title I, Title II and Alliance funding.  
 
A question was asked about the salary for the library media specialist being funded by Alliance. 
Dr. Macary confirmed. 
 
On page 52, a question was asked about the school nurse annual fee for continuing education not 
being paid by the Board but the VoAg fee spoke of earlier was being paid. Dr. Macary said they 
pay for membership fees but do not pay for certifications for staff.  
 
On page 53, a question was asked about the blank line for VCMS libraries and if it needed to stay 
in the budget if it was not being funded. Dr. Macary said they should keep it since they have it 
listed in the high school.  
 
On page 54, a question was asked about the savings of $12,000 due to no longer purchasing 
workbooks. Dr. Macary confirmed they are now online. 
 
On page 56, a statement was made about the importance of providing incentives. Dr. Macary 
agreed. He added that they did team nights this year with parents where they received a lot of 
positive feedback and comments. A follow up question was asked about the attendance. Dr. 
Macary said there were over 200 people there.  
 
A question was asked about the overall VCMS budget being 6% less than last year. Dr. Macary 
said it is because they transferred some salaries to grants.  
 
This concludes the review of the VCMS proposed budget. 
 
 
Center Road School: 
 
On page 63, a question was asked about the buses to Boston and their increase in fees. Dr. Macary 
said the fee is $2,000 per bus per school except for Center Road School which is $4,000 due to 
population. A follow up question was asked if every child goes on the trip. Dr Macary said yes, 
unless parents do not want them to go or they have behavioral issues.  
 

16



 

 - 5 - 

On page 65, a question was asked about the $10,000 for additional carpet and furniture for 
transitional K. Dr. Macary said they purchased in prior years for all grades except Kindergarten. 
He added that they try to replace the carpets every three years for the younger grades.  
 
This concludes the review of the CRS proposed budget. 
 
 
Lake Street School: 
 
On page 69, a question was asked about the musical instruction increase of $28,000. Dr. Macary 
said this is for the new teacher who was hired with more experience.  
 
On page 71, a question was asked about increasing the supplement resource materials of $250 per 
classroom as it had been that amount for years. Dr. Macary confirmed it has been that amount for 
eight years. A follow up question was asked about reviewing for a potential increase. Dr. Macary 
said they will review and come back with a response in the next workshop. A follow up question 
was asked about increasing in all of the schools. Dr. Macary said they will review this.  
 
This concludes the review of the LSS proposed budget. 
 
Maple Street School: 
 
On page 76, Dr. Macary noted the office clerk salary increased due to minimum wage. 
 
A question was asked if $2,500 was enough for food prizes, etc. Dr. Macary confirmed. 
 
A question was asked about the decrease for printed materials. Dr. Macary said this is due to 
actuals. He added they are printing less. 
 
On page 78, a question was asked again about the $250 per classroom. Dr. Macary said they will 
review this. A follow up question was asked about the types of things purchased. Dr. Macary said 
it depends on the classroom and the school. He added this is for the extra stuff that makes 
classrooms special. 
 
This concludes the review of the MSS proposed budget. 

 
Northeast School: 
 
On page 81, Dr. Macary said there is an increase in staffing at Northeast School, Skinner Road 
School and Maple Street School due to the “bubble”.  
 
This concludes the review of the NES proposed budget. 

 
 

Skinner Road School: 
 
On page 87, Dr. Macary said the overall decrease was because they hired new teachers in at a 
lower pay rates and also moved some salaries to grants.  
 

17



 

 - 6 - 

A question was asked about the popularity of Lego league. Dr. Macary said there are two at the 
Middle School and one at every Elementary School. He said last season one team went to states. 
  
On page 88, a question was asked about training for EpiPen’s not being listed in other schools. Dr. 
Macary said some staff need more training in some schools due to allergies. He added that it is 
listed in all schools. 
 
This concludes the review of the SRS proposed budget. 
 
Chairperson Grabowski asked Board members to bring any questions regarding this workshop to 
the next workshop on Wednesday.   
 
Board members spoke about the communication between the Town Council and the Board of 
Education. A discussion ensued.  
 
Dr. Macary summarized the questions asked this evening requiring responses by the next 
workshop on January 24th:  
 

• Should the $250 per teacher classroom per school be increased for supplemental 
resources for all schools? 

 
Dr. Macary provided a follow up to a question asked earlier about the top ten languages in the 
ESL program. They are Arabic, Mandarin, Polish, Spanish, Telegu, Twi/Fante, Ordo, Vietnamese 
and English. 

 
5.0     Adjournment 

 
      Chairperson Grabowski motioned to adjourn the workshop at 7:25 pm.   

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
   

Karen Colt, Board Secretary 

18



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
 
   Date: January 24, 2024 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
BOARD OF EDUCATION SPECIAL MEETING 

BUDGET WORKSHOP 
 

A Vernon Board of Education Budget Workshop was held via Zoom Meeting and in-person on 
Wednesday, January 24, 2024. 
 
 
1.0      Establish Quorum 
 

Board members present in-person:  Paul Grabowski, Kristiana Wintress, Karen Colt, Anthony 
Bedlack, Patricia Buxton, Susan Jablonecki, Kriste Nucci, Simone Sewell and Mason Thrall   
Board members present via Zoom: None 
There was a quorum.    

 
           Also present were Dr. Joseph Macary, Superintendent of Schools; Mr. Robert Testa, Assistant  
           Superintendent; Mr. William Meier III, Director of Business and Finance; Mr. Brett 
           Lacoske, Financial Analyst and Ms. Nina Prajzner, Secretary to Mr. Meier. 
  
2.0      Call to Order 
 
           Chairperson Grabowski called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 
3.0      Community Forum Opportunity for Public Comment on Superintendent’s Proposed  

     2024-2025 Budget 
 

Michael Winkler of Vernon, CT said the town is expected to receive $948,000 in additional state 
funding for fiscal year 2024-2025. He added there should be no significant impact on the Town of 
Vernon’s mill rate. He said the Board of Education and Superintendent are doing great with the 
resources provided to them. He said the students of Vernon are equal to any other student in the 
state of Connecticut. He noted that Vernon’s DRG is G. He would like to see students treated the 
same as students in DRG A. He feels anyone who qualifies for free lunch should also qualify for 
full time preschool. 

 
 

19



 

 - 2 - 

4.0      Budget Workshop 
 

Dr. Macary spoke about the $250 per classroom elementary per school. He suggested they increase 
to $300 for all 88 classrooms. He added this will increase the budget by $4,400. Mason Thrall said 
this is well past due and something they should implement. Dr. Macary said this will be listed in 
five-line items - one per each elementary school. 
 
Tonight’s workshop began on page 97 of Maintenance.  
 
On page 97, a question was asked about the reduction in custodial salary. Dr. Macary said this is 
just for temporary Summer employees and it is based on actuals. He added they hire extra 
custodians for cleaning over the Summer. A follow up question was asked about the temporary 
employees going from part time to full time. Dr. Macary said no, they are just temporary 
employees. 
 
On page 98, Dr. Macary spoke about the new maintainer vehicle. He said the current vehicle is 
twelve years old. He noted that the vehicle is around $70,000 new. A follow up question was asked 
if it was for one person or multiple. Dr. Macary said they are assigned per person.  
 
A question was asked about the $6,000 increase for roof repairs. Dr. Macary said it is based on 
actuals. A follow up question was asked about if the Center Road School roof was completed. Dr. 
Macary said yes, it will be addressed at the next board meeting. 
 
On page 99, a question was asked about what School Dude is. Dr. Macary said that is the name of 
the program for all maintenance requests.  
 
A question was asked about receiving grants for security systems or intercoms. Dr. Macary said 
they received a security grant. He added they are doing a three-year lookback to see what funds are 
reimbursable. 
 
On page 100, a question was asked about replacing ceiling tiles at VCMS by schedule or due to 
issues. Dr. Macary said they had the roof redone but it is on a replacement schedule.  
 
A question was asked about small hardware supply actuals in 2022 and 2023 and if the decrease 
was due to COVID. Dr. Macary said yes, they had more funds during COVID years for upgrades 
but now funds are lower.  
 
On page 101, a question was asked about the pavement preservation program. Dr. Macary said they 
did not have a line item for concrete so they added one in for repairs. 
 
A question was asked about the amount of fuel expected to be used next year. Mr. Meier said they 
are watching the prices but are expecting a range between $2.50 to $2.60. A follow up question was 
asked about where the vehicles fill up on gas. Mr. Meier said gas gets delivered to public works in 
Town and diesel goes to the bus lot which is used only for board vehicles. A follow up question was 
asked about buying fuel through consortium. Dr. Macary said they found better pricing.  
 
This concludes the review of the Maintenance proposed budget. 
 
 
 

20



 

 - 3 - 

 
Central Administration: 
 
On page 107, a question was asked if this information has already been reviewed in other sections 
of the budget. Dr. Macary said the top half is in the personnel section. 
 
On page 108, Dr. Macary spoke of the increase for substitute teachers. He said this is due to an 
increase in pay of $130 per day. 
 
On page 109, a question was asked about some contracts listing severance pay and some not. Dr. 
Macary said it depends on the bargaining unit. He added the amount is based on anticipated 
retirements. 
 
On page 110, a question was asked about the $95,000 decrease in life insurance. Mr. Meier said the 
contract was renewed with a better rate so they were able to cut the cost down.  
 
A question was asked about the $1.3 million in health insurance costs. Dr. Macary said claims are 
higher than projected. He added that over the last five years, they had 25-27 high cost claims per 
year but last year they had over 45. He said they are projecting for 45 again. He said there was 
about $760,000 per month last year in claims but now there is around $875,000.  
 
A question was asked about the $400,000 cut by the Town Council last year being from health 
insurance. Dr. Macary said last year they had alliance funding to cover the cut. He said the year 
before, they were cut $250,000 which was pulled from health insurance.  
 
A question was asked about why workers compensation claims were increasing. Dr. Macary said 
they increased it due to large claims being made. He added this is why they would like to fix things 
such as concrete to prevent injuries.  
 
On page 111, a question was asked about the decrease in pension. Dr. Macary said they moved from 
a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution plan. He added there is less of an impact for 
employees. He said the change was made around five to six years ago and they are now starting to 
see the decrease.  
 
On page 112, a question was asked about the increase of $182,000 for Town data processing 
enterprise funds. Dr. Macary said they share IT services with the Town. He added that their share 
for next year is $1.2 million.  
 
On page 113, a question was asked about the current rate for employee reimbursement for travel. 
Dr. Macary said it is 67 cents per mile and will change January 1st of next year. He added that the 
rate is set by the IRS. 
 
A question was asked about CHRO compliance. Dr. Macary said they have ongoing CHRO issues 
at RHS. He said there is a line item in Capital Improvements.  
 
On page 115, a question was asked about magnet school tuition increasing with less students 
attending. Dr. Macary confirmed. A follow up question was asked about the amount for the 
increase. Dr. Macary said they are unsure of exact increase.  
 

21



 

 - 4 - 

On page 116, a question was asked about an expected increase for homeless transportation. Dr. 
Macary confirmed.  
 
A question was asked about the telephonic interpreter. Dr. Macary said they are making laws where 
they have to supply translation in person and over the phone. He added that Vernon already supplies 
this. A follow up question was asked about it including ASL. Mr. Testa confirmed. 
 
On page 117, a question was asked about VoAg switching over to gas and if the $22,470 reduction 
includes tank removal. Dr. Macary said they are going to run on gas and it is listed in another line 
item.  
 
On page 118, a question was asked about the family school community partnership numbers staying 
the same and if they need to increase. Mr. Testa said it is just for office supplies and they use other 
funding sources as well.  
 
On page 120, a question was asked about the 135% increase on Chromebooks. Dr. Macary said they 
used to provide Chromebooks for only grade 9 but are now funding for 6th and 9th grade.  
 
On page 121, a question was asked if the $66,000 increase was due to changing to a different 
assessment tool. Mr. Testa said yes, they changed to iReady. 
 
On page 122, a question was asked about the reduction for contingency. Dr. Macary said last year 
they had four bargaining unit salaries in contingency. He added this year there is only one 
bargaining unit to settle.  
 
This concludes the review of the Central Administration proposed budget. 
 
Continuing Education: 
 
On page 125, Dr. Macary reminded the Board that GED, ESL and citizenship programs are free but 
classes such as cooking charge a fee.  
 
This concludes the review of the Continuing Education proposed budget. 
 
Office of Pupil Services: 
 
On page 131, a question was asked if new social workers were reflected in pupil services. Dr. 
Macary confirmed. 
 
A question was asked about summer school instruction expanding. Chairperson Grabowski said it is 
just to maintain the program so it remains free. A follow up question was asked about adding 
paraprofessionals. Dr. Macary said this is separate. A follow up question was asked about this only 
being for special education. Dr. Macary confirmed.  
 
On page 133, a question was asked about how parents are liking the live PPT meetings. Dr. Macary 
said they like them. He added they are still offering virtual meetings as well.  
 
On page 134, Dr. Macary said talented and gifted is listed under special education as well. He added 
that not all districts offer this but Vernon does. 
 

22



 

 - 5 - 

Dr. Macary said Next Step is the program where the students go to job sites and do activity-based 
learning. He added this program is for students with disabilities from age 18 to 22. 
 
This concludes the review of the Office of Pupil Services proposed budget. 
 
Revenue Estimates: 
 
Dr. Macary said the ECS estimate is currently $18,347,731. He said as far as Medicaid, the first 
$100,000 goes to the town. He said the ten surrounding towns who participate in VoAg pay Vernon 
directly. He added if they are in special education, they charge additionally for paras etc. He said 
the money goes to the town to support the budget. He also said any increases go to the alliance 
grant. He added that the VCMS instructional coach, world language, two math instructors and the 
librarian are all in alliance funding for a total of $828,000. He also noted that when the town gets 
ECS funding, they will receive the same amount listed. He said additional funding comes from 
alliance. He said the money they charge other towns will reimburse their costs.  
 
This concludes the review of the Revenue Estimates. 
 
Capital Plan: 
 
Dr. Macary said this year they expect $20,000 per year for CHRO updates, the auditoriums need 
updating and they are hoping to build an Aqualab at the High School this summer. He said stage 
lighting at VCMS will be around a three-year project and cost $300,000. He said NES will get a 
new playground near the Miracle Field and they are having engineers look at the Central Office 
ramp to figure out the repairs. He said they are adding concrete repairs of $25,000 per year and will 
evaluate what needs to be done. He also said there is a vehicle replacement of $70,000 for a cargo 
van. He added that the current van is twelve years old and the average life expectancy is ten years.  
 
A question was asked if any of the items listed were influenced by the ten-year plan. Dr. Macary 
said yes, this is what they know now so it may change. He said the Aqualab will use ASTE funding 
but there may be others they change. He said the auditorium maintenance will be paid for by the 
school use account. 
 
A question was asked about a playground replacement schedule. Dr. Macary said yes, the Parks and 
Recreation Supervisor is playground certified. He said they replace the playgrounds by section. A 
follow up question was asked about PTO fundraising paying for this. Dr. Macary said they stopped 
as it was not fair to ask PTO to pay for it. He added that playgrounds do have a life expectancy. Dr. 
Macary said they would like to have a more adaptive swing set near Miracle Field at NES. 
 
Dr. Macary said the LED light replacements will be for all outdoor lights. They are working on 
getting better numbers and doing it by section. A follow up question was asked about the expected 
ROI for LED. Dr. Macary said it is usually about eight years. A follow up question was asked about 
anything being covered under grants. Dr. Macary said LED grants are drying up. He added solar 
grants are gone as well.  
 
A question was asked about a total for Capital expenditures for 2024-2025. Dr. Macary said roughly 
$1.6 million for facility improvements.  
 
This concludes the review of the Capital Plan. 
 

23



 

 - 6 - 

Chairperson Grabowski asked if there was a consensus among Board members to reflect the $300 
change for classroom teachers. All Board members agreed. 
 
A question was asked about supplying information to Town Council in meetings. The Board’s 
budget hearings are posted public meetings and members of Council can attend. Dr. Macary said the 
budget is posted online under the Business Office. He also said he will email his PowerPoint 
presentation to them. He said he will change his PowerPoint to reflect the $4,400 increase and will 
send it out Monday.  
 
Dr. Macary recommended the Board vote on the budget on February 5th. He added the Monday, 
January 29th and Wednesday, January 31st budget workshops are cancelled. The Board agreed by 
consensus with Dr. Macary’s recommendation.   

 
 
5.0     Adjournment 

 
      Chairperson Grabowski motioned to adjourn the workshop at 7:17 pm.  

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
   

Karen Colt, Board Secretary 

24



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
 
 
   February 5, 2024 
 

 - 1 - 

DRAFT MINUTES 
BOARD OF EDUCATION - SPECIAL MEETING – 2024-2025 PROPOSED BUDGET APPROVAL 

 
A special meeting of the Vernon Board of Education was held in-person and via Zoom Webinar at the 
Administration Building on Monday, February 5, 2024.   
 
1.0 Establish Quorum 
 

Roll call was taken at 6:02 p.m.   
 
There was a quorum.   Board members present:  Mr. Grabowski, Ms. Wintress, Ms. Colt, Dr. 
Buxton, Ms. Nucci, Ms. Sewell and Mr. Thrall.  Mr. Bedlack and Mrs. Jablonecki arrived at 6:06 
PM.  

 
Administration present: Superintendent Dr. Joseph Macary, Assistant Superintendent Mr. Robert 
Testa and Director of Business and Finance Mr. William Meier III. 

 
2.0 Call to Order 
 
 Chair Paul Grabowski called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m.   
 
3.0 Pledge of Allegiance 
 
4.0 Community Forum  

 
Opportunity for comments on agenda items, potential future agenda items, or general information 
provided to the Board from citizens and community organizations (Individual speakers shall be  
limited to five minutes and the total time for public forum shall be limited to 15 minutes.) 
 
Phyllis Winkler of 20 Gottier Drive, Vernon, CT, addressed the Board.  She stated she was happy 
to see that Universal Pre-K was on the Board’s list of Budget Priorities.  She feels this is 
extremely important and hopes it comes to fruition.  We should work to increase the number of 
Pre-K students in our District. 

 
 

25



The Board of Education 
Town of Vernon 

                              30 Park Street – PO Box 600 
                                Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

 
Paul Grabowski, Chair   
Kristiana Wintress, Vice Chair 
Karen Colt, Secretary 
Anthony Bedlack 
Patricia Buxton 
Susan Jablonecki 
Kriste Nucci 
Simone Sewell 
Mason Thrall 
 
 
   February 5, 2024 
 

 - 2 - 

 
 
 
5.0 Approval of the Superintendent’s Proposed 2023-2024 Budget 
 

Dr. Macary spoke of the Budget Summary handout distributed to each Board member this 
evening.  The handout summarized the proposed changes made by the Board of Education during 
the three budget workshops held in January, where every item was reviewed line by line.  These 
changes resulted in a total budget figure of $60,479,063.00, resulting in an increase of 4.51% over 
last year’s budget.  Dr. Buxton thanked everyone for their efforts in putting this budget together.  
Mr. Thrall said this is a really responsible budget and he feels good about it.  Ms. Nucci agreed 
with Mr. Thrall.  She also asked Dr. Macary if he felt there could be any line items that the Town 
will want to cut.  He noted that Medical expenses and Salaries & Wages tend to be the areas of 
concern that could be adjusted.  He noted concerns of sustained inflation, increased wages and the 
cost of goods and services.   

 
MOTION: Mr. Thrall moved to accept and approve the Superintendent’s Proposed 2024-2025 

Budget totaling $60,479,063.00 as presented. 
SECOND: Dr. Buxton 
VOTE:  Unanimous 

 
6.0 Adjournment 
 
 MOTION: Dr. Buxton made a motion to adjourn at 6:10 PM 
 SECOND: Ms. Colt 
 VOTE:  Unanimous 
  
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
        Karen Colt, Board Secretary 

26





 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN  THE VERNON BOARD OF EDUCATION 
AND 

THE VERNON SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION 

The Vernon Board of Education (“Board”) and the Vernon School Administrators Association 
(“VSAA”) (referred collectively herein as “Parties”) hereby enter into this Memorandum of 
Agreement (“Agreement”) concerning the clarification of procedures for the deduction of 
administrator health insurance premium cost shares, administrator HSA deposits, and the timelines 
for health insurance premium deductions from administrator salary payments.   
Article XVI, Health Benefits, of the collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) governs the health 
insurance provisions bargained between the Parties.  The Parties agree to clarify the existing 
procedures for payroll processing of administrator health insurance payments in the following 
way: 

• As of July 1, 2024, the Parties are transitioning from having an employee’s premium cost 
share contribution being deducted in eighteen (18) payroll checks to twenty-four (24) bi-
monthly payroll checks, and not the third check in any given month.  

• Any administrator -elected contributions to their health savings account (HSA) will be 
deducted in twenty-four (24) payroll checks, and not the third check in any given month. 

• One-half of the Board’s annual HSA deposit will be in the first payroll cycle of September 
and the remaining half of these monies will be deposited in the first payroll cycle of 
January.  For administrator hired after September 1st, the HSA deposit will be pro-rated. 

• The ‘health insurance premium collection’ plan year is being changed from the current July 
1 to June 30; to September 1 to August 31.  Premium renewals go into effect July 1, which 
will necessitate a change in the amount deducted from administrators’ paychecks beginning 
with the first payroll cycle in July.  In addition, those administrators retiring or resigning 
who have worked through June will receive health insurance coverage for the months of 
July and August at the contractually-provided premium cost share amount for active 
administrators. 

 
This Agreement is made without prejudice and is confined to the subject matter of this Agreement.  
This Agreement constitutes the full agreement between the parties regarding the Board’s 
procedures for administrator to pay such health insurance contributions as are expressly named 
within this Agreement.  Any matter dealt with herein shall supersede any conflicting terms in the 
CBA.  This Agreement shall have no precedential value and shall not be presented in any other 
matter or proceeding in any forum, except to enforce its terms.  Further, this Agreement is not 
subject to modification except through a written agreement signed by the Parties.  
 
 
 
              
For the Board of Education    For the Association 
 
 
              
Date       Date 





















VERNON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 2024-2025 CALENDAR  (BOE Approved ___________) 
Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri   Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri 

August/September 2024 (22 days)                                              February 2025 (17 days) 
26PD 27PD 28PD 29* 30        

2 3 4 5 6   3 4 5 6 7 
9 10 11 12 13   10 11 12 13 14 

16 17 18 19     20   17 18 19 20 21 
23 
30 

24 25 26 27 
 

      24 25 26 27 28 

October 2024 (22 days)                                                                  March 2025 (20 days) 
 1 2 3 4         
7 8 9 10 11   3 4 5 6 7 

14 15 16 17 18   10 11 12 13 14 
21 22 23 24 25   17PD 18 19 20 21 
28 29 30      31    24 25 26     27   28 

       31     
            

November 2024 (18 days)                                                               April 2025 (17 days) 
    1    1 2 3 4 
4 5PD 6 7 8   7 8 9 10 11 
11 12 13 14 15   14 15 16 17 18 
18 19 20 21 22   21 22 23 24 25 
25  26 27/ED 28 29   28 29 30   

            

December 2024 (15 days)                                                                May 2025 (21 days) 
2 3 4      5 6      1 2 
9 10 11 12 13   5 6 7 8 9 

16 17 18 19 20   12 13 14 15 16 
23 24 25 26 27   19 20 21 22 23 
30 31        26 27 28 29 30 

            

 January 2025 (21 days)                                                                    June 2025 (9 days) 
  1 2 3   2 3 4 5 6 
6 7 8 9 10   9 10 11  12ED 13 
13 14 15 16 17   16 17 18 19 20 
20 21 22 23 24   23 24 25 26 27 
27 28 29 30 31   30     
            

 

                PD = Professional Development Days - No School                            Holidays and School Vacations - No School              
ED =  Early Dismissal –District Half  Day of School              CONF = Parent/Teacher Conferences –Half-Day of School 
                                  Elementary Schools and Middle School 

Q=End of Quarter      T = End of Trimester                                                                            Snow Day - No School 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------                         
August 26th, 27th, 28th - District Professional Development             January 1st - New Year’s Day Holiday 
*August 29th – First Day of School  January 20th - Martin Luther King Day 
September 2nd – Labor Day  February 14th, 17th & 18th –Winter Recess & President’s Day  
October 14th – Columbus Day/Indigenous Peoples Day             March 17th – Professional Development Day – No School 
November 5th – Professional Development Day – No School  April 14th  – 18th – Spring Recess & Good Friday 
November 27th – District Half Day of School – ED  May 26th – Memorial Day 
November 28th & 29th - Thanksgiving Recess                                                       June 12th – Last Day of School – District Half Day of School – ED 
December 23rd – 27th, 30th – 31st - Holiday Recess               
   
                                                                                                                              
If school is cancelled 8 or more days, any make-ups beyond 8 will be taken from the April vacation beginning on April 14th working forward. 

 
 
 

 
 
 











 

 
 

 
 

Overview of Legal Services for: 

Vernon Public Schools 

Prepared by: 

Thomas B. Mooney, Partner 

November 10, 2023 

 

Shipman & Goodwin LLP 
One Constitution Plaza 
Hartford, CT 06103-1919 

 

Phone: 860.251.5710 
Email: tmooney@goodwin.com 
 

  

mailto:tmooney@goodwin.com


02 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Table of Contents 
Section 1: Submittal Letter......................................................................................................................... 3 

Section 2: Experience ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 3: References ............................................................................................................................... 12 

Section 4: Fee Proposal ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 5: Form of Contract ..................................................................................................................... 16 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A: School Law Client List ....................................................................................................... 17 

Appendix B: Lawyer Biographies ............................................................................................................ 18 

Appendix C: Sample Publications ........................................................................................................... 24 

Appendix D: 2023 Education Legislation Summary .............................................................................. 39 

Appendix E: Model Policy Index .............................................................................................................. 68 

Appendix F: Our Commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion ........................................................... 77 



03  SECTION 1: SUBMITTAL LETTER  
  

 

Section 1: Submittal Letter 
Thomas B. Mooney, Partner 

Shipman & Goodwin LLP 

One Constitution Plaza, 

Hartford, CT 06103-1919 

Phone: 860.251.5710 

Fax: 860.251.5215 

Email: tmooney@goodwin.com 

                                                                                                                November 10, 2023 

VIA HAND DELIVERY 

Mr. William Meier 

Director of Business and Finance 
Vernon Public Schools 
30 Park Street 
Vernon, CT 06066 
Email: wmeier@vernon-ct.gov 
 
 
Re: Legal Services Proposal to Vernon Public Schools, Bid # VPS-FY24-001  

Dear Mr. Meier: 

It is my pleasure to respond on behalf of Shipman & Goodwin LLP to the Request for 

Proposals Legal Services #VPS-FY24-001 (“RFP”), and we appreciate the opportunity to submit 

this proposal.   

In the following, we will describe our school law practice, the proposed Vernon Public 

Schools team and our qualifications, references, fee proposal and billing procedures, and our 

compliance with and exceptions to the conditions set forth in the RFP.  We will be pleased to 

provide any other information that you may request, and we will be delighted to meet with you, 

the Superintendent, and the Board of Education to describe our firm, our experience, and our 

approach in working with school districts to deal with the challenges that you confront. 

Shipman & Goodwin LLP, founded in Hartford in 1919, is a large general practice law 

firm with five offices in Connecticut (Hartford, Stamford, New Haven, Lakeville, Old Lyme), and 

we have a robust and sophisticated school law practice. The combination of our specific 

experience with school law issues and the resources of a large firm makes us uniquely qualified 

to provide legal assistance to the Vernon Public Schools.   

For each of our clients, we have a dedicated team of lawyers that develops close 

working relationships with our clients.  However, the full resources of our firm and our deep 

bench of lawyers in the School Law Practice Group are always available as needed. As 

mailto:wmeier@vernon-ct.gov


04  SECTION 1: SUBMITTAL LETTER  
  

 

described in detail in the attached, we propose that Kelsey Scarlett, Natalia Sieira Millán, and I 

work with the Vernon Board of Education and the Administration on legal matters, including 

general education law matters, negotiations and personnel matters, student matters, and any 

and all other matters on which you may request our assistance. 

Also, on behalf of Shipman & Goodwin LLP, I am an authorized principal of the firm and 

have reviewed the conditions set forth in the RFP.  I confirm our agreement to those conditions 

with the exception of those listed within Section 4: Budget/Fee Proposal and Section 5: Form of 

Contract.  

We truly appreciate the opportunity to present this information to you and the members 

of the Board of Education.  We recognize that the selection of legal counsel involves intangibles 

of personality and philosophy, and we will be pleased to meet with you and the Board of 

Education to discuss our firm and our approach to legal problems. 

Thank you again for your kind invitation to provide this information as well as your 

consideration of our proposal. 

  

  

                                                                                    Very truly yours, 

  

 

                                                                                    Thomas B. Mooney 

  

  

  

  

  

 



05  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

Section 2: Experience 

Overview of Our School Law Practice 

Shipman & Goodwin is a general practice law firm with approximately 140 lawyers in five offices 

in Connecticut as well as an office in New York City.  We represent over one hundred public 

school districts throughout the state, ranging from urban districts such as Danbury, New Haven, 

Hartford, Norwalk, and Stamford to suburban and rural districts, including the neighboring 

school districts of Tolland, Coventry, Bolton, Manchester, South Windsor, and Ellington.  We 

also represent the Connecticut Association of Public School Superintendents (CAPSS) and the 

Connecticut Association of Schools (CAS-CIAC), and we work closely with the Connecticut 

Association of Boards of Education (CABE), and the State Department of Education.   

Attached is our School Law Client List (Appendix A) for your review.  The breadth of our 

experience with school law issues and the resources of a large firm makes us uniquely qualified 

to provide legal assistance to the Vernon Public Schools in an efficient and cost-effective 

manner. 

Within this section, we will review a more detailed description of the qualifications of the Vernon 

Public Schools team and attach detailed biographies for each lawyer (Appendix B).  In addition, 

we draw on the expertise of our colleagues in any area of law in which the Vernon Public 

Schools may require assistance, such as employee benefits (including the Teacher Retirement 

Board), intellectual property, environmental law, or business contracts.  Given the resources of 

a large firm, we can provide assistance for any legal problem promptly and efficiently. 

Given the scope of our practice and our personal commitment to serving school districts and 

boards of education, we have acquired extensive experience in school law.  Consequently, we 

are able to answer questions (and even help our clients frame the right questions) efficiently, 

usually without the need for research and often on the same day.   

For the past forty-five years, we have emphasized education and prevention in addressing the 

legal needs of our school district clients.  As described below, many of us write about and teach 

school law in addition to practicing law.  In working with our school district clients, we emphasize 

awareness and preventive action to avoid legal problems.  Indeed, our entire team focuses on 

counseling and educating our clients on their legal obligations and options.  For example, some 

years ago we established www.ctschoollaw.com for our clients, a mini-site dedicated to 

providing school law resources and descriptions of recent developments.  In addition, we 

present complimentary seminars for our school district clients on current topics of general 

interest.  Additionally, our school law and employment lawyers regularly provide on-demand 

webinars and in-person presentations on timely topics and updates on recent court decisions 

affecting public-sector employers.   

Additionally, we provide “School Law Alerts” and write articles on breaking and important school 

law developments (Appendix C).  Similarly, we track bills in the General Assembly that affect 

our school district clients, and each year we provide our clients with a legislative update on 

http://www.ctschoollaw.com/


06  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

relevant statutory changes (Appendix D).  We are routinely called upon to provide training 

sessions for the Connecticut Association of Boards of Education (CABE), the Connecticut 

Association of Schools (CAS-CIAC), the Connecticut Association of School Business Officials 

(CASBO), the Connecticut Association of School Personnel Administrators (CASPA), and the 

Connecticut Association of Public School Superintendents (CAPSS) on topics ranging from 

board-of-education operation to teacher evaluation to bullying.  We are knowledgeable in all 

aspects of school law, and our team is able promptly to address any school law questions that 

the Vernon Public Schools may confront. 

The Vernon Public Schools Team 

We propose a team to serve Vernon Public Schools as follows:  

Thomas Mooney 

I founded and serve as chair emeritus of the School Law Practice Group at Shipman & 

Goodwin.  I represent school districts in all areas of school law, including general school law 

questions, labor negotiations for certified and non-certified staff, teacher tenure proceedings, 

grievance arbitration, freedom of information hearings, student disciplinary matters, and all other 

legal proceedings involving boards of education.  

I have spent over forty-five years speaking, writing, and teaching about school law issues.  In 

1994, I first wrote my treatise A Practical Guide to Connecticut School Law, which I continually 

update.  The Guide is now in its Tenth Edition (2023), which CABE released in October. I have 

also written “See You in Court!” for over forty years, a monthly legal advice column for the 

CABE Journal, as well as “Legal Mailbag,” a question-and-answer column for school 

administrators and others that has appeared for over twenty years, first in the CAS Bulletin, and 

now in the weekly CAS Newsblast.   

In addition, I teach school law courses at the University of Connecticut Law School and the 

Neag School of Education at the University of Connecticut, and Natalia Sieira Millán and I co-

teach school law courses at the School of Law and the School of Education at Quinnipiac 

University.  My teaching, writing, and broad experience over many years permit me to answer 

most school law questions promptly and efficiently. 

I received my B.A., magna cum laude, from Yale College and J.D., cum laude, from Harvard 

Law School. 

Natalia Sieira Millán 

Natalia works extensively with boards of education throughout the state, including Middletown, 

New Haven, Norwalk, East Haven, Westbrook, Mansfield, Rocky Hill, and Granby, among 

others.  Natalia is active in all areas of school law, including freedom of information hearings, 

policy development, student disciplinary matters, employee disciplinary matters, and all other 

legal proceedings involving boards of education. Natalia also represents boards of education in 

labor relations matters, including collective bargaining with both certified and noncertified 

https://www.shipmangoodwin.com/insights/tom-mooney-authors-tenth-edition-of-a-practical-guide-to-connecticut-school-law.html


07  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

bargaining units.  In addition, Natalia teaches in the UCAPP Program at the University of 

Connecticut Neag School of Education and co-teaches school law courses with me at the 

School of Education and School of Law at Quinnipiac University. 

Prior to joining the firm, Natalia was the Assistant Agency Legal Director with the Connecticut 

Department of Children and Families and an associate at a regional law firm.  While in law 

school, Natalia served as a law clerk in the State of Connecticut Superior Court, Stamford-

Norwalk Judicial District, Civil Division.  Natalia is also active in the community, serving on the 

Junior Board of Directors of the Family and Children’s Agency, as a volunteer translator for the 

Starfish Connection, and as a Pro Bono Attorney for the Jackie Robinson Park of Fame as well 

as for the Connecticut Association of Community Health Workers.  A native of Spain, Natalia is 

fluent in Spanish and Galician. 

Natalia received her B.A. from Boston University and J.D. from Quinnipiac University School  

of Law. 

Kelsey Scarlett 

Kelsey Scarlett is a member of the firm’s School Law Practice Group, where she advises public 

and independent schools and colleges and universities on a variety of general education and 

labor and employment issues.  Kelsey’s practice focuses on student discipline, Title IX and 

sexual misconduct, policy drafting, the rights of transgender and gender-minority students, 

complaints from the Office of Civil Rights (OCR), and employee and student investigations.  She 

regularly attends Title IX seminars and has received ATIXA training. 

Kelsey was a panelist at Boston University School of Law’s Symposium last year "Title IX at 50: 

Learning From the Past and Looking to the Future."  While in law school, Kelsey also co-

authored a law review article published at California Western Law Review entitled “Transforming 

the Focus: An Intersectional Lens in School Response to Sex Discrimination.” 

Prior to joining Shipman and Goodwin, Kelsey was a Legal Intern for the U.S. Department of 

Labor, Office of the Solicitor and a Legal Assistant to the Executive Director of the Civil 

Litigation & Justice Program at Boston University School of Law. 

Kelsey received her B.A. from Bowdoin College and J.D. from Boston University School of Law. 

  



08  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

Experience in Various School Law Matters  

We are pleased to describe our experience with and approach to the various legal issues that 

the Vernon Public Schools may confront. 

School Law 

Given the scope of our practice and our personal commitment to serving school districts, we 

have significant expertise in school law, an area of law that has evolved over the past forty-plus 

years.  The body of law that regulates the affairs of school districts developed rapidly from 1969 

(when the United States Supreme Court decided the Tinker case on student constitutional 

rights) to 1975 (when the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) was first enacted as 

Public Law 94-142).  When I graduated from law school the very next year, “school law” as we 

know it did not exist.  As it has evolved into a separate discipline since then, my colleagues and 

I have been active in learning, writing, and teaching about it.  Over these years, our school law 

practice has grown significantly from eight school districts to over one hundred at present 

We are committed to this area of law and to keeping our clients informed about legal 

developments.  In addition to regularly publishing legal updates on ctschoollaw.com, for 

example, we provided guidance to school superintendents and others last year on the 

Department of Children and Families (DCF) and mandatory reporting obligations.  Similarly, we 

have developed expertise in assisting clients in navigating the complicated procedures set forth 

in recently adopted regulations to investigate and adjudicate Title IX issues.   

We also provide input to the General Assembly on behalf of our clients.  In this legislative 

session, I provided written testimony to the General Assembly on unwelcome proposals to 

revise the Teacher Tenure Act and the Teacher Negotiation Act.  This year, we also prepared a 

comprehensive list of educational mandates imposed on boards of education that CAPSS 

provided to the Education Committee and other legislators.  Similarly, we provided extensive 

feedback to the Connecticut State Department of Education on its then-draft guidelines for both 

restraint and seclusion and for alternative educational opportunities.   

Policy Updates 

A primary role board members have is to adopt policies to regulate the affairs of the District.  To 

serve our clients, we have developed a model policy service, which includes a number of model 

policies.  These model policies include policies on all subjects on which board policies are 

legally required or strong recommended.  We update these model policies at least annually to 

assure that they are current as the laws change and new judicial decisions are issued 

(Appendix E).  Though it is optional, many of our clients have subscribed to our model policy 

service.  In any event, the time we spend to keep our core policies up to date permits us to 

respond promptly and efficiently to policy questions from our clients as they may arise. 

http://www.ctschoollaw.com/


09  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

Collective Bargaining 

We work closely with school districts throughout Connecticut in labor negotiations for both 

certified and noncertified personnel, either directly at the bargaining table or as a consultant, 

depending on the client’s needs.  Given the scope of our school law practice, we are familiar 

with the labor issues that can arise relative to special education or other educational  

law matters.  

The scope of our school board practice permits us to represent our clients in negotiations 

effectively and efficiently.  We maintain extensive files that include all current teacher and 

administrator contracts as well as many other board of education and municipal contracts.  Two 

paralegals compile and analyze this and other information for negotiations, including information 

concerning a school district’s ability to pay and comparison exhibits of salaries and/or wages in 

surrounding towns or within the same district reference group (DRG).  We use this information 

to prepare comparison exhibits for negotiations, mediation, and binding arbitration. In addition, 

we receive time-sensitive information regarding labor negotiations trends and settlements well 

before they are released to the public, enabling our clients to make informed decisions at the 

bargaining table. For your reference, we have provided a sample booklet along with this 

proposal for the Vernon Public Schools that illustrates the negotiations materials that we 

prepare for any set of negotiations that we are handling.   

Labor and Employment Law 

We are active in all areas of labor law.  Our first priority is to help clients meet their legal 

obligations without problem, and therefore we encourage our clients to consult with us on their 

plans in advance.  As described above, we provide seminars and regular legal updates to our 

clients.  However, despite our preventive counseling approach, some disputes are unavoidable, 

and we regularly represent boards of education in adversarial hearings, including tenure 

hearings and grievance hearings before the American Arbitration Association and the State 

Board of Mediation and Arbitration.  Our employment litigation lawyers also provide assistance 

when litigation is brought or threatened.  We represent our board of education clients before 

state and federal administrative agencies and/or state and federal courts in employment 

disputes as well as alternative dispute resolution venues.  Given the costs of litigation, it is 

important to be proactive in solving potential litigation matters before claims are made. 

Accordingly, we provide regular training for supervisors in employment litigation avoidance, 

including sexual harassment training. 

Student Discipline 

Student discipline is an unfortunate but important aspect of the legal affairs of school districts, 

and we are regularly involved in such matters.  We stand ready to assist the District in this area, 

having been involved in hundreds of such hearings, either as administration or board 

counsel.  On rare occasions, such issues are also litigated, and we have successfully 

represented school districts in related litigation.  Moreover, our extensive experience in special 



10  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

education matters can be very helpful when issues of student discipline and special education 

are both presented in a particular case. 

Important aspects of student discipline are prevention and guidance.  When the bullying statute 

was first passed in 2002, I wrote a policy and detailed regulations for CAPSS that morphed into 

the policies and procedures widely used in Connecticut.  We keep the bullying policy as well as 

our general policy on student discipline up to date through annual revisions that reflect the latest 

statutory and case law developments.   

Environmental Law 

Shipman’s environmental lawyers routinely provide compliance counseling, permitting and 

transactional support on key federal and state environmental, health and safety requirements to 

school clients on matters related to hazardous waste, abatement, PCBs & PFAs. We regularly 

counsel on matters concerning indoor air quality (IAQ), most often after complaints of mold, 

allergies or odors. Environmental concerns often arise in a public and time-sensitive manner, 

and our environmental team stands ready to assist our school district clients in addressing those 

concerns promptly. Currently, our environmental team has been helping numerous school 

district clients prepare for new IAQ and HVAQ inspection requirements based on recent 

legislation. 

Business Contracts and Technology Law 

We recognize that a modern school district is a complex organization with legal needs that fall 

outside the ambit of “school law.”  Our colleagues regularly provide assistance to our school 

district clients in the areas of their experience.  We have a dedicated contracts team composed 

of school lawyers and business lawyers that regularly assists our clients with contract drafting 

and contract review on various operational issues, such as transportation contracts and food 

service contracts, and we also assist in the drafting of bid specifications and requests for 

proposals.  Our colleagues regularly speak to CASBO on the range of business issues that 

school districts confront, including construction contracts and employee benefit plans, including 

pension plans, Section 125 plans, and Section 457 plans. 

With the evolution of technology, issues of intellectual property arise in the school setting with 

increasing frequency, and our colleagues in the intellectual property area regularly advise 

clients on such issues and related contracts that vendors present.  Moreover, right now we are 

working with a number of school district clients on emerging technologies, such as artificial 

intelligence and software that monitors bullying and harassing communications, as these 

technologies present unique opportunities and unique challenges to school districts. 

Real Estate and Related Matters 

Our real estate and land use lawyers are experienced in all aspects of school-related real estate 

matters, environmental, energy, land use permitting, and, if needed, litigation.  With regard to 

real estate, we have experience with school-related real estate leases, easements, and 

purchase and sale agreements, as well as with adverse possession and eminent domain, 



11  SECTION 2: EXPERIENCE  
  

 

zoning approvals, eminent domain litigation, federal claims, and on-site renewable energy 

generation. 

Other Matters 

Neither the District nor we can anticipate what legal issues you will confront in the coming 

year.  However, we can assure you that we will be ready.  As our School Law Practice Group is 

part of a larger law firm, we can offer expertise and resources in almost every area of law. 

 



12  SECTION 3: REFERENCES  

 

 

Section 3: References 
To supplement our School Law Client List (Appendix A), the following is a select list of our 

clients who can speak to our qualifications and practical approach to school law issues.  

However, we invite you to reach out to any of our other clients for feedback on our work with 

them.   

 
1. Dr. Kate Carter 

Superintendent 
South Windsor Public Schools 
1737 Main Street, South Windsor, CT 06074 
Phone (860) 291-1405 
 
Description of services provided:  We have served as general counsel to the South 

Windsor Public Schools for over twenty years. 

2. Dr. Greg Florio 
Executive Director 
Capitol Region Education Council 
111 Charter Oak Avenue, Hartford, CT 06106  
Phone (860) 247-4063 

Description of services provided:  We have served as general counsel to CREC for 

over fifteen years. 

3. Ms. Erica Forti 
Superintendent 
East Haven Public Schools 
35 Wheelbarrow Lane, East Haven, Connecticut 06513  
Tel: (203) 468-3261 

 
Description of services provided: We have served as general counsel to the East 
Haven Public Schools for more than twenty years. 

 
4. Dr. Alexandra Estrella 

Superintendent  
Norwalk Public Schools  
125 East Avenue 
Norwalk, CT 06851 
203.854.4001 
 
Description of services provided: We have served as general counsel to the Norwalk 
Public Schools for ten years. 

  



13  SECTION 3: REFERENCES  
  

 

 
5. Ms. Lisa Carter 

Superintendent 
Regional School District No. 1 
246 Warren Turnpike Road 

Falls Village, CT 06031 

Phone (860) 824-0855 

Description of services provided: We have served as general counsel to the Regional 
School District One for more than fifteen years. 
 

6. Ms. Frances Rabinowitz 
Executive Director 
CAPSS 
26 Caya Avenue 
West Hartford, CT  06110 
860.236.8640 

 
Description of services provided: We have served as general counsel to the 
Connecticut Association of Public School Superintendents for more than five years. 
 
 
 

 

 



14  SECTION 4: BUDGET/FEE PROPOSAL  
  

 

Section 4: Fee Proposal 
We bill our clients monthly for the services provided through the completion of the previous 

month.  All our service providers keep track of their time on a daily basis.  Computer-generated 

reports are available upon request.  

Shipman & Goodwin’s regular public-sector rates range from $270 to $480 per hour, and these 

rates are a significant discount from the firm’s regular rates.  We review and revise our rates on 

an annual basis with prior notice to our clients. 

We note that the RFP contemplates a single hourly rate for partners and a single hourly rate for 

associates for each year of a five-year contract.  Accordingly, we request the following 

exceptions from those requirements.   

• First, as noted above, we review and revise our rates annually with prior notice to our 

clients.  We will maintain the quoted rates through June 30, 2024, and we will review and 

may revise our rates thereafter.  Given the uncertainties of the economy, we are not able 

to provide a rate for each of the three years of the proposed contract.  However, we 

recognize that through the RFP the Board reserves the right to terminate any contract 

reached at any time on ninety days prior notice, and we will waive that prior notice period 

on request.   

• Second, we do not charge a single hourly rate for associates or partners.  Rather, we set 

our rates based on the relative experience of the individual lawyers so that our clients’ 

costs reflect those varying degrees of experience.  We then strive to ensure that legal 

work is completed by the appropriate member of the team in order to ensure efficiency 

and keep costs down. 

For the Vernon Public Schools team, our hourly rates through June 2024 would be as follows: 

Thomas Mooney   $480/hour 

Natalia Sieira Millan   $375/hour  

Kelsey Scarlett   $280/hour  

Paralegals    $210/hour  

We do not bill for clerical services, telephone charges, or mileage.  We do not charge for routine 

copying; copying charges apply only to the preparation of exhibits and related documents for 

negotiations as well as administrative hearings or litigation, such as teacher termination 

proceedings or arbitration.  As to other disbursements, we bill only the actual charges of third 

parties, such as for transcripts or service of process fees.  



15  SECTION 4: BUDGET/FEE PROPOSAL  
  

 

We would also be willing to meet with you to discuss whether there may be other mutually 

beneficial alternative fee/billing arrangements in lieu of the proposed hourly rate arrangement 

specified above.  Such arrangements may include but not necessarily be limited to blended rate 

proposals. 

We understand that the cost of legal services is an important consideration.  Our clients have 

been satisfied that our services are cost-effective, and we encourage you to discuss this issue 

by calling any of our other clients.  We understand that the budget for legal services must be 

carefully monitored and controlled, and we strive to assist all our school district clients in that 

effort.  Also, as we stress throughout these materials, we emphasize preventive 

counseling.  The best way to keep legal costs down is to prevent, to the extent possible, legal 

problems from occurring.   

We recognize that our hourly rates may be higher than our competitors, and we ask you to 

consider not only the nominal hourly rates quoted above but also the actual costs for the 

services we will provide as well as the resources we provide to our clients at no cost. Our 

satisfied clients include not only all DRG A towns but also seven of the ten towns in Connecticut 

with the lowest measured wealth.  Legal costs depend not just on hourly rates but on a 

combination of hourly rates, how much time it takes to answer questions, and whether we can 

find an elegant or creative solution to the problem at hand.  Our broad experience, our 

academic endeavors, and economies of scale permit us to keep legal charges to a 

minimum.  We will continue to work closely with you, as we do with all our clients, to provide 

cost-effective responses to your needs and practical solutions to your problems.  

 

 



16  SECTION 5: FORM OF CONTRACT  
  

 

Section 5: Form of Contract 
In responding to this RFP, lead relationship lawyer, Thomas Mooney provides the following 

additional information and required statements as specified in the RFP: 

• Insurance Requirements: Shipman & Goodwin LLP meets the requirements in the RFP for 

workers’ compensation, general liability coverage, and professional liability coverage. Our 

professional liability coverage is provided by Attorneys’ Liability Assurance Society (ALAS). 

ALAS is currently rated “A” by Fitch.  We will be pleased to provide any other information the 

District may request concerning our insurance coverage.  

• Hold Harmless Agreement: We believe that the language in paragraph 8.2 is overly broad 

and may endanger our malpractice insurance because that condition would create a 

contractual obligation. We propose the below substitute language, which has been utilized in 

other contracts between Shipman & Goodwin LLP and its clients. 

o The legal firm shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Town and the 

Board of Education and their respective officers, directors, representatives, 

agents, employees, successors, and assigns from and against any and all 

Claims (as defined below), liabilities, damages, losses, costs and expenses, 

including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees and other professionals' 

fees, arising, directly or indirectly, in connection with Claims, Acts, or the 

Contract and resulting from (a) misconduct or negligent or wrongful acts (whether 

of commission or omission) of the legal firm or any of the legal firm’s Agents 

under the supervision or control of the legal firm while rendering professional 

services under the Contract (the “Claims”), or (b) any breach or non-performance 

by the legal firm of any representation, warranty, duty, or obligation of the legal 

firm under the Contract ((a) and (b) each and collectively, the "Acts").  The legal 

firm shall use counsel reasonably acceptable to the Town and the Board of 

Education in carrying out its obligations under this Section. 

• Conditions: On behalf of Shipman & Goodwin LLP, I affirm that we adhere to the conditions 

set forth in the RFP except as stated herein. 

• Conflict of Interest: On behalf of Shipman & Goodwin LLP, I affirm that our firm has no 

conflict of interest in representing the Vernon Public Schools or the Town of Vernon. 

• Disciplinary Action: On behalf of Shipman & Goodwin LLP, I affirm that no lawyer 

presented in this proposal has ever been disciplined by the State or Federal Bar Grievance 

Committees (and no such action has been taken against any lawyer at Shipman & Goodwin 

LLP within the past five years). 

• Taxpayer’s Identification Number: Upon successful bid award, the firm will submit a 

current Internal Revenue Service Form W-9, Payers Request for Taxpayer Identification 

Number. 

 



17  APPENDIX A: CLIENT LIST  
  

 

Appendix A: School Law Client List 
ACES  

Andover  

Ashford  

Avon  

Berlin  

Bethany  

Bethel  

Bloomfield  

Bolton  

Booker T. Washington  

Bozrah  

Branford  

Bristol  

Brooklyn  

Canton  

CES  

Chester  

Clinton  

Colchester  

Columbia  

Coventry  

CREC  

Cromwell  

Danbury  

Darien  

Deep River  

EASTCONN  

East Hartford  

East Haven  

East Lyme  

Eastford  

Easton  

EdAdvance  

Ellington  

Enfield  

Essex  

Fairfield  

Farmington  

Glastonbury  

Granby  

Greenwich  

Griswold  

Guilford  

Hamden  

Hampton  

Hartford  

Hartland  

Hebron  

Integrated Day  

Charter School  

ISAAC (Interdistrict  

School for Arts &  

Communication)  

Kent  

Killingly  

LEARN  

Lebanon  

Lisbon  

Madison  

Manchester   

Mansfield  

Marlborough  

Meriden  

Middletown  

Montville  

Naugatuck  

New Britain  

New Canaan  

New Fairfield  

New Hartford  

New Haven  

New London  

Newington  

Newtown  

North Branford  

North Haven  

North Stonington  

Norwalk  

Norwich  

Old Saybrook  

Oxford  

Plainfield  

Plainville  

Plymouth  

Pomfret  

Portland  

Preston  

Putnam  

Redding  

Region #1  

Region #4  

Region #8  

Region #9  

Region #12  

Region #13  

Region #15  

Region #16  

Region #17  

Region #18  

Region #19  

Region #20 

Ridgefield  

Rocky Hill  

Seymour 

Shelton  

Sherman  

Side by Side Charter School  

Simsbury  

Somers  

South Windsor  

Southington  

Sprague  

Stafford  

Stamford  

Stonington  

Suffield  

Tolland  

Torrington  

Wallingford  

Waterford  

Watertown  

West Hartford   

Westbrook  

Weston  

Westport  

Wethersfield  

Winchester  

Windham  

Wilton  

Windsor  

Woodstock  

 



18  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

Appendix B: Lawyer Biographies 

  



19  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

 

Thomas B. Mooney 
Partner  

860.251.5710 

tmooney@goodwin.com 

Full Bio: 

www.shipmangoodwin.com/people/thomas-b-mooney.html 

 

 
   

Thomas Mooney is chair emeritus of Shipman’s School Law Practice Group.  Tom represents 

clients in all areas of school law, including labor negotiations for certified and noncertified staff, 

teacher tenure proceedings, grievance arbitration, freedom of information hearings, student 

disciplinary matters, special education disputes, and all other legal proceedings involving boards 

of education.  Drawing on his decades of legal practice, Tom’s philosophy is 

straightforward: The best legal problems are those that are avoided.  

Tom is committed to helping current and future education leaders, teachers, personnel, 

policymakers, and lawyers better understand the rapidly emerging issues facing schools today.  

Tom has taught school law at the University of Connecticut School of Law since 1985, has 

served as Professor-in-Residence at the Neag School of Education at the University of 

Connecticut since 2001, and is an adjunct professor in both the School of Law and the School of 

Education of Quinnipiac University.  Additionally, through presentations, panels, seminars, and 

webinars, Tom provides insights that reflect lessons learned over many years. 

A prolific, thoughtful writer, Tom is the author of A Practical Guide to Connecticut School 

Law (10th Edition, 2023), a comprehensive treatise on Connecticut school law published by the 

Connecticut Association of Boards of Education (CABE) and used by teachers, administrators, 

and board of education members throughout the state for the last twenty-nine years.  Over the 

past 40 years, Tom has written hundreds of articles and essays on school law matters, including 

his two current columns: “See You in Court!” which appears monthly in the CABE Journal, and 

“Legal Mailbag,” which appears each week in the CAS Newsblast, published by the Connecticut 

Association of Schools.  Tom is an honors graduate of Harvard Law School and Yale College, 

where he was elected to Phi Beta Kappa. 

In recognition of his service and contributions to public education, Tom is the recipient of the 

Friend of Public Education award presented by CABE, the Friend of Education award of the 

Connecticut Association of Schools (CAS), as well as awards from the Connecticut Association 

of Public School Superintendents (CAPSS), the New England Association of School 

Superintendents, and the Connecticut Law Tribune. 

 

 

mailto:tmooney@goodwin.com
https://www.shipmangoodwin.com/people/thomas-b-mooney.html


20  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

Credentials 

Education 

• Yale College, B.A., 1973, magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa 

• Harvard Law School, J.D., 1976, cum laude 

Bar Admissions 

• Connecticut, 1976 

Distinctions 

• AV Preeminent® Rated, Martindale-Hubbell  

• Listed as a Connecticut Super Lawyer®: Schools & Education (2007; 2014-2023) 

• Listed in The Best Lawyers in America®: Education Law, Employment Law, Labor Law (2006-

2024) 

• Named “Lawyer of the Year” (2013, 2015, 2016, 2018, 2021, 2024): Best Lawyers Hartford 

Region Education Law 

• Named “Lawyer of the Year” (2020): Best Lawyers Hartford Region Employment Law 

• Named “Lawyer of the Year” (2017): Best Lawyers Hartford Region Labor Law 

• President’s Award, Connecticut Association of Public School Superintendents (2020) 

• President’s Award, New England Association of School Superintendents (2017) 

• Professional Excellence Award, Connecticut Law Tribune (2016) 

• Distinguished Friend of Public Education Award, Connecticut Association of Schools (2001) 

• Friend of Public Education Award, Connecticut Association of Boards of Education (2000) 

• American Bar Foundation: Fellow 

• Connecticut Bar Foundation: James W. Cooper Sustaining Life Fellow 

• Harvard International Law Journal, Articles Editor 

Professional Affiliations 

• American Bar Association 

• Connecticut Bar Association 

• Hartford County Bar Association 

• Connecticut School Attorneys Council, Former President 

http://www.martindale.com/Products_and_Services/Peer_Review_Ratings.aspx
https://www.superlawyers.com/about/selection_process.html
https://www.bestlawyers.com/methodology
http://www.bestlawyers.com/About/Methodology.aspx
http://www.bestlawyers.com/about/MethodologyBasic.aspx
http://www.bestlawyers.com/about/MethodologyBasic.aspx


21  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

 

Natalia Sieira Millán 
Partner  

860.251.5250 

nsieiramillan@goodwin.com 

Full Bio: 

www.shipmangoodwin.com/people/natalia-sieira-millan.html 

 

 
   

Natalia Sieira Millán is a member of the firm's School Law Practice Group and represents local 

and regional boards of education, regional educational service centers, and charter schools in 

all areas of school law, including freedom of information hearings, policy development, student 

disciplinary matters, personnel issues including employee disciplinary matters, investigations, 

collective bargaining with certified and non-certified bargaining units, and all other legal 

proceedings involving educational entities.  Natalia regularly delivers comprehensive 

presentations to clients on education topics, including, DCF matters, FMLA and ADA practices, 

implicit bias in the hiring process, board governance and operations, progressive discipline, and 

employee investigations. 

Natalia is committed to serving her clients effectively and efficiently through the delivery of high 

quality legal advice which is timely, practical and creative.  In addition to her support for public 

education through her law practice, Natalia is passionate about teaching school law to future 

administrators and lawyers. Currently, Natalia teaches school law courses at the University of 

Connecticut Neag School of Education, the School of Education at Quinnipiac University and 

Quinnipiac University School of Law. 

Natalia is an active member of the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee at Shipman, and 

Natalia focuses her pro bono practice on the representation of minors in immigration matters. In 

the community, Natalia serves on the Junior Board of Directors of the Family and Children’s 

Agency, and as a volunteer translator for the Starfish Connection and the Connecticut 

Association of Community Health Workers. A native of Spain, Natalia is fluent in Spanish and 

Galician. 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:nsieiramillan@goodwin.com
https://www.shipmangoodwin.com/people/natalia-sieira-millan.html


22  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

Credentials 

Education 

• Boston University, B.A., 2008 

• Quinnipiac University School of Law, J.D., 2011 

Bar Admissions 

• Connecticut 

• New York 

Court Admissions 

• U.S. District Court, District of CT 

Distinctions 

• Listed in Best Lawyers Ones to Watch®: Education Law (2024) 

• Listed as a Connecticut Super Lawyer Rising Star®: Schools & Education (2021) 

• Listed in Latino Leaders Magazine Lawyers to Watch (2021) 

Teaching Positions 

• University of Connecticut: Adjunct Professor, Neag School of Education 

• Quinnipiac University School of Education, Adjunct Professor, Education Law; Quinnipiac 

University School of Law, Adjunct Professor, Education Law 

Professional Affiliations 

• American Bar Association 

• Connecticut Bar Association: Young Lawyers Section  

https://www.bestlawyers.com/ones-to-watch
https://www.superlawyers.com/about/selection-process/
https://www.latinoleadersmagazine.com/


23  APPENDIX B: LAWYER BIOGRAPHIES  
  

 

Kelsey Scarlett 
Associate 

860.251.5450 

kscarlett@goodwin.com 

Full Bio: 

https://www.shipmangoodwin.com/people/kelsey-scarlett.html 

 

 

   

Kelsey Scarlett is a member of the firm’s School Law Practice Group, where she advises public 

and independent schools and colleges and universities on a variety of general education and 

labor and employment issues. Kelsey’s practice focuses on student discipline, Title IX and 

sexual misconduct, policy drafting, the rights of transgender and gender-minority students, 

complaints from the Office of Civil Rights (OCR), and employee and student investigations. She 

regularly attends Title IX seminars and has received ATIXA training. 

Kelsey was a panelist at Boston University School of Law’s Symposium entitled "Title IX at 50: 

Learning From the Past and Looking to the Future."  She also co-authored a law review article 

published at California Western Law Review entitled Transforming the Focus: An Intersectional 

Lens in School Response to Sex Discrimination. 

Prior to joining Shipman, Kelsey served as a Legal Intern for the U.S. Department of Labor, 

Office of the Solicitor and as a Legal Assistant to the Executive Director of the Civil Litigation & 

Justice Program at Boston University School of Law. 

Credentials 

Education 

• Boston University School of Law, J.D., 2021 

• Bowdoin College, B.A., 2017 

Bar Admissions 

• Connecticut 

Distinctions 

• Listed as a Connecticut Super Lawyer Rising Star®: Schools & Education (2023) 

Professional Affiliations 

• George Crawford Black Bar Association Member 

mailto:kscarlett@goodwin.com
https://www.superlawyers.com/about/selection-process/


24  APPENDIX C: SAMPLE PUBLICATIONS  
  

 

Appendix C: Sample Publications 
 



��������	�
����������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������!����������"�����������������������������������������������"���������������������������#�������!�������$���������!�������������������"���������������������������������������"���%����!��������������������������������������������������������������$���������������������������������������!��������������������������������������������������������������������



����������	
�	����������������
������
�����������	
����������
��������������������������������������
���������������������������
������
������������

����� ������������������������
��
����������	���������������
���������
��!
��������������������
�����������
��������������
�����

��������
��������������������������
��������"
��#�����������������

����
������������������������������	���
��������������������������������
����������
�������������
�������������������
���������
�� �������������������������������
��������
�������
��������������$�
$����
������
����	
�	���������������������
���������������������������������������
��
��������
�����
���
�����
����
�����	���
����������%����� �����
�����
�	
��������
��
�����&	
�������������	�'���������(��������������������������	����������
����)�������
���
�����
������ �������������������������
���
��	
���
��������������)�������
����������
������
�����������������
�����������������
�����������	
���������������
��
������
������
���������� ����)�������
����������������
����$�
���������� ��������������������������������
�����������������
����
������
��	��
��
������
����������������������
�������������	� ����������������������������
��������������������&	��$�
'�
������������������
�����
��������	�����
������
���������������
����������������	
���������
������	��	�����
����������&����	
����� '�������������
� �&%�������������
���
�������������������������%����������
������
*	���
����
������	
��������	
�	����'�����������������������������	�+�������&
*	���
��'�
��
	��������� �������������
��	
�����������������
�������������� ���	�������,������,
��� ����
	�����-������������(�������������������.
��.��	��� ���
�	
���������������������	���������
������������������/�����
�������
���������
����������	�����
���
����(���������
����
���(����������	��������������
�����	�

�������	������������
��
����������	��������������	������
��������
�����
�������������
� ���������
��������������������������
�������������������	
�����
����	����������������������������
����������������	
�� ���������0���	��������������������������	
������������
�������/�����
�����
���������������	
�(�������&���
�������	
��'���������	
�����
���������������������������� ����	������
��� ������
������
�������������������������
�����
���� ��������������
��&������	
�������������
�����	���������
��
*	���
��������������������
��
�$��	
�����	���
��'������������
�������	�����/��� ��
��������������
�����������




�����������	�
�����
�����������
�����������������
���
��������������������������������������
�������������
���������������������������������������������
����������������
���
���� !�"#$�%#&'(&) *�(+##,(-�&'�.,'/&'0�1,**&,� ((,!!�-+�-2,�#,(+#.!�#,* -,.�-+�3+4�3, (2,#5!#,67,!-�8+#� �),#!+' *�. /9� '.�&!�1,**&,�&'�-#+7:*,�;&-2�-2,�<#,,.+4�+8�='8+#4 -&+'>+44&!!&+'? @����������@����������@A���
�����
�����������������������B�����������������
��
������
�	����������C��������
���������������
���
�
���������A��
�������
���A���������������
��������������������D����	���E��
����������
������������������������������
����������
�������������
����
����������F�F�������
������������
�����A�����
�������
������������������
����	������������	��
�������������������������������
���������������
�����������������
����G�
��	�
�����
�������
�����������H������D�
�������I�������
�������������������
�������
������������������������������������������������������������D�����������
�������������������
����
���������F
���������A��������	����I�
����������	�
����������
������J�������
������
�������
���������	���������
����	�
�����
������A��
���������������	�������������������K��������
��������K���������������������
�������������L�������������
���������	��
��������������M�����
�������
����	����	�������
����������������
�������������������
������
�����
�������������������
������������������
�����J������
��������	�
�������������D�
�������������	�
�������������������������
�����	��	�������J������������������
�����
�����	���������
�������
�������������������
�������	���������
���������H��
������
�������
�������H����H��������������������
�������������NAO�
�����
����
�	�����
���������
����
������
��������������������
��
���
��������������������������
�������������������
���������
�B��
�������������P������Q����R������N��QSFTUV�
�B��
���������P��W���
�������O��������X����
���
��������
��
�����������������������
��������������
�����������
���������������Y�������
�������������������X���
��������
����������������������
�������
����������������������������������
����������������������������
�������������������������������Y��G�
��	�
�����������D�
����������
�Z�����W���
�������������
��������NAO������	�������������
��������������F����������
������
�����������������
������������������
�������
�����������[\]��P������S�



�����������		
����		�����	�������������������������������������� !"#$%$&"�'%'"("$'�)�*#+$,�-./01����2��	�
3�����������34�2������34��3�	��3����������������3�������3�4����������35��6	3�����	4��	������2����
��	3�������������7�8&&"99��'#%'",+"9: #�;"%<"#9=+*�>"%(��!%?8%'+ $@�� %#<� :��<8&%'+ $�%$<��8*"#+$'"$<"$'� :��&=  ?9A)B%??�-./C1����2�		�������������������D6EF��D6GHH�����IF6J�D����2�2��5��D���5�K��5�H���5L�MNOPPQR��	3��4�����3����������H�����J�4�����������F��2�����S��
T�����	�4���S����	32���	��3��2����34��3�	��3T����������������S3��		��2	���������������������	���������UMV��3������������������4��24	�3��������������4��4�����	�3��������2���3�������������������2����������3�4��������������32���	3���������32���	��3��2����������3������3�5�5�5T����������������35��W��������������������J�4����������3�������		������4������3��������������3�5�X���������4���������		������	�43���������������3����������������34��3�	��3��3�������������������2�����3���������������3�������Y��3���35�Z�3�����		���������34�2�	����������22�33���������������2���3�2��2������[���[��2���\34��3���	���
���Y��3�5��W��������������2�����3���	���������3�������2������4��	2���2���3�22�33�	�������
��������������Z����������]����������62��UẐ]6V5H�2��������2
����3������4��4��	
��_��23����������������������Ẑ]6����4��3����������		����3����
���������Y��3��������2���3�2��2��������		�\3��̀ 2������3�������		��O�45��H����������3����2���3���
�2������ZFaG6O4����2��������������������3������3��������
����	�����3��b�2���������2���5��E�����������	���2���3�2��������
�������������3�2�����3�3�2������4��	2���2���3���������2
��		������	�����������3�2����2���3�������
������������5H�4����c�K������IIGD�4
�����d�PNPQ��H�4����c�K������IIG5�6		�a���3�a�3�����5



��������	�
����������������������������������
�������������������������� !!"� ##$ �$%����&'$�()*�+,,-./�0,12.,33,45678�96:7;�<7=;>7:?@����A������������������B�������������������A������������������C����D����������������������������E��������������������F������������������G������������D�H��������������������������������������A����B���������������������������I����������������G���������������J����



��������������	�
���������������
���������������������
�������������
�������
��
����������
����
���
��
��������
�	����������
����
�����������������
�������
������������������
����������������������������	�������������������������	
������
���������������
����
�������������������������
�������
���
������� �������!����������������������
������������������������� ��������������������"
������#��������
�����������
�$����������		��
�����������
������������
�����������������������������
#�������������������������������
����������������
�������������������������
��
����
���
�������%�������������������&������#��������������������������������
������������
���'(�&����)*+,�-.�/.0�)+1,�23�4.�-.�5167+689:;<�=>;?@A��
����������B���������������
�������������������&�������
#������
����
����������������"�&
�!
���
&����������������������������������
�����������������
������������������C�����
&��&�����
�������	�
������������
����������������������
������������������������
���&����������������������
����(�������DEF��	�����G��
�����
�����H���
�������
������H�����
����������
���������H����!������������	�����&����������������$������������
��������������������������
������������#��&�
������&����
����������B���������������	�
�������������������������
��������������
�������������������
��������
�����I����������������$�������������������&���
���������������������������
���JKK���������������	�
�����&��������
�������
����A��
���������"�&
��!
���
&��&&�������
�������
����������������������������
��
�������	��������
��
�����������
�����������������������������&����	�����
��������
�#��	�����������������������������������
�����
�������������
���	���������
�������	���������������������
��
��������A	�������
������	������
���������&�����&�
�������������
������������
��������������
���	�����������������
	����������
�������	
�������������
�������������&���������&&����&�
������&
��������$���
��������������������
��������	L��������
���I
����������������������
���������&
����&�����$���������
����
�����
�������������&��M�����(�������DEF���������������
��
������&
����������������
�������
�����������
�����������������
���������$�����������������
������������������������	�
������	�������$����������	�
�������������������



������������	����
���
���������������������������������������������
���������	�����������������������������
��
�������������
�������	����������������������	������������������������	����
���
����������������������
��������������
����
���
������	������	��������������������������������������
��������������������������	������������ ��	���������
������������������!"#"�$%�&'(�)*+,-.*�#/++/+�0"1/2�3,+4�56)%�7/8&+)9/')�,:�;(-<&)6,'=�>?@�A�B	���C��DE��F�G�������@H@@�=��
�����	������
��
����
��������� �I��J�G�������������F�	�������
������������	�J�	�����B�������>HD�����������������	���������
������������������������K	�������J���=��
����	����	����
������������L M
����	������������
��������������
�N��������������������������	���������
���������	�����B�������>HD�����
��O�
������������������PEQC=�M�����������
��������������
�G������������������PEEH=������
��������� �I��J�R	����O��
���S��=����������������N����������=��������������	������	�����������	����
�J�
�N��������N�������	���������
�����������
�����N������������������������������J���������
�����������B�������J=������������
�N�����������	���������
������������	������������
����	��������������	�����������������J������������J��������������N���������	����������������J��	���TG�����������	���������
���������=�����
�N��������������������������������������N����������	���������
�����������J��������������	����
���������������	��������
����	�������
�������������������������	����������
���N��������N����
J���J������F��
�����=������	���=�������������������������������=��	��S����U�������������
��������������	������J�����V�������
�������
��������
������	������J�����������	����������������J��
����	���������������������	������
����	�����
���������������������
����������������������=�����
�����W	�������������
��������������N�������J��
������������������J���J=�I��������	����������������	�����
����	�
�����������������������������J�����
����	�����O��
��=�I��������	��������������������������J�����������������=�����
��=�����������
������������=���������
J�����������	���������
������������J����J��
��X����=�����
������
�����������������=�������N�������������������������������������������	��������
���������J������������������������������
������	���������������������������������������
��
���	�����������N��	�����W	�������������=����N������
��������������������������������������L



�����������	�
�����������������������������	������	�������	��������	����������	�������������������������
�����������������	���������	����������	������������������������	������	���	�����������	������������������ �������������������!�������"�����	��������������������#��������#������	�������������������#������	������	��������������������������	������������������$����#����������	���������������		�������	�	��������������	��������	������	������������������	��#�������#���������������������	���������	�������������������������������������#��������#������	�������������������#������	������	��������������������������	������������������$����#����������	���������������		���������������������	�����������������������	�����	����������������������"�����%������������&����������������'		������������"������(�	�	��������������#���������	�������	������������������	��#�������#����������	���#����
������#������	��������������	������������������������������������#��������#������	�������������������#������	������	��������������������������	������������������$����#����������	���������������		�������������	�������������
	��������	��������	��������)�����������������������	���������������������������*����*�!��*�"���*�+�, -.,.����*/��	�#�0�����1�����������	���������	��������������	�����������������	���������������2������	������������������������������	�������������
����������	������	�����������	������"������3 4���������'�������	�
����%�	��������	�'��*"�������5�!���
���006����������7�. .�#�"�������5�!���
���006*�'���8����	�8�	�����*



��������	�
����������������������������������

��������������������� ���������������������!������������������"��#���$����#"�����������������%�����&�����������%�������������������%���%���#���������������"���#"�����#��������������$���������������������"��������������������%���������%�������������"�����������������������������$������������"���#����"��������%���#����'�����%���������(��)�������



�����������	���
������������	�����	����������
���
����������������
����
��	�������
������������������
������������������������������������
�����
�������
����
���������	����������
����
����	��������������������������
��������������
�����������
	��������
��� �����!�"����!����#������$�
����$	��������	��������������%	������$����
&������	���
����������������������"���%	�������'��&���
���(
�
���������)��*+,,+-.�/0�12+3+245,�678559�:;<42;74!�����=>�?>@!�ABC�#�$��DD�E=F==G!������	����������������
�����������
���
�������"����%�����(�����&!������
�!����
��������"����
��������
���������������������	������������
���H�E>G���
�������
&�������
������
�����
&������������I�������E
���
�������
������
���������
���������&����G!�
���E=G�����	�����������&��������	���������������������
��������
�������������J��I��&��������	�������
&��K�"�����	������
�����L������M����
��������������
���������'	����
�I�������J���������	���&����"
���	��������
�����������
��������
&����
�����������L����
�������"
�I��������L��������
&�
�����!����
���������
����
&���K�������������"�������
�����
��������������	����������
�����������
	��!�����������N��
�����������
����O	���!�
�����&�����
���P���(�����&J��������
��������Q
�&�������
���������
����	���Q
���
�����
���
���
�������������������������������
&��������"�������������	�&�
��
�R���������
�����
��K��R��������
�����������!������
����
���������
&���
������L���������������
�
������
����������
����!�"���	������"
��	��������
���	����
���&���������������������&�����
��
���
��S���������������
�����&!�%	������T���	���������
�����������������	����
�������������������������U�����������!�������V������!�
������
���������U�
���
�������	����������������������������������������!�
������V��������������"��
��������������������	���������������!����������������W������M����	�����
���������
�
�&�����&���������
������������������������������	����
&����"
�����
��&��
�����������������	���
�	�����������
����
������!"���������
�������������V���������������M����	�������������������
���������������
����������
���������
��������������������!����
	��������������������
�������������������������
�������������������
��P���(�����&�
���������&��
���������������V�������
�����������������	��!�����	������������������"�������������������
�
������	����
&���"
����O	������&������
�����������
	�����M����	����������������������������
����
�����J�������K����"������������V���������
	���
���������
�����������
	�����O	���������������������)����������!�����	���������
�������
�������������"���
��X+35,�M����L����
����	�
�������X+35,�/0*Y24Z3[,!�?F �#�$���F=�E>BC>G���\������"������
��M����E�
���������������
��
�������	����������
��
����������������������	��
������&G��
&�
����	���L����������������������



��������������	��
����	�
��	�	���
�����	����	��
����������	������
	���	��	��
��	�	���
���	����
�����
�		�����	��
�����
�	���������������	�	��	����	���� !��	��������
���
��	�����	���������������������	��
��	�����	���������������	��������

��
"������
���	����	�#���������	��������	�$���������������	��
�����	���	�������
������
�������%������	��	��&���'	��	���(
��	�	���������	�����������������������������	�����)	�*�
��(����+��������	��,���
�����
��
	���	����		��������������	��
���	����������*�-���
����	������
�����	��
�����
���������./0�&���'	��	�������
��	����	������		���(
�������������������	���
�	*�
����������	��������
��������.10��	�����
���		%�����
��
�	�����
	���	��2��	��	���	����	��3����	��
����
����	��
����($���������4�&���'	��	���������	��������
��5
�+	���	��,�	6���	��	���
�&���'	��	�����	��
���������	��������������	���
�		���������7�	�����	����
��������&���'	��	���������������	���	�	��
�������������
�������
���	���	���
��������	�����	��	���$���	�����	�	��
��	8���	��
��	6�	��	���
�����������	���9��������������
�	�
��&���'	��	���������	�����������������	��������
����	����		�:��
�	��1;/<�����	���������	����	�����&���'	��	�������������	�*��=	������
����
�	����������	��
�����
�����������	�(�����	�����	��*�
����	��
���.
����	�<;2��������	����	����	������	�������	0������
���
���	���	�#���������	��������	�>����������	��
�����
����	�	����	��	�����������	��������	��
�������	����	������	����	���	��
��������
�	�����
	��	�����	�����
�	����	�����	����
��������������
�		�����	��
�������	���������	�	�����
�	��	��	������	��	�
���
���
	���
��
������	����.�
�����������
����	�������	��	����	�����	������	����	����		����	�����8�	���
�0���&
�	
	�����	��
���	�������������	�	��	����	���	������������	����
�������������������

��	���
�		������	��
����	����������	�	������
	���	4�(3����	����	�
���	����
������	�������	�?���������
������	��������	��������=���	��������	��	�����	�>�����9�	���	������
���	���
�	���
���
���	����
��	6��	���
�������
������	������	�	�	��	��	��������������*7�������	��
�����	����	��
�������
	��������
���������
����#���������	��������	���������	��	��
����	������
������	�	��	����
����������������	�����������	�	������
�	��	���
����	���	����������
����	�
�������
�����������	�������	�#���������	��������	����	���� !�����������	��
����	�
������	����@���ABC �DEFGHI�JK�LEMNI��<OP�Q�$��RR��.1;110��-S11;TTTT�.1;110���$��

��
"������������
���	����������������	�	����������	��		�������	�	����
�����		���������

��	���
�		��������������	��
�������	�����(�
���	2��
�	��	�*������	>�		�#6	����	�����>�		�$�		��������	���������
�	����)���
��������

��
"��������������
����������	����
��������
�����
����
��



��������	�
����������������������������������

��������������������������������������������������� !�"#$�%�&'()�*+,-�.-�/$++�,�#,0��12,��$3�4!"56�/�#57�$$78�.�5$9:�+�������;<�<�=������>�?�������>��������������=����������������������������������@�>�ABCDEF�GFH�IJKL�����������������������=����������M�������������N�������������������



���������	
����
���
��	���	�����	�����������	���	���
��
���	�������
�	�����
���
�����	������	��	����������	��
������	���	���	�������
���	����	��	�����	��
������������������	�������
���	 ����	����������	��	������
���	�������
���	����������	��!������	���	�����	�����	�����	��	������
���	���
�
��	����	���	������	
���
����	��	���
�����
���
����	�
����	�	"���	�	������#	�
���	�����	���	$��
�
����	"
��	�
��
�
�
�������
��	%��	&'$��%()�	�������	���	���������	��	��
	��"�	�������
���	�����"��	����������	��	����	�����	����*���
����
��	+�"	,��-�	.�
��	���	.


��
*����	
�
����������	���
�
��	�/����
���	0�	"��	��	���-�������	�����	�������
���	��"�	�����	��	���
����	�����	��	������
��	���
�
���	���
�	������
��	�������
�	������	
��
���
��	��	�
����	������
��	���	��
�������������	����	��������������	
����
���
��	��1�
������	���	�������	"�
��	����
�
������������	��	���	����
��	��	��1�
���	
����
���
��	��	�	���
�	�/����
��	����	���
����
���
��	��1�
�������	$�	���	�����/�	��	����������	���	��������	����
�	����������
�	������	��
��	��	���	���������	��	2���
�	%��	34�5�	�	������	��	�����
��	��	�������	���	����	����	��	����
�	�	���
�
��	�/����
��	��	���	���������	
����
���
����1�
������	
�	���	
����
���
��	��1�
������	"���	��������	��	���	���
�
��	���
��	��	����������	�����
��	��	�������	6���	
�	����������	2���
�	%��	34�5	��������	���	����
��	���
�
��	�/����
���	�����
���
���	���	���
�
��	��	�/
�
��	���
�	���
�
��	�/����
��	���	������	"��	"���	��������
�	-
����������	�������	�����	�"�����	
����
���	�	��	%��
�	37�	3834�	�����	����

��	��	���%��	�������	������	��������	
�	����
�	���	��
����	
��
���
��	��	�
����	������
��	�����
�����	"��	������	��
������	������	���	�����	��
������	�����	0������	���-
���	�����"	��
���
���	���
�
��	�/����
��	�������	
�	�����	���	������	
�	
��
���
��	��	�
����������
���	��"����	
�	��
�
�����	���	���
���
�
��	��	���	���
�
��	�/����
��	��	������	
���������	���	���-
����������	��������	2���
�	%��	34�5	���	����
���	���	��
��	��"#�/����
��	���	���
���	������
��
���
���	����
���	���	����������
��	��	���	�/����
�����	��"	��1�
�������	$�	���	9:	;<:	=>;?@A;B	CDE	����	���	 �����	�
���
�	�
�
��	����	��	���	F��	���
��������	��	���	���
��
���	���	���
��
��#	��
����	���
�	"�	����	2���
�	%��	34�5#	�������	�����
�
��	�/����
��	�
������	���
�	�
���	�����	���	G���	�/���
�	�����	��	���	G
��%��������	��	���������
��	���
�
��	��	���
�
��	���
����	���	
�����

���	�����
�����
�
��	���	������
�
��	�����	���	����
�
��	
����
���
��	�
����������	%��
�
�������	������
��
��	���
���	����	2���
�	%��	34�5�	�
������	���
�	�
���	��	��
����	���	���
���	��������



����������	��
���������
��
	��������	
��
�	�����	��
���
���������
�
	���������������������������������������������
�	�����������
���������������
�
����
	�������
����������
���
�����
������	���������
��� ��
���
���!����
����"�#�����$��������������%�������!�%�����
�&'()����������
��������	�����������������%���
������
�����	��������	��
�
�
�	����%�������
�������
�	����������
���
	�������
���
����
����
������	
��
����
�����%��������
��	��
���	�����
���*����	��
����	��� ��
���
���	
�����	��
�
�
�	�����������	������������	������	
����
��
�
��������
����������	
��������������
�������
��
��
����������������%��
��������#��������
����	��
����������
��������
���"�������������%��+�
	�
������
���
��	��
%��������
��	����
��
�
������
���
��	��
�����
		��
���
���������������
��
�������%�����������	��
��������
��������������������
�����	�	����%	�
�
����
����
"�������������������
���	������
������������
��
������
���
��	��
�����������
	����
�����	�������
��
�������������������
�	��
����������	���!�%������
�&'()"���������	��
���������	���$���
�	��
	������
	��������,�
�	����	�����		�����	�����
�����%�������������������������������
���-�������	�
�����
	��	��
	��
�������������
�������������
	�
������
���
��	��
��	�����
����	�������
�	��	��
����������������
�	������������
��	����������
������������������	���������
�	����%	�
�!�%������
�&'()����������	��	
�����
�
��
	��	�
��
����%����	��	���./0112345�674/89/:�;71<=����������>�?		�����@@!�	������
�A�&B&C����������>�?		�����@@!������D���
��D��������



39 APPENDIX D: 2023 EDUCATION LEGISLATION SUMMARY 

Appendix D: 2023 Education 
Legislation Summary 



 

 

 

 

 

2023 EDUCATION 
LEGISLATION SUMMARY 

A Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM Legislation Summary 

2023 SESSION 

In its 2023 regular session, the General Assembly made a number of changes to the statutes that affect 
public education in Connecticut. This summary provides a brief overview of some of the more significant 
changes. Unless otherwise noted, these statutory changes are effective July 1, 2023 or upon passage. 
Links to the new legislation are provided in the electronic version of this publication. 

STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING SCHOOL DISTRICT OPERATIONS 

New Board Member Required Training 

Section 2 of Public Act 23-167 requires the Connecticut State Department of Education (“CSDE”) to offer annual 
training to newly elected members of boards of education. The Act directs the CSDE to develop such training 
program to include, at a minimum, the role and responsibilities of a board member, the duties and obligations of 
a board of education, and school district budgeting and education finance. Section 3 of the Act requires first-time 
elected board members to complete the prescribed training at a time and in a manner determined by the CSDE, but 
no later than one year after assuming office. 

Board Meeting Agenda and Document Posting 

Section 6 of Public Act 23-160 expands the duties of boards of education to require boards to make available for 
public inspection, and post on the board’s website, the meeting agenda for any regular or special board meeting 
and any associated documents that board members may review at such meeting. This requirement is in addition to 
posting requirements under the Freedom of Information Act. 

School Resource Officers Memorandum of Understanding 

Under Connecticut General Statutes § 10-233m, each board of education that assigns a school resource officer 
(“SRO”) to its schools must have a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the SRO’s local law enforcement 
agency outlining the SRO’s role and responsibility in the school.  Section 

1 

In this issue... 
School District Operations p. 1 

Students p. 6 

Special Education p. 11 

Teaching and Curriculum p. 16 

Employment  p. 19 

Miscellaneous  p. 25 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

72 of Public Act 23-167, as amended by Section 9 of Public Act 23-208, 
now requires that any such MOUs entered into, extended, updated, or 
amended on or after July 1, 2023 address the SRO’s duties concerning, 
and procedures for, the: (1) restraint of students, (2) use of firearms, 
(3) school-based arrests and (4) reporting of any investigations and 
behavioral interventions of challenging behavior or conflict that escalates 

to violence or constitutes a crime. The MOU must be maintained in a 
central location in the school district and posted on the school district’s 
website and the website of each school in which SROs are assigned. 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/act/Pa/pdf/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https:/www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00208-R00HB-05003-PA.PDF


 

 

 

SHIPMAN 
Under Section 73 of Public Act 23-167, as amended by Section 10 of Public Act 23-208, SROs must submit a report 
to their police chief for each investigation or behavioral intervention of challenging behavior or conflict that escalates 
to violence or constitutes a crime, no later than five school days after conducting such investigation or behavioral 
intervention. The SRO’s report must include: (1) the date, time and location of the investigation or behavioral 
intervention; (2) the name and badge number of the SRO; (3) the race, ethnicity, gender, age and disability status of 
each student involved; (4) the reason for and nature and disposition of the investigation or behavioral intervention; 
and (5) whether any involved student was (a) searched, (b) informed of their constitutional rights, (c) issued a citation 
or a summons, (d) arrested, or (e) detained and the length of the detainment. The new law defines “investigation or 
behavioral intervention” as “a circumstance in which a school resource officer is conducting (i) a fact-finding inquiry 
concerning student behavior or school safety, including, but not limited to, emergency circumstances, or (ii) an 
intervention to resolve violent or nonviolent student behavior or conflicts.” 

School Indoor Air Quality and HVAC Inspections 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-220 previously required boards of education to conduct indoor air quality 
inspections every three years for any school building that was constructed, extended, renovated, or replaced on or 
after January 1, 2003. Sections 43 and 44 of Public Act 23-167 amend state law to require boards of education, 
beginning January 1, 2024, to provide for uniform indoor air quality inspections and evaluations (1) within each school 
building, (2) on an annual basis, and (3) using the Environmental Protection Agency’s Indoor Air Quality Tools for 
Schools Program. Existing law, unchanged by the Act, identifies myriad areas that the inspection or evaluation must 
address and requires that the results be made available at a regularly scheduled board meeting. Boards of education 
are also required to post the inspection and evaluation results on the board’s website and each individual school’s 
website, if any.  

Current law also requires boards of education to conduct HVAC inspections and evaluations by a certified technician, 
certified industrial hygienist, or mechanical engineer (1) within each of their school buildings, (2) every five years, 
and (3) in accordance with statutory standards. The Act extends the deadline for completing such inspection and 
evaluation to January 1, 2025. The Act also establishes a waiver process of the January 1, 2025 inspection and 
evaluation deadline if the Department of Administrative Services (“DAS”) finds that (1) there is an insufficient number 
of certified individuals or engineers to perform such inspection and evaluation, or (2) the board has scheduled such 
inspection and evaluation for a date after January 1, 2025. Any waivers granted shall be valid for one year.  The Act 
also allows boards that have had an inspection conducted in a different format, deemed equivalent by the DAS, to use 
such inspection in place of the uniform inspection and evaluation required by the statute. 

In addition, the Act directs the DAS to develop (1) a standard school building indoor air quality reporting form and (2) a 
standard school building HVAC form for boards of education to use when completing the uniform air quality and HVAC 
inspections and evaluations, which forms must be made available on the DAS’s website.  Boards of education will be 
required to submit these completed forms to DAS. 

Optimal Temperature Comfort Range Guidelines 

Section 45 of Public Act 23-167 requires the Commissioner of the Department of Public Health to develop guidelines 
by July 1, 2024 on the optimal temperature comfort range of sixty-five to eighty degrees Fahrenheit for school 
buildings and facilities. The Act permits a larger comfort range for gymnasiums and natatoriums. 

2Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Paraeducator Professional Development and PDEC Membership 

Last year, the General Assembly revised state law to require boards of education to make available, at no cost and 
in accordance with statutory requirements, an annual program of professional development of at least eighteen (18) 
hours to paraeducators employed by the board. Beginning with the 2023-2024 school year, Section 10 of Public Act 
23-159 adds to these existing requirements and mandates that such program integrate the principles and practices of 
social-emotional learning and restorative practices. The new law clarifies that the professional development program 
may not include trainings otherwise mandated by law, such as trainings regarding DCF policies and procedures, 
sexual harassment, and bloodborne pathogens. 

Section 11 of Public Act 23-159 requires the CSDE to collaborate with the School Paraeducator Advisory Council to 
develop or update guidance and best practices for paraeducator professional development programs and distribute 
such guidance to boards of education by January 1, 2025. 

Current law requires that each board of education form a Professional Development and Evaluation Committee 
(“PDEC”) to (1) participate in developing or adopting the district’s teacher evaluation and support program and (2) 
develop, evaluate, and annually update the district’s comprehensive local professional development plan for certified 
employees and paraeducators. The new law amends the list of individuals that must comprise the PDEC to add at 
least one paraeducator chosen by any exclusive bargaining representative for paraeducators. 

In-Service Violence Prevention and Seizure Response Training 

Section 2 of Public Act 23-160 amends the annual in-service training requirements in Connecticut General Statutes 
§ 10-220a to require that training on school violence prevention, conflict resolution, and prevention and response 
to youth suicide and bullying must be in a manner prescribed in a school security and safety plan that is developed 
in accordance with the Department of Emergency Services and Public Protection’s school security and safety plan 
standards. The new law also requires that the in-service training provide information about emergency response to 
students experiencing seizures, specifically including: recognition of the signs and symptoms of seizures, appropriate 
steps for seizure first aid, information about seizure action plans for students, and, for those authorized to administer 
medication in schools, the administration of seizure rescue medication or prescribed electrical stimulation using a 
Vagus Nerve Stimulator magnet. 

Previously, boards of education could allow non-certified employees and paraeducators to attend the in-service 
training program. Under the new law, boards must allow paraeducators and other non-certified employees to 
voluntarily participate in the in-service training program. 

Title IX Compliance Toolkit for School Districts 

Public Act 23-66 requires the Commission on Women, Children, Seniors, Equity and Opportunity to convene and lead 
a working group to identify or develop a Title IX compliance toolkit for boards of education, students, and parents and 
guardians. The toolkit must include numerous components, including training for school personnel, students, and 
parents and guardians regarding sexual misconduct and a model antidiscrimination and abuse prevention policy.  The 
CSDE must distribute the toolkit to boards of education by October 1, 2024. Beginning in the 2025-2026 school year, 
and each school year thereafter, boards of education must implement this toolkit to prevent, identify, and respond to 
reports of child sexual abuse, harassment, and discrimination. 

3Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00066-R00HB-06642-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Beginning in the 2026-2027 school year, and each school year thereafter, boards of education must submit a Title 
IX compliance report to the CSDE. The compliance report must include: (1) the name and contact information of 
the Title IX coordinator for the school district; (2) the Title IX training offered by the board to school personnel and 
the frequency of such training; (3) the district’s Title IX policy and supplemental misconduct policies, if any; and (4) 
guidelines or resources, if any, the board provided students, parents, or guardians making Title IX complaints. 

Expanding Opioid Antagonist Access 

Last year, the General Assembly revised state law regarding the administration of medication in schools to allow 
specified school personnel to maintain and administer opioid antagonists to students in emergency circumstances, 
provided certain requirements are met. Among other things, boards of education were authorized to enter into 
agreements with prescribing practitioners and pharmacists (“prescribers”) related to the distribution and administration 
of opioid antagonists (e.g., Narcan) for the reversal of an opioid overdose. Section 12 of Public Act 23-52 specifies 
that this agreement may apply to any intranasally (administered through the nose) or orally administered opioid 
antagonists. 

The new law also answers a frequently raised question about how to store opioid antagonists in a way that they can 
be accessed, in accordance with board policy, outside of school hours.  Pursuant to the Act, agreements between 
prescribers and boards of education, which were already required to address storage of the medication, can now 
permit boards to install a secure box containing intranasally or orally administered opioid antagonists on their 
premises. The secure box shall not contain the opioid antagonist in an amount greater than the amount necessary to 
serve the community in which it is installed. 

A secure box is a container that: (1) is securely affixed in a public location and tamper-resistant; (2) can be accessed 
by individuals for public use; (3) is temperature controlled or stored in an environment with temperature controls; 
and (4) is equipped with an alarm capable of detecting and transmitting a signal when accessed and alerting first 
responders when accessed, unless it is commercially impracticable. The Act specifies that nothing in the law prohibits 
placement of an opioid antagonist in a container that also includes an automatic external defibrillator or other products 
used to treat a medical emergency.  

The agreement between the board of education and the prescriber must: (1) address the environmental controls 
necessary to store opioid antagonists; (2) set procedures for replenishing opioid antagonists, monitoring their 
expiration dates, and disposing of them when expired; and (3) require signage that discloses the presence and usage 
directions of such opioid antagonists in the language(s) spoken in the local community.  If the board of education is 
unable to stock and maintain the secure box, it must remove such box and related signage as soon as practicable and 
within five days of discovering that the board is unable to maintain the box or its supplies. 

Under the new law, boards of education and prescribers may also enter into an agreement allowing the board to 
operate a vending machine distributing intranasally administered opioid antagonists. The vending machine must be 
maintained at a temperature that is consistent with the manufacturer’s instructions or able to maintain an otherwise 
appropriate environment. The vending machine must clearly and conspicuously display on its outside, in an area 
adjacent to it, or upon its distribution of an opioid antagonist, the following information: (1) signs and symptoms of 
an overdose; (2) how to use the opioid antagonist; (3) information on services to treat opioid use disorder; and (4) a 
website or quick response (QR) code directing individuals to online information about overdose signs and symptoms, 
overdose response, and how to use opioid antagonists. 

4Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00052-R00HB-06768-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Opioid Antagonist Bulk Purchase Fund 

Section 5 of Public Act 23-97 creates an Opioid Antagonist Bulk Purchase Fund and requires the Department of 
Mental Health and Addiction Services, not later than January 1, 2024, to use the fund to provide opioid antagonists to 
eligible entities, including boards of education. 

Free Menstrual Products in School Restrooms 

Last year, the General Assembly required boards of education to provide free menstrual products in women’s 
restrooms, all-gender restrooms, and at least one men’s restroom, which restrooms are accessible to students in 
grades three through twelve, in each school under the jurisdiction of the board.  Section 10 of Public Act 23-160 delays 
the deadline boards must begin providing these products by one year, from September 1, 2023 to September 1, 2024. 

Local Food for Schools Incentive Program 

Section 26 of Public Act 23-167 directs the Department of Agriculture (“DOA”), in consultation with the CSDE, to 
administer the local food for schools incentive program. Under the program, eligible boards of education (defined 
as those participating in the National School Lunch Program) are reimbursed for (1) one-half of the board’s costs 
for locally sourced food, and (2) one-third of the board’s costs for regionally sourced food that may be used as part 
of an eligible meal program. Eligible meal programs include the National School Lunch Program, School Breakfast 
Program, Seamless Summer Option, After School Snack Program, Summer Food Service Program, and the At Risk 
Afterschool Meals component of the Child and Adult Care Food Program.  The Act explains the requirements for the 
application process and the reimbursement criteria. 

In addition, the DOA is tasked with developing guidelines to establish a maximum reimbursement amount based 
on total student enrollment for each eligible school board; help eligible boards of education participate in the 
program; promote geographic, social, economic, and racial equity; and develop a survey to assist in implementing 
and improving the program. The Act also authorizes the DOA to provide supplemental grants to eligible boards of 
education to buy kitchen equipment; engage with school nutrition or farm-to-school consultants; or provide training 
relating to the processing, preparation, and serving of locally and regionally sourced food. 

Publishing School District Receipts, Expenditures and Statistics 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-227 requires superintendents to submit school district receipts, expenditures, and 
statistics to the Commissioner of Education no later than September 1 of each year and allows for revisions up until 
December 31. Section 1 of Public Act 23-167 now requires the CSDE to publish the data in the reports and returns 
on its website no later than February 15, 2024 and annually thereafter.  Beginning February 15, 2025, and annually 
thereafter, the CSDE must also develop and publish the data in a format that allows financial comparisons between 
school districts and schools, including student enrollment and demographic statistics, as of October 1 of each year. 

April Enrollment Report 

Section 37 of Public Act 23-167 requires each board of education to submit to the CSDE, no later than May 20 of each 
year, an annual report of the number of students enrolled in its schools as of April 1.  Boards of education that (1) 
are sending or receiving districts under the statewide interdistrict public school attendance program or (2) operate an 

5Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00097-R00SB-00009-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
interdistrict magnet school or agricultural science and technology educator center must submit the number of students 
participating in the applicable program by April 1.  Such data must be reported separately for in-district and out-of-
district students. 

STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING STUDENTS 

Raising the Kindergarten Starting Age 

Current law requires children to be at least five years old on or before January 1 of the school year in order to enroll in 
kindergarten in the public schools. Beginning July 1, 2024, Section 3 of Public Act 23-159, as amended by Section 1 
of Public Act 23-208, amends Connecticut General Statutes § 10-15c to require that children turn five years old on or 
before September 1 of the school year in order to enroll in kindergarten. 

The new law also revises the process by which a child who does not meet the law’s age requirements can be admitted 
to kindergarten. Under current law, boards of education may, by vote at a duly called meeting, admit children under 
five years of age. Effective July 1, 2024, a child who is not five years old on or before September 1 of the school year 
may be admitted (1) upon written request by the child’s parent or guardian to the school principal and (2) after the 
principal and an appropriate certified staff member conduct an assessment of the child to ensure that admitting the 
child to kindergarten is developmentally appropriate. 

Bullying and School Climate 

Since 2002, boards of education have been required to adopt plans to address bullying in accordance with 
Connecticut General Statutes § 10-222d and related statutes. Sections 47 through 55, 70-71, and 86-87 of Public 
Act 23-167 make significant changes to the statutory provisions related to bullying. Notably, the new law (1) requires 
school districts to implement a new Connecticut school climate policy and bullying complaint form; (2) redefines 
previous terms and includes new terms associated with the school climate policy; (3) updates the roles of school 
climate personnel; and (4) establishes a new annual training requirement. 

School Climate Policy, Standards, and Bullying Complaint Form 
The new law requires the Connecticut Association of Boards of Education (“CABE”) to develop, update and 
approve a “school climate policy,” which in turn must be adopted by the Social and Emotional Learning and School 
Climate Advisory Collaborative (the “Collaborative”).  While boards of education must adopt and implement this 
new policy by the 2025-2026 school year, they may choose to adopt and implement the policy earlier – in either 
the 2023-2024 or 2024-2025 school year – after the new school climate policy has been developed and approved. 

The new law further requires the Collaborative to convene a subcommittee to (1) develop Connecticut school 
climate standards based on nationally recognized school climate research and best practices by February 1, 
2024; (2) create a uniform bullying complaint form to include in student handbooks and to post on the websites of 
the CSDE and boards of education; and (3) provide guidance on the implementation of the school climate policy 
adopted by the Collaborative. 

New Definitions Related to Bullying 

In addition, the new law makes several changes to terms related to bullying and school climate. Importantly, the 
new law redefines “bullying” as “unwanted and aggressive behavior among children in grades kindergarten to 

6Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00208-R00HB-05003-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
twelve, inclusive, that involves a real or perceived power imbalance.” The new law also establishes a new and 
related term, “challenging behavior,” defined as “behavior that negatively impacts school climate or interferes, or is 
at risk of interfering, with the learning or safety of a student or the safety of a school employee.” 

Redefined School Climate Roles and School Climate Improvement Plan 

The new law further renames and redefines various school climate personnel. Previously referred to as the “safe 
school climate coordinator,” “safe school climate specialist,” and the “safe school climate committee,” at the start 
of the 2025-2026 school year, these roles will be referred to as the school climate coordinator, school climate 
specialist, and school climate committee, respectively. 

Under the new law, the school climate coordinator must be the superintendent of schools or an administrator 
appointed by the superintendent. The school climate coordinator’s duties include developing strategies to 
prevent, identify, and respond to “challenging behavior,” communicating such strategies to the school community, 
and collecting and maintaining data about school climate improvement. 

The Act also modifies who can serve as the school climate specialist, requiring that either the principal or a 
professional certified school employee trained in school climate improvement or restorative practices who is 
designated by the principal serve in this capacity.  Additionally, the school climate specialist will no longer be 
responsible for “investigating” bullying allegations. Instead, the specialist will be responsible for (1) leading in 
the prevention, identification and response to challenging behavior, including reports of alleged bullying and 
harassment; (2) implementing evidence and research-based interventions, including restorative practices; (3) 
scheduling meetings for and leading the school climate committee; and (4) leading implementation of the school 
climate improvement plan. 

The new law further revises the makeup and role of the school climate committee. Under the new law, such 
committee must be comprised of members who are racially, culturally, and linguistically diverse and representative 
of various roles in the school community, as detailed more specifically in Section 54 of the Act.  Members of the 
school climate committee must be appointed by the school climate specialist. Among other things, the school 
climate committee must assist in the development, scheduling, and administration of the school climate survey to 
students, school employees, and students’ families, starting with the 2025-2026 school year and every two years 
thereafter.  Parents or guardians must be provided advance written notice that the survey will be administered, 
advised of its content, and given a reasonable opportunity to opt students out of receiving and participating in the 
survey. 

Beginning with the 2025-2026 school year and each school year thereafter, Section 54 and Section 71 of the Act 
require that each school climate specialist, in collaboration with the district’s school climate coordinator, develop 
and update as necessary, a school climate improvement plan based on the results of their school’s climate survey. 
The Act sets out the specific information that must be included in the plan. Such plan must be submitted to the 
school climate coordinator for approval by December 31 each year and take into consideration the results of an 
administered school climate survey, recommendations from the school climate committee, and any other data 
deemed relevant by the climate specialist and climate coordinator.  Once approved, a written or electronic copy of 
the plan must be made available to the school community.  

New Annual Training Requirement 
Starting with the 2024-2025 school year and for each school year thereafter, Section 55 of the Act requires that 

7Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 



 

SHIPMAN 
boards of education provide resources and training on social-emotional learning, school climate and culture, 
and evidence and research-based interventions, including but not limited to restorative practices. Any school 
employee may participate in this training. The school climate coordinator is tasked with selecting and approving 
the individual or entity responsible for providing such training. 

Restorative Practices Response Policy 

For the school year commencing July 1, 2025, and each school year thereafter, Section 74 of Public Act 23-167 
requires each board of education to adopt a restorative practices response policy to be implemented by school 
employees for incidents of challenging behavior or student conflict that is nonviolent and does not constitute a crime. 
Such policy shall not include the involvement of a school resource office or other law enforcement official, unless the 
behavior or conflict becomes violent or criminal. 

Addressing Suicide Risks 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221 requires boards of education to adopt a written policy and procedures for 
dealing with youth suicide prevention and attempts. Under current law, boards of education may establish a student 
assistance program to identify risk factors for youth suicide, intervention procedures, referral services, and training for 
teachers, school professionals and students who help with the program. Sections 79 through 80 of Public Act 23-
167 now provide that the risk factors for youth suicide be based on the state-wide strategic suicide prevention plan 
developed by the Connecticut Suicide Advisory Board, and include, at a minimum, youth who are (1) bereaved by 
suicide; (2) disabled or have chronic health conditions, such as mental health or substance use disorders; (3) involved 
in the juvenile justice system; (4) experiencing homelessness or placed in an out-of-home setting, such as foster care; 
or (5) lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning.  

In addition, the new law provides that boards of education may use an assessment, from a list of assessments to 
be recommended by the CSDE by January 1, 2024, for determining suicide risk. Such assessment shall be used 
to determine the suicide risk of students who (1) exhibit mental health distress, (2) have been identified as at risk of 
suicide, or (3) are considered to be at an increased risk of suicide based on the risk factors identified above. Students 
who are assessed based on such risk factors shall receive heightened consideration during the assessment. 

Access to Adult Education 

Previously, a public school student who was “under seventeen years of age and a mother” could request permission 
from the board of education to attend adult education classes. Section 4 of Public Act 23-160 replaces the term 
“mother” with “parent,” thereby extending eligibility to request such permission to any parent under age seventeen. 

Multilingual Learners’ Bill of Rights 

Sections 17 and 18 of Public Act 23-150 change the term for a student whose primary language is not English from 
“English learner” to “multilingual learner” and require the State Board of Education (“SBE”) to draft a written bill of 
rights for parents or guardians of multilingual learners. The bill of rights must guarantee the safeguarding of fifteen 
rights in the provision of bilingual education, most of which are already required by law.  The bill of rights must include, 
among of things, a declaration of the right to attend public school regardless of the immigration status of the student 
or the student’s parent or guardian; to have translation services provided by an interpreter (in person or on the phone) 
or a website approved by the SBE during critical interactions with teachers and administrators, including conferences 

8Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
and board of education meetings, in accordance with statutory provisions; and to participate in a bilingual education 
program offered by the board of education when there are twenty or more eligible students classified as dominant 
in a language, other than English, in accordance with state law.  Beginning with the 2024-2025 school year, the 
Act requires boards of education that provide bilingual education or English as a new language to give parents and 
guardians of multilingual learners a copy of the bill of rights in their primary language and to make the bill of rights 
available on the board of education’s website. 

Disseminating Information on School Options 

Under current law, boards of education must require their school counselors to provide information to middle and 
high school students and their parents regarding the availability of: (1) vocational, technical, technological, and 
postsecondary education and training at technical education and career schools; and (2) agricultural science 
and technology education at regional agricultural science and technology education centers, and to publish such 
information on the board’s website.  Section 30 of Public Act 23-167 now requires that such information be distributed 
to middle school students annually. 

Expansion of Dual Credit and Dual Enrollment Programs 

Section 32 of Public Act 23-167 directs the CSDE, in partnership with boards of education and institutions of higher 
education and by January 1, 2024, to expand opportunities for dual credit and dual enrollment for students in grades 
nine to twelve in a variety of subject areas, including courses required to pursue health care occupations. Such 
expansion must include (1) the creation of resources, such as an online inventory of programs and model agreements 
to promote information sharing between boards of education and institutions of higher education; (2) support for 
curriculum development and professional development for teachers and faculty to create new career pathways for 
in-demand industries, such as health care; and (3) tuition assistance for students who enroll in dual credit and dual 
enrollment programs. 

Promotion of Health Care Careers in High Schools 

In 2022, Special Act 22-9 directed the Chief Workforce Officer to develop a plan to work with high schools in the state 
to encourage students to pursue careers as nurses, medical assistants, emergency department technicians, surgical 
assistants, behavioral and mental health care workers, and other high demand careers in health care. Section 7 of 
Public Act 23-97 directs the Commissioner of Education, in collaboration with the Chief Workforce Officer, to utilize 
the plan in (1) the promotion of the health care professions as career options to students in middle and high school, 
including, but not limited to, through career day presentations, the development of partnerships with health care 
career education programs, and the creation of counseling programs directed to high school students to inform them 
about, and recruit them to, the health care professions; and (2) job shadowing and internship experiences in health 
care fields for high school students. Not later than September 1, 2023, the Commissioner of Education must provide 
boards of education with the plan and support implementation of the plan. 

Model Paraeducator Training Program for High School Students 

Section 29 of Public Act 23-167 requires the Commissioner of Education, in consultation with the School Paraeducator 
Advisory Council and by January 1, 2024, to develop a model paraeducator training program for students in grades 
nine through twelve, inclusive, and distribute the model program to all boards of education. Boards that choose to 

9Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2022/ACT/SA/PDF/2022SA-00009-R00SB-00251-SA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00097-R00SB-00009-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
adopt the model program are required to submit a report, no later than one year after the adoption of such program 
and annually thereafter, to the Education Committee. This report must include the number of students who (1) 
participated and completed such program by grade and (2) found employment as a paraeducator after high school 
graduation. 

School Discipline Collaborative 

Section 75 of Public Act 23-167 directs the Commissioner of Education to establish a working group under the 
Connecticut School Discipline Collaborative (“Discipline Collaborative”) to study current school discipline practices, 
including those practices that lead to students becoming “justice-involved.” Under the Act, “justice-involved” is 
defined as “being involved with the juvenile justice system as a result of being accused of a delinquent or criminal 
act.” Members of the working group must be appointed by the Commissioner and represent the interests of students, 
educators, community members, child welfare and development experts, mental health care providers and restorative 
practice experts. 

Pursuant to Section 82 of Public Act 23-167, the Discipline Collaborative shall advise the Commissioner of Education 
and the SBE on strategies to reduce the overall and disproportionate use of out-of-school suspension and expulsion. 
On or after October 1, 2023, the Discipline Collaborative’s duties will expand and include the following duties as 
related to preschool through grade two: (1) developing guidance to reduce out-of-school suspension and expulsions 
for students in these grades, (2) providing evidence-based and developmentally appropriate definitions and examples 
of violent conduct or conduct of a sexual nature that may result in an out-of-school suspension, and (3) recommending 
developmentally appropriate interventions as alternatives for out-of-school suspension for this population of students. 

Suspension and Expulsion Response and Improvement Plans 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-233n requires school districts to report, as part of their strategic school profiles, 
data to the CSDE regarding in- and out-of-school suspensions, expulsions, and school arrests. In turn, the CSDE is 
required to report the school districts’ data – disaggregated by school, demographic information, and type of offense 
– to the SBE and post such report on the CSDE’s website.  Pursuant to Sections 76 through 78 of Public Act 23-167, 
beginning July 1, 2024, and each school year thereafter, school districts considered by the Commissioner of Education 
to have high or disproportionate rates of in- and out-of-school suspensions and expulsions must develop strategies to 
reduce such disciplinary consequences and submit such strategies to the CSDE. Pursuant to the new law, the CSDE 
is now required to post, in addition to its examination and disaggregation of disciplinary data, any strategies developed 
to combat suspensions and expulsions in identified school districts, and the results of such strategies. Beginning 
July 1, 2024, and each school year thereafter, the CSDE must also provide support, on-site monitoring, and oversight 
to school districts implementing strategies to combat high or disproportionate rates of suspension and expulsions, 
subject to available appropriations. 

Aspiring Educator’s Diversity Scholarship Program 

Last year, the General Assembly established a minority teacher candidate scholarship program to be administered 
by the CSDE to provide annual scholarships to minority students who graduate from a public high school in a priority 
school district and are enrolled in a teacher preparation program at a four-year institution of higher education. Section 
11 of Public Act 23-167 renames the scholarship program as the “aspiring educators diversity scholarship program” 
and replaces the term “minority” with “diverse.” The definition carries over from the former law as “individuals 

10Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
whose race is defined as other than white, or whose ethnicity is defined as Hispanic or Latino by the federal Office of 
Management and Budget for use by the [federal census bureau].” 

Among other changes, the new law reduces the maximum grant amount from $20,000 per year to $10,000 per year.  
It also requires applicants to be in good standing at a teacher preparation program but allows applicants to apply 
prior to high school graduation, if they will be enrolled in a qualifying teacher preparation program in the upcoming fall 
semester. 

STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING SPECIAL EDUCATION 

Age for Special Education Eligibility 

Last year, to conform state law to a recent court decision, the General Assembly required boards of education to 
provide special education services to qualifying students until they reached the age of twenty-two, rather than twenty-
one. This year, the legislature made another significant change.  Sections 32 through 37 of Public Act 23-137 now 
require boards of education to provide special education until an eligible student graduates high school or until the end 
of the school year when the student reaches age twenty-two, whichever occurs first. 

Transition Services 

Public Act 23-137 makes numerous changes to the laws surrounding transition services and transition programs for 
students receiving special education services. 

Statewide Transition Services Coordinator and District Transition Coordinator 
Section 26 of the Act requires the CSDE to employ a Statewide Transition Services Coordinator (“Statewide 
Coordinator”) and Assistant Transition Services Coordinator within the Bureau of Special Education (“BSE”).  
Among other duties, the Statewide Coordinator will be responsible for (1) coordinating the provision of transition 
resources, transition services, and public transition programs throughout the state in collaboration with other state 
agencies; (2) establishing minimum standards for and performing unannounced site visits of public transition 
programs; (3) performing unannounced site visits of public transition programs to determine the effectiveness of 
and suggest improvements to such programs; (4) developing a course for educators and school staff who do not 
provide transition services to inform them about transition services and programs; and (5) establishing minimum 
standards for training of district transition coordinators. The Act defines “transition resources” as sources of 
information, counseling, or training about transition services or programs and defines “transition service” as a 
service for students who require special education that facilitates their transition from school to postsecondary 
activities, such as education and training, employment, or independent living. “Public transition program” is 
defined as a program operated by a board of education or a RESC to provide transition services as recommended 
by the Planning and Placement Team (“PPT”) for a student who requires special education and is eighteen to 
twenty-two years of age based on the goals set forth in the student’s Individualized Education Program (“IEP”).  
The Act defines “transition coordinator” as a director of pupil personnel or other person employed by a board 
of education who assists parents and students navigate the transition resources, transition services, and public 
transition programs available for such students. 

Section 31 of the Act requires boards of education, by January 1, 2024, to designate a transition coordinator who 
may be the director of pupil personnel or another employee. Each transition coordinator shall (1) complete the 

11Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
training program described in Section 30 of the Act (discussed below) within three years of when the training 
program commences or within one year of being appointed as a transition coordinator, if appointed after the 
training program commences; and (2) ensure that parents of students requiring special education receive 
information concerning transition resources, transition services, or public transition programs (which information is 
to be developed by the Statewide Coordinator pursuant to Section 29 of the Act, discussed below) and are aware 
of the eligibility requirements and application details of such resources, services, and programs that specifically 
apply to the student. 

Training Programs and Resources 
Section 27 of the Act requires the BSE to develop, by July 1, 2024, and annually update a training program 
concerning the legal requirements and best practice recommendations for special education and transition 
services. This training is to be delivered via on-demand, online courses and may be delivered in person. 

Section 29 of the Act requires the Statewide Coordinator, beginning in the 2024-2025 school year, to post a link 
to an online listing of transition resources, transition services, and public transition programs, and to distribute a 
notice concerning the online listing to boards of education. Boards of education must then distribute this notice to 
parents of students requiring special education in grades six to twelve at a PPT meeting.  

Sections 30 and 31 of the Act require the CSDE, by July 1, 2024, to develop a training program for transition 
coordinators, educators, and school paraprofessionals. Each RESC shall provide the training program at no 
cost to boards of education. Educators and school paraprofessionals who provide special education for students 
fourteen years of age or older must complete the training within five years of the training commencing, if they are 
hired prior to its inception, and within one year of hire, if hired after the training commences. 

Information on Transition Services at PPT Meetings 
Section 40 of the Act amends Connecticut General Statutes § 10-76d and requires that, at the first PPT meeting 
after a student turns fourteen and has a statement of transition service needs included in such student’s IEP, the 
PPT must do the following for each public transition program and each program for adults for which the student 
may be eligible after graduation: (1) upon approval of the parent or guardian, notify the state agency that provides 
such program about the potential eligibility of the student; and (2) provide the parent or guardian a listing of the 
programs that includes but is not limited to a plain language description of the program, eligibility requirements for 
the program, and deadlines and instructions for applications for the programs. 

Section 40 of the Act also requires that the PPT do the following by the PPT meeting that occurs approximately 
two years prior to the child’s anticipated graduation from high school or the end of the school year in which a 
child will reach age twenty-two, whichever is expected to occur first: (1) upon approval of the parent or guardian, 
notify any state agency that provides a program for adults for which such child may be eligible about the potential 
eligibility of such child, invite a representative from each such agency to attend the PPT meeting, and permit 
and facilitate contact and coordination between each such agency and the parent or guardian for the purpose of 
easing the process for the transfer of services; (2) provide the parent or guardian with a listing of each program 
for adults for which such child may be eligible that includes, but is not limited to, a plain language description of 
such program, eligibility requirements for such program, and deadlines and instructions for applications to such 
programs; and (3) assist the parent or guardian in completing an application to any such program. 

Transition Program Review 
Section 38 of the Act requires the State Education Resource Center (“SERC”) to review each public transition 

12Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 



SHIPMAN 
program and examine all aspects of the program, including the types of transition services, the number and 
qualification of staff, the location of the program relative to the residence of the student or the student’s family, and 
metrics for measuring the performance of the program. 

Transitional Life Skills College 
Section 1 of the Act requires the Commissioner of Developmental Services, by January 1, 2025, to produce a plan 
to establish a Transitional Life Skills College program to provide transitional tools and life skills development for 
persons with intellectual or developmental disabilities, who are at least twenty-two years of age and transitioning 
from the kindergarten through grade twelve education system. 

Interpreters at PPT Meetings 

Federal special education regulations require boards of education to ensure that the parent understands the 
proceedings at a PPT meeting.  Section 39 of Public Act 23-137 implements this requirement by requiring boards 
of education to provide interpreters and translated documents for students and parents or guardians when there is 
an apparent need or upon request. The interpreter may be present in person or available by telephone or through 
an online technology platform, Internet website, or other electronic application approved by the SBE. Each board of 
education must provide translated copies of a child’s IEP and any related documents, if there is an apparent need or 
upon request of the parent or guardian or student. 

Online Resources for Adult Students 

Section 41 of Public Act 23-137 requires the CSDE, by July 1, 2024, to develop a plain language online resource for 
parents and guardians with a child aged fourteen or older who requires special education. This resource must contain 
information and training resources about decision-making options once the student reaches age eighteen. The 
CSDE must post these resources on its website and, pursuant to Section 39 of the Act (discussed below), provide this 
information to boards of education, which in turn must distribute the information to parents and guardians at a PPT 
meeting. 

State Agency Transition Services 

Sections 43 and 44 of Public Act 23-137 require the Department of Developmental Services and the Department of 
Aging and Disability Services to employ, within available appropriations, a sufficient number of transition advisors and 
vocational rehabilitation staff, respectively, to provide transition services to students requiring special education who 
are eligible for services from those agencies as determined through a PPT meeting.  It is currently unclear how these 
arrangements would work as a practical matter, but special education and pupil services administrators may wish to 
monitor the implementation of these new statutory provisions with these partner agencies. 

Mediation 

Section 45 of Public Act 23-137 requires the Commissioner of Education to employ a Mediation Service Coordinator 
within the BSE. The Coordinator’s duties will include, among other things, facilitating the expansion of mediation 
services offered by the CSDE in lieu of proceeding directly to a due process hearing; overseeing and coordinating 
such mediation services for each school district; establishing a plain language resource explaining the mediation 
process and how to request and prepare for a mediation; and, pursuant to Section 39 of the Act (discussed below), 

13Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
creating a notice of the availability of mediation services to be distributed and read aloud at a PPT meeting.  The 
Coordinator must also maintain a list of special education mediators that meet minimum training requirements as 
described in the Act. 

Section 46 of the Act provides that a parent or guardian or the board of education may request mediation through the 
Mediation Services Coordinator at any time for any matter related to the provision of special education for a child, 
including, but not limited to, the identification, evaluation, educational placement or implementation of an IEP.  Upon 
receipt of a request for a mediation, the Mediation Services Coordinator shall provide notification to the parties and 
invite the parties to participate in voluntary mediation. 

The Act also revises the procedures regarding requests for mediation in lieu of a due process hearing to clarify that 
one party may request mediation and to delete an existing statutory requirement that such request be in writing and 
signed. The Act requires the Mediation Services Coordinator, if all parties agree to mediate, to appoint a mediator and 
invite all parties to a mediation with a person selected from the list of special education mediators established by the 
Coordinator.  Finally, the Act requires the CSDE to provide on its website translations into the most commonly spoken 
languages in the state of the plain language resources explaining the CSDE’s process for resolving special education 
complaints and the hearing process, including appeals and mediation. Pursuant to Section 52 of the Act (discussed 
below), information on these plain language resources must be provided to parents or guardians immediately upon the 
identification of any child and at each PPT meeting, and the district must provide information regarding free and low-
cost legal assistance. 

Due Process Hearings 

By SBE regulation, boards of education have had the burden of persuasion (i.e., the ultimate burden of proof) to prove 
the appropriateness of the student’s program and placement in a special education due process hearing (except 
a parent has the burden of proving the appropriateness of a unilateral placement) for quite some time. See Conn. 
Agencies Regs. § 10-76h-14. As is customary in litigation, that regulation also specified that the party who filed for 
a due process hearing had the responsibility to present evidence first. However, Section 47 of the Public Act 23-137 
revises the procedures for special education due process hearings to require the board of education to offer testimony 
first in any dispute concerning the provision of a free appropriate public education, even if the parent or other party 
requested the hearing. This new provision is a significant change in hearing procedures, and we expect more 
guidance from the CSDE and hearing officers about how it will be implemented. 

Publication of State Complaint Summaries 

Section 15 of Public Act 23-150 requires the CSDE to publish on its website summaries of state special education 
complaints and corrective actions required by the CSDE of boards of education and other entities regarding the 
provision of special education and related services. The CSDE must redact personally identifiable student information 
from these summaries. 

Information Provided to Parents Regarding Special Education 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-76d(a)(10)(D) lists the various information that must be provided to parents and 
guardians upon the formal identification of any child and at each PPT meeting.  Section 52 of Public Act 23-137 
expands the requirements to include: (1) the plain language resources developed by the CSDE, pursuant to Section 
47 of the Act (discussed above), regarding the hearing and appeals process; (2) information regarding free and low-

14Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
cost legal assistance; and (3) the Parent’s Guide to Special Education in Connecticut developed by the CSDE. 
Further, Section 39 of the Act provides that, at the first PPT meeting after a child who requires special education 
reaches the age of fourteen, and annually thereafter, each board of education must provide information to the child 
and the parent or guardian about the full range of decision-making supports, including alternatives to guardianship and 
conservatorship, and the plain language online resources developed by the CSDE pursuant to Section 41 of the Act 
(discussed above). The responsible board of education must continue to provide such information at least annually 
thereafter. 

Each board of education must also provide the notice created by the Statewide Mediation Services Coordinator 
pursuant to Section 45 of the Act (discussed above) to each parent or guardian of any child who requires special 
education by (i) distributing such notice to such parents or guardians at the beginning of each school year, and (ii) 
reading such notice out loud at the conclusion of the first PPT meeting at the beginning of each school year. 

Information Provided to Students Regarding Special Education and Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act 

Sections 51 and 52 of Public Act 23-137 require the CSDE to develop an informational handout for students explaining 
what it means for a student to have an IEP or plan pursuant to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (“Section 504”) 
and associated student rights in the classroom. This handout must be age appropriate, and the CSDE must develop 
three different versions for various grade levels, each translated into specified languages.  The CSDE must develop 
the handouts by January 1, 2024 and make them available to boards of education and on the CSDE’s website.  
Further, pursuant to Section 52 of the Act, boards of education must provide this handout to each child with an IEP 
or Section 504 plan at the beginning of each school year.  Boards of education must also annually provide at the 
beginning of the school year the Parent’s Guide to Special Education in Connecticut developed by the CSDE and the 
rights and resources available to children in the provision of special education. 

In-Service Training on Special Education 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-220a already requires boards of education to provide an in-service training program 
for its teachers and administrators. Section 49 of Public Act 23-137 expands the in-service training requirements to 
include (1) training on the laws governing the implementation of PPT meetings and concerning Section 504 plans, and 
(2) an annual update of new state and federal policies concerning special education, recommendations, and best 
practices. 

Special Education Program Audits 

Section 48 of Public Act 23-137 requires the CSDE to conduct audits of special education programs in randomly 
selected school districts each year.  Such audits must include (1) interviewing teachers, staff, and parents of children 
requiring special education; (2) conducting unannounced on-site visits to observe classroom practice to ensure 
compliance with IEPs and all state and federal law and guidance; and (3) reviewing IEPs. 

IEP Review by Paraprofessionals 

Existing law requires boards of education to notify parents of the right to have the paraprofessional assigned to their 
child attend a PPT meeting and for the paraprofessional to attend and participate in all portions of the PPT at which 

15Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
an educational program for the child is developed, reviewed, or revised. If the parent, guardian, pupil, or surrogate 
parent has requested that the school paraprofessional assigned to the student attend the PPT meeting, then the 
responsible board of education shall provide (1) adequate notice of the PPT meeting to the paraprofessional so that 
the paraprofessional may adequately prepare for the meeting; and (2) training, upon request of the paraprofessional, 
on the role of the paraprofessional at the meeting. Following the PPT meeting, the paraprofessional, or any other 
paraprofessional who is providing special education or related services to the student, shall be permitted to view the 
child’s educational program in order to be able to provide services to the student in accordance with the educational 
program. Section 12 of Public Act 23-159 now requires that any paraprofessional providing special education or 
related services to a student review the IEP with a supervisor, as needed. 

Distribution of Special Education Excess Cost Grant 

Pursuant to current law, boards of education may apply for state special education excess cost grants. Such grants 
reimburse boards for the cost of special education services that exceeds four-and-one-half times the average cost 
of educating a student in their district, based on the prior fiscal year.  Beginning with the fiscal year ending June 
30, 2023, the percentage reimbursement boards receive depends on the tier in which their town is located. Towns 
are grouped into three tiers, ranked from one to 169 in descending order, depending on their respective adjusted 
equalized net grant list per capita. Under Sections 8 through 10 of Public Act 23-1, the reimbursement percentage 
for each of the three tiers has increased to ninety-one percent, eighty-eight percent and eighty-five percent from 
lowest to highest ranked towns, bringing each board’s excess cost grant amount closer to the amounts expended.  As 
established under the current law, if the appropriation for grants is not enough to meet the amount payable to boards 
by law, then grant amounts are reduced proportionately.  Under the new law, where the fiscal year appropriation 
exceeds the total grant amount payable under the three-tiered system, a four-step formula now determines how the 
remaining state-appropriated funds will be distributed to boards. The new law also expands the three-tiered method to 
apply to two additional grants: (1) special education costs for state agency-placed students under a temporary custody 
order and (2) excess regular education costs for state-placed children educated at private residential facilities. 

STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING TEACHING AND CURRICULUM 

Access to Curriculum 

Current law requires each board of education to establish a school district curriculum committee that recommends, 
develops, reviews, and approves all curriculum for the district. Section 3 of Public Act 23-160 requires each board 
of education to make available all curriculum approved by the committee and all associated curriculum materials in 
accordance with the requirements of the federal Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (“PPRA”).  The PPRA gives 
parents and guardians the right to inspect all instructional materials (excluding tests or assessments) used by the 
school district. 

Implementation of Reading Models or Programs 

In 2021, the General Assembly authorized the CSDE to oversee reading programs in the public schools, mandating 
that boards of education implement one of five recommended reading curriculum models or programs for pre-
kindergarten to third grade. Sections 20 through 23 of Public Act 23-167 amend Connecticut General Statutes § 10-
14hh to require that the CSDE approve, not just recommend, such models or programs for kindergarten (rather than 
pre-kindergarten) through third grade. 

16Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00001-R00HB-06671-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Under the new law, boards of education that have not received a waiver to implement an alternative reading 
curriculum model or program must partially implement an approved model or program during the 2023-2024 and 
2024-2025 school years and must fully implement an approved model or program beginning July 1, 2025 and each 
school year thereafter.  Beginning July 1, 2024, boards of education that have been granted such a waiver must begin 
implementing the alternative reading curriculum model or program in accordance with the provisions of the waiver. 

Each board of education now has until July 1, 2025 to inform the CSDE’s Center for Literacy Research and Reading 
Success (“Literacy Center”) of the model or program it is implementing, which notification will then be required 
every two years. In turn, the deadline for the Literacy Center to report publicly on the models and programs being 
implemented has been extended to September 1, 2025. 

Review of Issues Related to Implementing the Reading Model or Program 

Section 24 of Public Act 23-167 directs the CSDE’s Literacy Center, in consultation with the Reading Leadership 
Implementation Council, to review issues related to the implementation of a comprehensive reading curriculum model 
or program. The review must include (1) technical assistance for boards of education denied a waiver from the 
approved reading curriculum model or program; (2) an examination of the impact of the CSDE’s science of reading 
masterclass (a statewide processional learning system to develop local capacity for literacy instruction in grades 
kindergarten through three); and (3) a determination of how to scale the CSDE’s independent impact evaluation, after 
such evaluation is completed, to develop educators able to support individual student learning and the science of 
reading. 

Play-Based Learning During Preschool, Kindergarten, and Grades One to Five 

Effective July 1, 2024, Section 4 of Public Act 23-159 and Section 20 of Public Act 23-101 require boards of education 
to provide play-based learning during the instructional time of each regular school day for students attending 
kindergarten and any preschool program offered by the board.  Such play-based learning must (1) be incorporated 
and integrated into daily practice; (2) allow for the students’ needs to be met through free play, guided play, and 
games; and (3) be predominantly free from the use of mobile electronic devices. 

Under the new law, boards of education must also allow a teacher to use play-based learning during the instructional 
time of a regular school day for students in grades one to five. The play-based learning may be incorporated and 
integrated into daily practice, and, as with kindergarten and preschool, must (1) allow for the students’ needs to be met 
through free play, guided play, and games; and (2) be predominantly free from using mobile electronic devices. 
The new law defines “play-based learning” as a “pedagogical approach that emphasizes play in promoting learning 
and includes developmentally appropriate strategies that can be integrated with existing learning standards.” The 
term does not mean time spent in recess or as part of a physical education course or instruction. 

The new law specifies that any play-based learning must comply with a student’s IEP or Section 504 plan. A school 
employee may only prevent or otherwise restrict a student’s participation in play-based learning in accordance with the 
board of education’s policy addressing withholding of undirected play periods as a form of discipline.  

Section 5 of Public Act 23-159 amends Connecticut General Statutes § 10-148a by adding play-based learning to the 
professional development requirements for teachers in a preschool program or grades kindergarten through five. This 
new requirement, which is part of the existing requirement that educator professional development focus on refining 
and improving effective teaching methods, begins July 1, 2024. 

17Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00101-R00SB-00002-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Required Program of Instruction 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-16b outlines the required courses of study that public schools must offer.  The law 
requires instruction in language arts, including reading. Sections 18 and 19 of Public Act 23-160 now define “reading” 
as evidenced-based instruction that focuses on competency in oral language, phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, 
vocabulary, rapid automatic name or letter name fluency, and reading comprehension.  

Beginning in the 2025-2026 school year, Section 7 of Public Act 23-150 adds civics and media literacy to the required 
social studies program of instruction. Section 6 of the Act defines “civics” as “the study of the rights and obligations 
of citizens” and “media literacy” as the “ability to access, analyze, evaluate, create and participate with media in all 
forms by understanding the role of media in society, and building skills of inquiry and self-expression essential to 
participation and collaboration in a democratic society.” 

New and Revised Graduation Requirements 

Mastery-Based Diploma Assessment 
Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221a outlines the high school graduation requirements in Connecticut. Section 
1 of Public Act 23-21, as amended by Section 319 of Public Act 23-204, revises the requirements for classes 
graduating in 2024 and beyond to allow boards of education to require a student to complete a one credit mastery-
based diploma assessment in order to graduate from high school. Previously, boards of education did not have 
this discretion and such assessment was required for all students who would have graduated in 2024 and beyond. 

Completion of the FAFSA 
Sections 319 and 320 of Public Act 23-204 mandate, beginning with classes graduating in 2025, that boards 
of education require graduating students to have (1) completed a Free Application for Federal Student Aid 
(“FAFSA”); (2) completed and submitted to a public institution of higher education an application for institutional 
financial aid for students without legal immigration status; or (3) completed a waiver, on a form prescribed by the 
Commissioner of Education, signed by the student’s parent or guardian or signed by the student if the student is 
eighteen or older.  The waiver must require the parent, legal guardian, or student to affirm that they understand 
the FAFSA; it cannot require a statement of reasons for choosing not to complete the FAFSA or the application 
for institutional financial aid for students without legal immigration status. On and after March 15 of each school 
year, a principal, school counselor, teacher, or other certified educator may complete the waiver on behalf of any 
student who has not satisfied the above requirements if such certified professional affirms that they have made a 
good faith effort to contact the parent, legal guardian, or student about completion of such applications. 

Personal Financial Management and Financial Literacy 
As noted above, Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221a outlines the high school graduation requirements in 
Connecticut. Section 1 of Public Act 23-21, as amended by Section 319 of Public Act 23-204, revises the statute 
to require, beginning with classes graduating in 2027, that students complete one-half credit in personal financial 
management and financial literacy, which may also count towards the nine credits required in the humanities or 
as an elective credit. All other graduation requirements remain the same, except as discussed above. Sections 
2 and 3 of Public Act 23-21 also amends Connecticut General Statutes § 10-16b regarding prescribed courses of 
study to add personal financial management and financial literacy to the list. 

18Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00021-R00SB-01165-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00204-R00HB-06941-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00204-R00HB-06941-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00021-R00SB-01165-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00204-R00HB-06941-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00021-R00SB-01165-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
High School Graduation Credit for Recovery Programs 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221a(g) sets forth various ways, other than through courses taken in grades nine 
through twelve that meet statewide subject matter content standards, in which a board of education may grant a 
student credit toward graduation. Section 17 of Public Act 23-167 amends the statute to allow boards of education 
to award high school graduation credit for the successful completion of a credit recovery program approved by the 
Commissioner of Education. 

Inclusion of Cursive Writing and World Languages in Model Curriculum 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-25b requires that the CSDE, in collaboration with SERC and by January 1, 2024, 
develop a model curriculum for kindergarten to grade eight, inclusive. Section 16 of Public Act 23-167 adds to the 
content of the model curriculum: (1) cursive writing and (2) world languages beginning in kindergarten. The Act also 
specifies that boards of education may, but are not required to, use the CSDE and SERC’s model curriculum in whole 
or in part. 

Remote Learning and Dual Instruction 

Last year, the General Assembly passed legislation that required school districts to prohibit dual instruction as part 
of any remote learning model. Section 12 of Public Act 23-150 clarifies that dual instruction may be provided: (1) 
when it is required in, or necessary to implement, a student’s IEP or Section 504 plan, or (2) when it is part of an 
intradistrict or interdistrict cooperative learning program that provides remote learning opportunities to students 
present in the classroom on school grounds during a regular school day and in which a certified educator is present in 
both classrooms. Further, the cooperative learning program must be implemented in accordance with an agreement 
between the board of education and the applicable bargaining unit. 

CSDE Curriculum Coordinator 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-16b(d) requires the SBE to make available curriculum materials to assist boards 
of education in developing instructional programs related to certain identified topics including the Holocaust, African-
American and Black studies, Puerto Rican and Latino studies, Native American history, and personal financial 
management. Section 45 of Public Act 23-160 directs the Commissioner of Education to employ at least one 
curriculum coordinator to provide assistance and curriculum materials to boards of education for the implementation of 
courses of study related to these topics. 

STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING EMPLOYMENT 

CSDE Review of School Boards’ Increasing Educator Diversity Plans 

Under current law, each board of education must develop a written plan for “minority educator recruitment” to reduce 
racial, ethnic and economic isolation and provide students with opportunities to interact with teachers from other 
racial, ethnic, and economic backgrounds. Section 9 of Public Act 23-167 changes the plan’s name to the “increasing 
educator diversity” plan. Section 10 of the Act requires that boards of education submit their “increasing educator 
diversity” plans to the Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2024 for review and approval. The Commissioner 
must review each plan and may approve or return the plan with instructions for revision. Boards of education that 

19Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
submit plans requiring revision must submit their revised plans to the Commissioner no later than May 15, 2024. 
Starting with the 2024-2025 school year, and each school year thereafter, boards of education must implement their 
approved plans and post them to their websites. 

Educator Diversity Policy Oversight Council 

Under current law, the Minority Teacher Recruitment Policy Oversight Council, a multi-member body housed in 
the CSDE, is charged with advising the Commissioner of Education on ways to encourage minority students and 
professionals in other fields to pursue teaching careers. Sections 12 and 14 of Public Act 23-167 rename the council 
as the “Increasing Educator Diversity Policy Oversight Council” and change references from “minority” to “diverse” 
without redefining its underlying meaning. The new law also replaces the term “teachers” with “educators.” 

Professional Development for Principals and Vice Principals 

Section 5 of Public Act 23-159 amends Connecticut General Statutes § 10-148a by expanding professional 
development and learning requirements for principals and vice principals to include training on the management of 
school personnel and methods for engaging personnel with school goals. 

Exit Survey for Teachers Leaving the Profession and Teacher Attrition Rates 

Section 6 of Public Act 23-159 requires each board of education, by January 1, 2024, to develop an exit survey to be 
completed by a teacher who is employed by the board and voluntarily ceases employment. The survey must include 
questions addressing (1) why the teacher is ceasing employment, (2) whether the teacher is leaving the profession, 
(3) the teacher’s demographics, and (4) the subject areas the teacher taught.  

Section 7 of Public Act 23-159 requires boards of education to add teacher attrition rates and exit survey results 
to strategic school profile reports, which are already required to address issues such as student needs, school 
resources, student and school performance, and student discipline. Under current law, and unchanged by the Act, 
these reports must be submitted to the CSDE and presented at a public meeting each year. 

Substitute Teachers 

By law, anyone employed as a substitute teacher must (1) hold a bachelor’s degree, unless this requirement is waived 
by the Education Commissioner for good cause and upon a superintendent’s request; and (2) be on a list of substitute 
teachers maintained by the employing board pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes § 10-222c(f). Section 18 of 
Public Act 23-159 now authorizes a board of education to employ a substitute teacher in the same assignment for up 
to sixty days without obtaining an CSDE-issued substitute authorization. 

Certificate Endorsements for Kindergarten and Preschool Teaching 

By law, if a person holds an elementary education endorsement to teach grades one through six, and that 
endorsement was issued on or after July 1, 2017, the Commissioner of Education may allow, upon request of the 
superintendent, that person to teach kindergarten for one school year.  Current law prohibits the Commissioner of 
Education from extending such permission to teach kindergarten for a second year unless the individual demonstrates 
enrollment in a program to meet the requirements for the appropriate kindergarten endorsement. Section 13 of 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 20 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF


 

 

 

SHIPMAN 
Public Act 23-159 revises Connecticut General Statutes § 10-145d(f) to allow the Commissioner of Education to 
permit, upon request of the superintendent, the endorsement holder to teach a second year of kindergarten without 
having to demonstrate enrollment in a kindergarten endorsement program. 

Under current law, anyone who holds a teaching certificate with an endorsement to teach comprehensive special 
education in grades one through twelve may extend the endorsement to grades kindergarten through twelve if the 
applicant has earned a satisfactory score on either the SBE-approved reading instruction exam or a comparable 
reading instruction exam. The new law extends a comprehensive special education endorsement for grades one 
through twelve to grades prekindergarten through twelve. Individuals applying for such an endorsement must meet 
the above reading instruction exam score requirements. 

Teacher Performance Evaluations 

By law, superintendents must annually evaluate each teacher or have each teacher be evaluated.  Such an evaluation 
must include, at a minimum: strengths, areas needing improvement, strategies for improvement, and multiple 
indicators of student academic growth. 

Sections 24 through 27 of Public Act 23-159 make various changes to teacher evaluation and support programs 
(“Evaluation Programs”). The Act requires the SBE, in consultation with the Performance Evaluation Advisory Council, 
to adopt revised program guidelines (“Evaluation Guidelines”) on or before July 1, 2024. The Act makes significant 
changes to the Evaluation Guidelines to be developed by the SBE, including removing the requirement that they 
include four performance evaluation designators for teachers (i.e., exemplary, proficient, developing, and below 
standard) and removing references to teacher evaluation “scoring systems” to determine “ratings.” 

Under the new law, the Evaluation Guidelines must include the following (significant changes are italicized): 
(i) the use of multiple indicators of student learning, growth and achievement (rather than student academic 

growth and development) in teacher evaluations; 
(ii) methods for assessing student learning, growth and achievement (rather than student academic growth and 

development); 
(iii) a consideration of control factors tracked by the statewide public school information system that may influence 

teacher performance, including, but not limited to, student characteristics, student attendance and student 
mobility; 

(iv) minimum requirements for teacher evaluation instruments and procedures, including an annual summary 
of teacher growth provided by the evaluator (rather than a scoring system with performance evaluation 
designators); 

(v) the development and implementation of periodic training programs regarding the teacher evaluation and 
support program to be offered by the board of education or RESC for the school district to teachers whose 
performance is being evaluated and administrators who are conducting the performance evaluations; 

(vi) the provision of professional development services based on the individual or group of individuals’ needs that 
are identified through the evaluation process; 

(vii) the creation of individual teacher improvement and remediation plans for teachers who require additional 
support (rather than for teachers who have a rating of “developing” or “below standard”) that are designed 
in consultation with such teacher and the union representative and that (a) identify resources, support and 
other strategies to address documented deficiencies, (b) indicate a timeline for implementing such resources, 
support, and other strategies, in the course of the same school year as the plan is issued, and (c) include 
indicators of success immediately at the conclusion of the improvement and remediation plan (while removing 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 21 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF


 

 

 

SHIPMAN 
the requirement that they include a summative rating of proficient or better as success indicators at the plan’s 
conclusion); 

(viii) opportunities for career development and professional growth; and 
(ix) a validation procedure for the CSDE or a third party approved by the CSDE to audit remediation plans (rather 

than audit evaluations with a rating of “exemplary” or “below standard”). 

The Act also directs the SBE to adopt a model teacher evaluation and support program that may be used by boards of 
education and is consistent with the Evaluation Guidelines described above. 

Beginning in the 2024-2025 school year, and each school year thereafter, each board of education must adopt 
and implement an Evaluation Program that is consistent with the Evaluation Guidelines adopted by the SBE. As 
under current law, the Act requires that the program be developed through mutual agreement between the board of 
education and the school district’s PDEC.  If a board is unable to reach a mutual agreement with the PDEC, both 
parties must consider SBE’s model program, which they may adopt upon mutual agreement.  If both parties cannot 
reach an agreement, the board must adopt and implement the Evaluation Program it has developed, so long as it is 
consistent with SBE guidelines. 

Boards of education may seek a waiver from the requirement that they adopt a program consistent with SBE’s 
Evaluation Guidelines by filing a waiver request with the Commissioner of Education no later than July 1, 2024. 

By law, boards of education must provide training and orientation programs for evaluators and teachers on their local 
evaluation and support programs. Section 25 of Public Act 23-159 requires, beginning with the 2023-2024 school 
year, that the training programs and orientation be held at least annually, rather than biennially. 

The Act also makes the following changes regarding the teacher evaluation process.  In the event that a teacher does 
not receive a summative evaluation during the school year, Section 23 of Public Act 23-159 now requires that the 
teacher be recorded as “not evaluated” rather than “not rated,” which was the designation under previous law.  The 
Act also removes the requirement that the superintendents report aggregate evaluation ratings to the Commissioner of 
Education each year, although other reporting requirements (e.g., the status of teacher evaluations and the status of 
the implementation of the teacher evaluation and support program, including the frequency of evaluations and number 
of teachers who have not been evaluated) remain the same. 

Revisions to the State’s Antidiscrimination Statutes 

Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-58 prohibits deprivation of civil rights on the basis of certain protected classes. 
Section 1 of Public Act 23-145 adds “age” to the list of protected classes. Section 2 of Public Act 23-145 adds a new 
definition of “sexual orientation” in the state’s antidiscrimination statutes to mean “a person’s identity in relation to the 
gender or genders to which they are romantically, emotionally or sexually attracted, inclusive of any identity that a 
person (A) may have previously expressed, or (B) is perceived by another person to hold.” 

Educator Apprenticeship Program 

Section 8 of Public Act 23-167 requires the CSDE to develop, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024 and each year 
thereafter, an educator apprenticeship initiative that enables students enrolled in educator preparation, residency, 
or Alternate Route to Certificate (“ARC”) programs to gain classroom teaching experience while working toward 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 22 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00145-R00HB-06638-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00145-R00HB-06638-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
becoming full-time, certified teachers. The Act requires that the CSDE develop participation guidelines, administrative 
regulations outlining implementation, and compensation levels for students in all three programs. 

Under current law, participants in apprenticeships and teacher residency programs receive compensation; the new 
law now addresses compensation for educator preparation and ARC program participants.  In addition, upon request 
of a superintendent, the Commissioner of Education may allow an individual assigned to a residency program in the 
superintendent’s school district to participate in the educator apprenticeship initiative; upon successful completion 
and with the superintendent’s recommendation, the SBE shall issue an initial educator certificate to such individual, 
and that person will not be required to complete the assessments required for certification under Connecticut General 
Statutes § 10-145f. 

Student Teaching Experience and Mentor Requirements 

By law, teacher preparation programs must require participants to complete a clinical, field, or student teaching 
experience in a classroom during four semesters of such program. Section 16 of Public Act 23-159 removes the 
law’s previous requirement that this experience occur in school districts from different categories of District Reference 
Groups (“DRGs”) with at least one experience in DRGs “A” through “E” and another in a district from groups “F” 
through “I.” The new law also removes the requirement that any cooperating teacher serving as a mentor to student 
teachers must have earned a performance evaluation designation of exemplary or proficient in the prior school year. 

Changes to Paid Sick Leave for Service Workers 

Connecticut law contains specific protections for “service workers,” defined as including, but not limited to, food 
service managers, social workers, registered nurses, crossing guards, janitors, and secretaries and administrative 
assistants. Sections 7 and 8 of Public Act 23-101 require that employers permit service workers to use accrued 
paid sick leave for a “mental health wellness day” to attend to their emotional and psychological well-being in lieu 
of attending a regularly scheduled shift. Section 8 of the Act also requires that employers permit service workers to 
use accrued paid sick leave if the service worker is the parent of a child who is a victim of family violence or sexual 
assault, provided that the service worker is not the perpetrator or alleged perpetrator of the violence or assault. 

School Nurses and Nurse Practitioners – Appointment Qualifications and Professional 
Development 

By law, school nurses and nurse practitioners appointed by boards of education must meet qualifications established 
in relevant state regulations. Section 34 of Public Act 23-167 creates an exception from the regulations’ work 
experience requirement and exempts such nurses and nurse practitioners from having at least one year of full-time 
working experience as a registered nurse during the five years before appointment or employment with the board. 

Beginning July 1, 2024, Sections 34 and 35 of the Act require each school nurse or nurse practitioner appointed by or 
under contract with a board of education to complete at least fifteen hours of professional development biennially.  The 
board must annually approve and provide such professional development programs and activities, which must include 
training and instruction in implementing IEPs and Section 504 plans. In addition, beginning in the 2024-2025 school 
year, the board must provide such programs or training for new school nurses or nurse practitioners within thirty days 
after being appointed or entering into a contract with the board. 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 23 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00101-R00SB-00002-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF


 

SHIPMAN 
Expanding Workers’ Compensation Coverage for Post-Traumatic Stress Injuries 

Under current law, eligibility for workers’ compensation benefits for Post-Traumatic Stress Injuries (“PTSI”) is limited to 
certain first responders. Effective January 1, 2024, Public Act 23-35 expands these benefits to all employees covered 
by the Workers’ Compensation Act, provided such PTSI is a direct result of a qualifying event, as defined in the Act, 
that occurred in the course of their employment. 

Section 504 Plans and School Employees 

Connecticut General Statutes § 10-76d prohibits board of education from disciplining members of a PPT who discuss 
or make recommendations concerning services at a PPT meeting.  Section 16 of Public Act 23-150 extends this 
prohibition to school employees who discuss or make recommendations concerning services or accommodations for a 
student’s Section 504 plan at a meeting held to discuss such plan. 

Tenure and Accumulated Sick Leave 

State law provides that, for purposes of determining a teacher’s rights to tenure and accumulated sick leave, 
the establishment of a regional school district shall not interrupt the continuous employment of a teacher who 
was employed by a local board of education for any of the towns comprising such district during the school year 
immediately prior to or within which the regional district is established, provided that teacher continues as an 
employee of the regional board of education. Section 22 of Public Act 23-159 clarifies that these protections apply 
when a new regional school district is established, and a teacher employed by a local or regional board of education 
for any town comprising the new regional school district continues as an employee of the new regional board of 
education. As with existing law, the teacher must work for the school district or regional school district during the 
school year immediately before, or within which, the new regional district is established. The requirement that these 
protections are subject to the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes § 10-151 remains unchanged. 

Adjunct Professor Permit 

Section 15 of Public Act 23-167 allows the SBE to issue adjunct professor permits to part-time, non-tenured instructors 
employed by a public or private institution of higher education in Connecticut. The permit will allow such individuals to 
teach grades nine through twelve in a public school, up to twenty-five classroom instructional hours per week, as part 
of college and career readiness programming offered by the board of education.  The permit holder must work under 
the supervision of the superintendent, principal, or a supervisory administrator designated by the superintendent, and 
the employing board must provide an assistance program that includes academic and classroom support services. 
The Act provides that such instructors will be part of the bargaining unit for certified teachers and subject to the same 
contract, unless otherwise agreed by the board and the union. Permit holders cannot fill a position that will displace 
a certified teacher already employed at the school. Holding such a permit does not make an individual eligible for the 
teacher retirement system. 

Cease-and-Desist Orders for Prohibited Practices 

Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes § 10-153e, boards of education and employee unions can file complaints 
about prohibited practice violations with the State Board of Labor Relations (“SBLR”). Under existing law, the SBLR 
may only issue a cease-and-desist order after holding a hearing and making a determination regarding the complaint. 
Section 2 of Public Act 23-159 now allows the SBLR to issue a cease-and desist order for certain violations of the 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 24 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00035-R00SB-00913-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00159-R00HB-06880-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
Teacher Negotiation Act (e.g., refusing to negotiate in good faith or retaliating against a complainant) when an alleged 
prohibited practice or breach of duty is ongoing and until the board makes a determination on the matter.  

Agreements Between Municipalities and Public School Operators for Health Insurance 

Previously, a board of education could join by agreement with municipalities or other boards of education as a single 
entity for the purpose of providing employee health insurance. Section 42 of Public Act 23-160 continues to allow 
these agreements but expands the entities that can participate by changing “boards of education” to “public school 
operators.” A “public school operator” is defined as a board of education, a regional educational service center, the 
governing council of a state or local charter school, or an operator of an interdistrict magnet school program. 

Health Insurance for Paraeducators 

Sections 203 through 206 of Public Act 23-204 establish new subsidy programs for paraeducators’ health insurance 
costs and make other changes to health insurance for paraeducators. Section 203 of the Act directs the Comptroller 
to establish a program to provide a subsidy to each paraeducator who is employed by a board of education and opens 
a health savings account, provided the paraeducator applies for the subsidy in the form and matter prescribed by the 
Comptroller.  Section 204 of the Act directs the Comptroller to establish a program, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2025 and beyond, to provide a stipend to an eligible paraeducator, as defined in the Act, to purchase a qualified health 
plan through the Connecticut Health Insurance Exchange that meets certain criteria. The stipend is only available 
to a paraeducator who is employed by a board of education that only provides coverage under a health benefit plan 
with an actuarial value of less than 60% and in an amount not to exceed the cost of the qualified health plan the 
eligible paraeducator purchases through the exchange. Section 205 of the Act expands the responsibilities of the 
Office of Health Strategy to include assisting boards of education in enrolling paraeducators for coverage under (A) 
the qualified health plans for which such paraeducator may be eligible under Section 204 of the Act, (B) the Covered 
Connecticut program, or (C) Medicaid. Section 206 of the Act establishes a paraeducator health care working group 
to study health care access, equity and affordability for paraeducators employed by boards of education. 

MISCELLANEOUS STATUTORY CHANGES AFFECTING SCHOOLS 

Lowering Eligibility Age for School Readiness Programs 

The Office of Early Childhood (“OEC”) administers state-funded school readiness programs that (1) meet state 
standards, (2) provide at least 450 hours and 180 days of developmentally appropriate instruction per year, and (3) 
are open to age-eligible children. Sections 35 and 37 of Public Act 23-160 lower the eligible age of children for such 
programs to birth, rather than age three. 

GPS Use on School Buses 

Current law provides that a school bus operator carrying passengers may not use a handheld mobile telephone, 
including those with hands-free accessories, except in very limited circumstances. Section 37 of Public Act 23-40 
expands the exceptions to allow a school bus operator to use a mobile electronic device with a video display, provided 
such device: (i) is used as a global positioning system or to provide navigation, (ii) is securely attached inside the 
school bus near such person, and (iii) has been approved for such use by the Department of Motor Vehicles. 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 25 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00204-R00HB-06941-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00040-R00SB-00994-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 

Recycling of Organic Material 

Section 5 of Public Act 23-170 requires, beginning January 1, 2025, any public educational facility that generates an 
average projected volume of twenty-six tons or more per year of source-separated organic materials to (i) separate 
such source-separated organic materials from other solid waste; and (ii) ensure that such source-separated organic 
materials are recycled at any authorized source-separated organic material composting facility.  Further, the Act 
requires that on or before March 1, 2025 and annually thereafter, each public educational facility that is subject to the 
Act submit a report to the Department of Energy and Environmental Protection that summarizes the amount of edible 
food donated, the amount of food scraps recycled, and the organics recycler or recyclers and associated collectors 
used. 

Vision Zero Program Distinction for School Programs 

Section 3 of Public Act 23-116 requires the Department of Transportation (“DOT”) to award an exemplary “Vision Zero” 
program distinction to boards of education that offer a program that provides students in grades six to twelve with 
opportunities to learn about the mission of the Vision Zero Council and the importance of practicing safe driving habits 
and learning pedestrian safety skills. Such opportunities may include classes, extracurricular activities, presentations, 
symposia, peer-to-peer education, parent involvement and parenting education and outreach. A board of education 
may submit a request for such distinction by providing details about the board’s program to the DOT. 

Statewide Mastery Test Audit 

Section 25 of Public Act Public Act 23-167 and Section 5 of Public Act 23-150 direct the Commissioner of Education to 
conduct an audit of state and local testing requirements and administration. The audit must focus on (1) the statewide 
mastery examination and local standardized assessments used to monitor student and district academic progress 
and achievement; and (2) the amount of time devoted to student preparation or educator instruction for the statewide 
mastery examination and local standardized assessments, including the time such preparation and instruction takes 
away from regular instruction. Additionally, the audit must include recommendations about any limitations on the 
amount of time that may be devoted to administering these exams and assessments. 

Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Awareness and Advocacy Day 

Section 17 of Public Act 23-137 orders the Governor to proclaim May 23 of each year to be Intellectual and 
Developmental Disabilities Awareness and Advocacy Day to promote awareness of and advocacy for persons with 
an intellectual disability or other developmental disabilities. Suitable exercises shall be held in the State Capitol and 
in public schools on the day so designated or, if that day is not a school day, on the school day preceding, or on any 
such other day as the board of education prescribes. 

Employment of Certain Minors as Youth Camp Staff Members and Lifeguards 

Under current law, minors who are at least fourteen years old can work as caddies or in pro shops at golf courses 
and those who are at least fifteen years old can work as baggers, cashiers, or stock clerks in retail establishments. 
Current law also requires employers of fourteen and fifteen-year-old individuals in these positions, as well as others, 
to abide by certain work restrictions and procure minors’ working papers, or certificates documenting their age.  
Sections 1 through 3 of Public Act 23-183 now allow fifteen-year-old individuals to work as youth camp staff members 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 26 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00170-R00HB-06664-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00116-R00HB-05917-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00137-R00HB-05001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00183-R00SB-01090-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 
or lifeguards, provided certain conditions are met and they obtain appropriate working papers (if not working for a 
municipality). As under the current law, public school superintendents or their designees are required to furnish 
eligible minors’ working papers upon application and pursuant to proper procedures established by the SBE. 

Ban on Magnet School Tuition Reinstated 

From July 1, 2009 to July 1, 2018, any board of education operating an interdistrict magnet school pursuant to the 
Connecticut Supreme Court’s decision in Sheff v. O’Neill was prohibited from charging tuition. Section 31 of Public Act 
23-160 reinstates this ban for the 2023-2024 school year. 

Charter Schools and the Educational Interests of the State 

By law, charter schools are subject to all federal and state laws governing public schools.  Connecticut General 
Statutes § 10-4a outlines the educational interests of the state, and Connecticut General Statutes § 10-4b allows 
complaints to be brought to the SBE in situations where a resident or a parent or guardian alleges a district’s failure or 
inability to implement the educational interests of the state. Sections 43 and 44 of Public Act 23-160 explicitly include 
Connecticut General Statutes §§ 10-4a and 10-4b as state laws governing charter schools. 

Charter School Enrollment Criteria 

Section 14 of Public Act 23-150 amends the enrollment lottery statute for charter schools. Pursuant to the Act, 
beginning July 1, 2023, no application for enrollment in a charter school can inquire or request information about an 
applicant student’s need for or receipt of special education and related services, and the criteria for administering an 
enrollment lottery shall not include consideration of a student’s need for or status as requiring special education and 
related services. 

Wholesome School Meals Pilot Program 

For the 2023-2024, 2024-2025 and 2025-2026 fiscal years, Section 6 of Public Act 23-167 directs the CSDE to 
administer a wholesome school meals pilot program that awards grants of $150,000 to five alliance districts in each 
year of the pilot program. Such grants must be used to provide a professional chef to assist school meal programs to 
build food service staff capacity, improve school meal quality, increase diner satisfaction, streamline operations, and 
establish a financially viable school meal program. Alliance districts may apply for this grant by October 1, 2023.  

Report from Alliance Districts on Implementing a Family Resource Center Program 

Section 4 of Public Act 23-208 requires the board of education for each town designated as an alliance district, not 
later than February 1, 2024, to submit a report to the CSDE on the costs associated with implementing a family 
resource center program, in accordance with the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes § 10-4o, at each 
elementary school under the jurisdiction of the board. 

Medicaid Reimbursement for School-Based Mental Health Assessments 

Section 9 of Public Act 23-101 requires the Department of Social Services (“DSS”) Commissioner to provide Medicaid 
reimbursement for suicide risk assessments and other mental health evaluations and services provided at school-

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 27 

https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00160-R00HB-06882-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00150-R00HB-06762-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00208-R00HB-05003-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00101-R00SB-00002-PA.PDF


SHIPMAN 

• 

• • 

• .. 

based health centers or public schools, to the extent permitted by law.  The DSS Commissioner is also directed to set 
the reimbursement at a level that ensures an adequate pool of providers to perform such assessments, evaluations, 
and services. 

Aerospace and Aviation Training 

Section 28 of Public Act 23-167 allows boards of education to partner with local employers in the aviation or 
aerospace industry to develop and offer an apprenticeship training program for students within the district.  The 
program must, at minimum, provide students with (1) onsite training where they learn immediate job skills and earn 
course credits, (2) information about programs of study at the Connecticut Aero Tech School for Aviation Maintenance 
Technicians, and (3) assistance applying for admission to the school.  In addition, within sixty days of the first cohort’s 
completion of the program, the board of education must release a report of the number of students who participated in 
and completed the program, and who thereafter enrolled in the aviation tech school. 

High School Preapprenticeship Grant Program 

Section 31 of Public Act 23-167 directs the CSDE to establish a preapprenticeship grant program to award grants to 
boards of education that incorporate a preapprenticeship program into their curriculum for grades nine through twelve, 
provided that such program is registered with the Department of Labor and meets the criteria set out by the CSDE. 
Grants shall be awarded in an amount of at least $1,000 for each student that completes the preapprenticeship 
program. 

These materials have been prepared by Shipman & Goodwin LLP for informational purposes only.  They are not intended as advertising and should not be 
considered legal advice. This information is not intended to create, and receipt of it does not create, a lawyer-client relationship. Viewers should not act upon this 
information without seeking professional counsel. © 2023 Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM. One Constitution Plaza, Hartford, CT 06103. 

Visit 

ctschoollaw.com 
Our site dedicated to 

emerging school issues 

Subscribe 
to receive automatic updates 

Shipman & Goodwin LLPTM  Connecticut | New York | www.shipmangoodwin.com 28 

https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00167-R00SB-00001-PA.PDF
https://www.ctschoollaw.com
https://www.ctschoollaw.com/subscribe/


68 APPENDIX E: MODEL POLICY INDEX 

Appendix E: Model Policy Index 



 

 

 
 
 

MODEL POLICY INDEX 
 
 

SERIES 1000     COMMUNITY/BOARD OPERATION 
 
SERIES 2000     ADMINISTRATION 
 
SERIES 3000     BUSINESS 
 
SERIES 4000     PERSONNEL 
 
SERIES 5000     STUDENTS 
 
SERIES 6000     INSTRUCTION 
 
SERIES 7000     RESERVED 
 
SERIES 8000     RESERVED 
 
SERIES 9000     BYLAWS OF THE BOARD 
 
SERIES C-19      COVID-19 POLICIES 
 
NOTIFICATIONS    FEDERAL 
 
NOTIFICATIONS    STATE 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 

MODEL POLICY INDEX 
 
 

1000 Series - COMMUNITY/BOARD OPERATIONS 
 

Automatic External Defibrillators 
Deadly Weapons or Firearms 

Green Cleaning Programs 
Non-Discrimination (Community) 

Pesticide Application on School Property 
Pool Safety Plan 

Security and Safety Plan 
Sexual Offenders on School Property 

Smoking 
Use of School Facilities 

Visitors 
Volunteers 

 
 

2000 Series - ADMINISTRATION 
 

Hold on Destruction of Records (Litigation) 
Retention of Electronic Records and Information 

Uniform Treatment of Recruiters 
 
 

3000 Series - BUSINESS 
 

Budget Procedures and Line Item Transfers 
Code of Conduct for Federal Procurements 

Disposal of Obsolete or Surplus Equipment/Material 
Gifts, Grants and Bequests To The District 

IDEA Fiscal Compliance 
Purchasing 

School Activity Funds 
 



 

2 

 

4000 Series - PERSONNEL 
 

Abuse or Neglect of Disabled Adults 
Alcohol, Tobacco and Drug-Free Workplace 

Athletic Coaches (Evaluation and Termination) 
Bloodborne Pathogens 

Child Abuse, Neglect, and Sexual Assault Reporting 
  Code of Ethics 

Concussion Training for Athletic Coaches 
Emergency Action Plan for Athletic Events 

Employee Use of District Computer Systems 
Employment and Student Teacher Checks 

Exertional Heat Illness Awareness for Athletics 
FMLA 

Hiring of Certified Staff 
Hiring of Non-certified Staff 

Increasing Educator Diversity Plan (formerly titled 
Plan for Minority Educator Recruitment) 

Nepotism  
Non-discrimination (Personnel) 

Psychotropic Drugs 
Section 504/ADA (Personnel) 

Sex Discrimination and Harassment in the Workplace 
Social Media 

Sudden Cardiac Arrest Awareness 
 
 

5000 Series - STUDENTS 
 

Administration of Medications 
NEW: Admission to the Public Schools At or Before 

Age 5 
Attendance, Truancy and Chronic Absenteeism 

Bullying and Safe School Climate Plan 
Chemical Health for Student Athletes 

Child Sex Abuse and Assault Response and 
Reporting 

Improve Completion Rates of FAFSA 
Drug and Alcohol Use by Students 

Education Stability Procedures 
Field Trips 

Food Allergies, Glycogen Storage Disease and/or 
Diabetes 

Fundraising Activities 



 

3 

 

Graduation Requirements 
Health Assessments/Screenings 

Homeless Students 
Immunizations 
Meal Charging 

Non-discrimination (Students) 
 

Pledge of Allegiance 
Recess and Play-Based Learning (formerly titled 
Physical Activity, Undirected Play and Student 

Discipline) 
Restraint and Seclusion 

Search and Seizure 
Section 504/ADA (Students) 

Student Discipline 
Student Dress 

Student Privacy (PPRA) 
Student Records (FERPA) 

Student Use of the District Computer Systems 
Suicide Prevention and Intervention 

Sunscreen Application in School 
Title IX Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment 

Transportation 
Use of Private Technology Devices by Students 

Wellness 
 
 

6000 Series - INSTRUCTION 

 
Advanced Course or Program/Challenging 

Curriculum 
Credit for Online Courses [Optional: and Remote 

Learning] 
Curricular Exemptions 

Equitable Identification of Gifted and Talented 
Students 

Homework 
IDEA - Alternative Assessments 

Parent and Family Engagement Policy (Title I) 
Parental Access to Instructional Materials 

Parent-Teacher Communication 
Promotion and Retention 

Weighted Grading for Honors Classes 



 

4 

 

 
 
 

7000 Series (Reserved) 
 
 

8000 Series (Reserved) 
 
 

9000 Series - BYLAWS 
 

Board Bylaws (Adoption and/or Revision) 
Board Policies (Adoption and/or Revision) 

Board Regulations (Adoption and/or Revision) 
Code of Conduct for Board Members 

Committees 
Conflict of Interest 

Construction and Posting of Agenda 
 Filling Vacancies 
 Meeting Conduct 

 Minutes 
 Oath of Office 

Officers 
 Official Duties – Chairperson 

 Official Duties – Secretary 
 Official Duties – Treasurer 

 Official Duties - Vice Chairperson 
 Public Meetings and Executive Session 

 Quorum and Voting Procedures 
 Reimbursement of Board Member Expenses 

 Removal of Board Officers 
 Role of Board and Members 

 Suspension of Policies, Bylaws or Regulations 
 Time, Place and Notice of Meetings 

 Transaction of Business 
 
 

C-19 Series – COVID-19 Policies 
 

Model Toolkit for Compliance with  
Executive Order 13G (subfolder with 4 forms) 

Memorandum and Summary of Changes (July 2020) 
Board Bylaws/Meeting Conduct 

Community/Green Cleaning 
Community/Use of School Facilities 
Community/Visitors and Observers 



 

5 

 

Community/Volunteers 
FFRCA 

Limited Exemptions to In-Person Attendance 
Model Required Annual Notices 

Personnel/Employment and Student Teacher Checks 
Personnel/Use of District Computer Systems 

Students/Attendance, Truancy, Chronic Absenteeism 
Students/Health Assessments 
Students/Student Discipline 

Students/Transportation 
Students/Use of District Computer Systems 
Students/Use of Private Technology Devices 

Temporary Policies and Regulations 
Use of Face Coverings in School 

 
 

Notifications/Forms - Federal 
 

Asbestos Notification 
ESSA Non- or Provisionally Certified Teacher  

ESSA Parent/Family Engagement 
ESSA Right to Teacher/Para Qualifications 

FERPA Rights 
Guidelines for IEEs 

IDEA/Accessing Public Benefits/Insurance 
IDEA/Consent to Access Public Benefits/Insurance 

IDEA/Low-Cost Legal Services 
Section 504/ADA Rights 

Sex Discrimination/Harassment in the Workplace 
Student Privacy (PPRA) Rights 

 

Notifications/Forms - State 
 

  Bullying Notice/Sample Forms 
Early Childhood Licensure/Child Care 

Electronic Monitoring Notice 
EpiPen Refusal Form 

Extraordinary Educational Experiences  
Homebound Instruction 

Individualized Learning Plan 
Kindergarten Opt Out Form 

Meeting Regarding PPT Process/Evaluations  
Notification Regarding Attendance/Truancy 



 

6 

 

Opioid Antagonist Refusal Form 
Oral Health Assessment Notice 

 Parent Rights/Info Related to Special Education 
Student Data Privacy Notice 

Student Expulsion Hearing Notice 
 
 



 

7 

 

Required Annual Notices for Handbooks 
 

 Required Annual Notices for Handbooks 
 
5/12/23 



77 APPENDIX F: COMMITMENT TO DIVERSITY, EQUITY & INCLUSION 

Appendix F: Our Commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 

Shipman & Goodwin is committed to diversity, equity, and inclusion 

(DE&I) within the firm, the legal profession, and the community.  We 

value the unique backgrounds and distinct contributions of all 

individuals, and our deep commitment is reflected in our efforts to 

promote understanding, advancement, and empowerment. The firm 

maintains an active and engaged DE&I Committee that is focused on 

recruitment, retention, education, and an inclusive work environment. 

Our focus on DE&I is top-down and throughout the firm.  We are 

financially supportive of the organizations in which our diverse lawyers 

and lawyers of color engage and to which they want to devote their 

time and talent.  A number of our lawyers participate in affinity bar 

organizations, including leadership roles.  We recognize all individuals 

who contribute to the firm’s DE&I mission and give billable hour credit 

for work that furthers the firm’s DE&I initiatives.  Our client teams are 

diverse, and we are committed to providing all our lawyers with new 

opportunities as appropriate.  

We have many lines of communication available to diverse lawyers to ensure that they feel 

heard and supported.  In addition, the firm’s Ombuds Program provides lawyers and staff 

members with a confidential process to seek advice, guidance, and support on work-related 

issues.  The Ombuds is informal, independent, and neutral.   

Shipman & Goodwin has participated in Diversity Lab’s Mansfield Rule since 2019 earning 

Mansfield 3.0 Certification Plus status in 2020, Mansfield 4.0 Certification Plus status in 2021, 

Mansfield 5.0 Certification plus in 2022, and continues to participate in 2023. The Mansfield 

Rule is a year-long certification process requiring law firms to affirmatively consider at least 30 

percent women, underrepresented racial/ethnic groups, LGBTQ+ lawyers, and lawyers with 

disabilities (“historically underrepresented lawyers”) for significant governance roles, senior 

lateral openings, equity partner promotions, and formal client pitches and RFP responses. The 

“Plus” status indicates that, in addition to meeting or exceeding the pipeline consideration 

requirements for certification, Shipman & Goodwin has successfully reached at least 30 percent 

diverse lawyer representation in a notable number of current leadership roles and committees.  

Major initiatives established and participated in by the firm include, but are not limited to: (i) 

Mansfield Plus certification for 2020 and 2021 and continued participation in the Mansfield Rule 

5.0 process into 2022; (ii) Shipman Women’s Alliance, a firm-organized networking alliance 

providing a platform for women lawyers; (iii) serving as a founding member of the Lawyers 

Collaborative for Diversity, Inc. (LCD), an organization focused on increasing diversity in the 

Connecticut legal profession; (iv) launching an “In Community” series open to the firm and 

public, which focuses on creating an open dialogue and forum to address a variety of issues 

facing our workforce and community; (v) LGBTQ Community support through pro bono and firm-

supported efforts, among others. We also sponsor Heritage Month celebrations for Shipman & 

Goodwin lawyers and staff members.  

https://www.shipmangoodwin.com/diversity-equity-and-inclusion/index.html


Information Only Decision Requested 

Subject: 
Background: 

Recommendation: 

VERNON PUBLIC SCHOOLS Vernon, Connecticut 06066 
Agenda Item 10.4 X February 12, 2024 Date 

AGENDA REPORTING FORM 
Board of Education Finance Committee Report (BOE Goal #1, #2, #3) 
Mr. William Meier, Director of Business and Finance, will give the Board an updated report including the Year-to-Date Budget. The Board will take action on: (a) Asset Disposal Requests.
MOTIONS: (a) That the Board approve the Asset Disposal Requests as presented.

Si erson(s) Submitting Report 
Su�fSchools 





















































































Information Only 

Decision Requested 

Subject: 

Background: 

Recommendation: 

VERNON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
Vernon, Connecticut 06066 

X 

AGENDA REPORTING FORM 

Agenda Item 10.5 

February 12, 2024 

Date 

Reports from Board of Education Liaisons Regarding Attendance at 

Organization/Committee Meetings (BOE Goal #1) 

The Board of Education liaisons will report on their attendance at any 

meetings that were held recently. 

No action required. 














	BOE 02-12-24 FINAL Agenda
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 4.1
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 4.2
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 7.1
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 8.1
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 8.2
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 8.3
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 8.4
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 9.1
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 10.1
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 10.2
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 10.3
	20240208141216
	10.3 Shipman Overview of Legal Services for Vernon Public Schools (1)

	BOE 02-12-24 Part 10.4
	BOE 02-12-24 Part 10.5
	BOE 02-12-24 Part FYI



